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EB-2016-0050 – Hydro One Inc’s S86 (2)(b) Leave to Purchase Voting Securities of Great Lakes 
Power – Interrogatory Responses Update Filing  

 
I am attaching two (2) paper copies of the Hydro One Inc’s updated Interrogatory Responses that were 
filed with the Board on June 20, 2016.  

The update is limited to including the second page of AMPCO Interrogatory 10 which was inadvertently 
missed, namely, Exhibit I, Tab 3, Schedule 10, Page 2. 

An electronic copy of the complete interrogatory responses, including the attached updates, has been 
filed using the Board’s Regulatory Electronic Submission System. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
ORIGINAL SIGNED BY JOANNE RICHARDSON 
 
Joanne Richardson 
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BY COURIER 
 
June 20, 2016 
 
Ms. Kirsten Walli 
Board Secretary 
Ontario Energy Board 
Suite 2700,  
2300 Yonge Street 
Toronto, ON  M4P 1E4 
 
Dear Ms. Walli: 
 
EB-2016-0050 – Hydro One Inc’s S86 (2)(b) Leave to Purchase Voting Securities of Great Lakes 
Power Transmission Inc. – Hydro One Inc’s Responses to Interrogatory Questions 

 
Please find attached the responses provided by Hydro One Inc. to interrogatory questions. 

Below are the Tab numbers for each intervenor: 

Tab  Intervenor 
1 Ontario Energy Board (Board Staff) 
2 Energy Probe 
3 Association of Major Power Consumers in Ontario (AMPCO) 
4 School Energy Coalition (SEC) 
5 Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition (VECC) 

 

Hydro One is also providing a correction to Pages 8 and 9 of Exhibit A, Tab 2, Schedule 1.  The update 
provides anticipated 2026 UTR impacts as a result of this transaction by holding all other 2016 UTR 
revenue requirements constant. 

An electronic copy of the Interrogatories has been filed using the Board’s Regulatory Electronic 
Submission System. Two hard copies will be sent to the Board shortly. 
 
 
SINCERELY, 
 
ORIGINAL SIGNED BY PASQUALE CATALANO ON BEHALF OF JOANNE RICHARSON 
 
JOANNE RICHARDSON 

cc Intervenors (electronic) 
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Ontario Energy Board (Board Staff)  INTERROGATORY #1  1 

 2 

Interrogatory 3 

 4 

Ref: Exhibit A, Tab 1, Schedule 1, Page 6 5 

 6 

The application states that 1937672 Ontario Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Hydro 7 

One Inc. (Hydro One) will own the limited partnership units of Great Lakes Transmission 8 

Holdings II LP and also states that there is no contemplated transfer or change in the 9 

ownership of the limited partnership interests in GLPT or GLPTLP. 10 

 11 

a) Please explain why Hydro One considers that no change of ownership will take place 12 

when the limited partnership units of Great Lakes Transmission Holdings II LP will 13 

now be owned by 1937672 Ontario Inc. 14 

 15 

b) Please confirm whether the limited partnership units currently held by Great Lakes 16 

Holdings LP will be owned by 1937672 Ontario Inc. after the transaction. If not, 17 

please provide a detailed explanation of the ownership structure of the limited 18 

partnership units of Great Lakes Power Transmission Holdings LP and Great Lakes 19 

Power Transmission LP following the transaction. 20 

 21 

c) Please comment on whether 1937172 Ontario Inc. will own the limited partnership 22 

units of Great Lakes Transmission Holdings II LP indefinitely or if, this is a 23 

temporary arrangement please comment on Hydro One’s plans for the ownership of 24 

these limited partnership units going forward. 25 

 26 

Response 27 

 28 

a) For consistency and ease of reference, HOI uses the following terms for purposes of 29 

answering this interrogatory. These terms are defined at pages 2 and 3 of the 30 

Application (Exhibit A, Tab 1, Schedule 1):  31 

 32 

 Great Lakes Power Transmission LP (“GLPTLP”) 33 

 Great Lakes Power Transmission Holdings L.P. (“Holdings LP”) 34 

 Great Lakes Power Transmission Holdings II L.P. (“Holdings II LP”) 35 

 Great Lakes Power Transmission Inc. (“GLPT”)  36 

 Great Lakes Power Transmission Holdings Inc. (“GLPT Holdings”) 37 

 Hydro One Inc. (“HOI”); and 38 

 Hydro One Networks Inc. (“Hydro One”). 39 

 40 

The organizational chart found at Exhibit A, Tab 1, Schedule 1, Attachment 1 shows 41 

that the limited partnership units issued in GLPTLP are held by (1) Holdings LP 42 

(99.99%) and (2) GLPT (0.01%).  Importantly, GLPT is the regulated transmitter in 43 

these circumstances and acts on behalf of GLPTLP.  What is also important is that the 44 
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ownership of GLPTLP limited partnership units will remain unchanged by the 1 

transaction and will continue to be held by Holdings LP and GLPT.   2 

 3 

The organizational chart also shows the entities that own the limited partnership units 4 

of Holdings LP.  These are (1) Holdings II LP (99.99%) and (2) GLPT Holdings 5 

(0.01%).  Under the terms of the transaction, 1937672 Ontario Inc., a wholly owned 6 

subsidiary of HOI, will acquire all limited partnership units of Holdings II LP.  HOI 7 

will acquire the voting securities of GLPT Holdings, the general partner of Holdings 8 

II LP and Holdings LP.  HOI is also acquiring the voting securities of GLPT. 9 

 10 

Neither Holdings II LP nor its general partner, GLPT Holdings, is regulated by the 11 

OEB because neither are licensed transmitters.  Thus, the disposition of these interests 12 

from these entities to HOI and 1937672 Ontario Inc. are not matters that fall within 13 

section 86(2) of the Act.   14 

 15 

On the acquisition side, HOI further notes that the OEB has previously determined 16 

that section 86(2) does not apply to the acquisition of limited partnership units.  That 17 

is, limited partnership units are not voting securities for the purposes of section 86(2).  18 

In EB-2013-0078, EB-2013-0079 and EB-2013-0080 at Page 5 the OEB made the 19 

following finding: 20 

 21 

In principle, based on the information in the application, the Board has no 22 

objection to the proposed acquisition of a 34% interest in B2M LP by SON LP 23 

Co.  However, it is clear that the wording of subsection 86(2)(a) of the Act does 24 

not cover the acquisition of an interest in a limited partnership.  Accordingly leave 25 

from the Board under subsection 86(2)(a) is not required for the proposed 26 

acquisition of a 34% interest in B2M LP by SON LP Co. (emphasis added).  27 

 28 

For these reasons, HOI maintains the view that there is no contemplated transfer or 29 

change in the ownership of the limited partnership interests in GLPTLP.  The only 30 

transfer requiring leave from the OEB concerns the acquisition of the voting 31 

securities of the licensed transmitter GLPT by HOI in accordance with section 32 

86(2)(b).    33 

 34 

b) The limited partnership units of GLPTLP, currently held by Holdings LP, will 35 

remain owned by Holdings LP.  1937672 Ontario Inc. intends to acquire the limited 36 

partnership units of Holdings II LP.  Please see (a) above.  37 

 38 

c) HOI assumes the question is intended to refer to 1937672 Ontario Inc.  At the 39 

present time, there is no further plan, post-closing, to restructure ownership of the 40 

limited partnership interests contemplated to be transferred to 1937672 Ontario Inc.  41 

As noted in response (a) above, limited partnership interests are not voting securities 42 

of a regulated transmitter and thus fall outside of the requirements found in section 43 

86(2) of the Act.  In any event, 1937672 Ontario Limited will hold the limited 44 
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partnership units of Holdings II LP for the foreseeable future.  Changes in 1 

circumstances arising in the future are always possible and could result in changes to 2 

the post-closing ownership structure.   3 
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Ontario Energy Board (Board Staff)  INTERROGATORY #2  1 

 2 

Interrogatory 3 

 4 

Ref: Exhibit A, Tab 2, Schedule 1, Page 3 5 

 6 

Hydro One states that the transaction is expected to result in downward pressure on the 7 

cost structures of Hydro One and GLPT as compared to the scenario where the 8 

transaction did not proceed. Hydro One states that this conclusion is supported by two 9 

comparative assessments: (1) Hydro One and GLPT’s productivity improvements; and 10 

(2) savings opportunities relative to the status quo scenario. 11 

 12 

a) Please comment on the particular aspects of the transaction that will result in the 13 

anticipated productivity improvements. 14 

 15 

b) Please comment on any other productivity measures other than the OM&A per gross 16 

fixed asset that Hydro One could use in evaluating the impact on cost structures. 17 

 18 

c) Please identify any factors that may affect the achievement of the expected 19 

efficiencies and the recovery of costs associated with the proposed transaction in the 20 

timelines projected. 21 

 22 

Response 23 

 24 

a) In 2017-2018, GLPT and Hydro One will continue to operate as stand-alone licensed 25 

transmitters. During this period, Hydro One will examine areas where operational 26 

efficiencies may be achieved through integration.  The areas in which OM&A savings 27 

are expected to be realized following 2018 relate to scale and operational synergies. 28 

These include procurement, maintenance programs, planning, operations, project 29 

management, engineering, scheduling, back-office administration, corporate 30 

governance, etc.  Additional savings opportunities may include information 31 

technology, insurance, and research and development and in later years savings are 32 

assumed to reflect the legal and financial amalgamation of the two entities which is 33 

expected to occur. Qualitative benefits associated with the transaction include 34 

coordinated regional planning, emergency response and ongoing outage management 35 

activities as well as opportunities for GLPT’s management and staff to work within 36 

the Hydro One organization. These resources will help address expected retirements 37 

and other attrition within Hydro One. 38 

 39 

Additional synergy areas exist in capital expenditure reductions arising from some 40 

asset redundancy, the economic scale of Hydro One’s operations, and potential 41 

savings from adopting Hydro One’s asset management programs. The level of actual 42 

realized savings is uncertain and will depend on the experience gained by the parties 43 

in 2017 and 2018, circumstances prevailing when operational integration plans are 44 
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implemented, and external factors affecting operations (e.g. storms). Cost reductions 1 

associated with the SCADA system, transport and work equipment, spare parts 2 

inventory, and asset replacement costs are expected in years 3 to 5, with savings in 3 

later years attributable to the ability to avoid the relocation of a backup control center 4 

given Hydro One’s existing infrastructure. Additional cost savings are assumed due to 5 

GLPT’s use of other Hydro One operational programs, such as its Asset Risk 6 

Assessment model, and avoidance of significant costs for improvements to redundant 7 

buildings and facilities, and strengthening purchasing economies of scale. 8 

 9 

b) There are no widely-accepted measures of productivity used in the transmission 10 

sector.  As has been described in previous benchmarking studies before the Board1, 11 

strong correlations exist between spending and assets.  These same studies found that 12 

other normalizing factors, such as the number of customers or circuit kilometers, are 13 

not appropriate, as the correlation between these variables and costs is weak. Gross 14 

fixed assets, instead of net assets, is used as a normalizing factor because depreciation 15 

methodologies vary amongst entities.2   16 

 17 

With respect to the cost variable used in HOI’s analysis in this Application, HOI 18 

proposed to use OM&A as the cost variable as that is the most controllable 19 

transmitter cost. 20 

 21 

c) Based on its current assessment of GLPT’s assets, Hydro One does not see any 22 

significant risks originating within the suite of stations, lines or system control / 23 

SCADA assets and facilities and therefore has not flagged any barriers to the 24 

integration of the GLPT assets. Hydro One’s overall assessment of the suite of GLPT 25 

assets indicated they are in fair-to-good condition and they pose minimal risks to 26 

either integration or incorporation into the Hydro One suite of assets and supporting 27 

data systems. While there is always a possibility of discovering (through a more 28 

detailed analysis conducted closer to integration) that some assets or facilities may 29 

require additional remediation efforts to be undertaken, at this time, Hydro One does 30 

not see any asset risks that are of significant impact.  31 

 32 

Land access and rights negotiations involving both First Nations and existing land 33 

owners occur from time to time and have associated risks.  While this transaction is 34 

not expected to materially change these existing risks, the successful conclusion of 35 

such negotiations could affect the timing and level of achieved efficiencies. Other 36 

potential risks include unforeseen factors such as adverse weather (i.e. storms), labor 37 

contract negotiations (i.e. PWU union contract expiry and terms) and unexpected loss 38 

of supply or equipment failures.   39 

                                                 
1 EB-2014-0238 – Exhibit 4, Tab 2, Schedule 1 Appendix A 1QC Benchmarking Study and EB-2016-0160 – Exhibit B2, Tab 2, 
Schedule 1 Attachment 1 Navigant Transmission Total Cost Benchmarking Study 
2 EB-2016-0160 – Exhibit B2, Tab 2, Schedule 1 Attachment 1 Navigant Transmission Total Cost Benchmarking Study - Section 2.4 
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Ontario Energy Board (Board Staff)  INTERROGATORY #3  1 

 2 

Interrogatory 3 

 4 

Ref: Exhibit A, Tab 2, Schedule 1, Page 7 5 

 6 

Hydro One states that incremental transaction costs will be financed through productivity 7 

gains associated with the transaction and will not be included in either GLPT or Hydro 8 

One’s revenue requirement and thus will not be funded by ratepayers. 9 

 10 

a) Please provide the magnitude of the incremental transaction costs that will be 11 

incurred as a result of this transaction. 12 

 13 

Response 14 

 15 

Incremental transaction costs are described in Exhibit A, Tab 2, Schedule 1, Page 7.  HOI 16 

expects to incur these types of costs in two phases. 17 

 18 

Phase 1 (2016) 19 

  20 

In phase 1, costs associated with negotiating the transaction and obtaining all required 21 

regulatory approvals as well as initial steps to integrate GLPT and Hydro One financial 22 

systems will be incurred. The major integration activity during this period is loading and 23 

validating GLPT’s financial data into Hydro One’s financial systems.  This will provide 24 

functionality for monthly trial balance uploads, intercompany transactions and reporting. 25 

This phase is estimated to cost approximately $3,500,000. 26 

 27 

Phase 2 (2018, and early 2019) 28 

 29 

In this phase, in preparing for a seamless transition and full operational integration, 30 

Hydro One will be completing a number of discovery / collection activities, including: 31 

 32 

• Collect data / drawings and prepare for data loading 33 

• Assess data systems structural setup for integration and testing 34 

 Implement nomenclature solutions (data systems, diagrams, prints, Operating / 35 

NMS) 36 

 Prepare operations to be integrated into OGCC Control / NMS / SCADA 37 

environment 38 

 Prepare for migration of all IT / Database management information into existing 39 

Hydro One tools 40 

 41 

Full operational integration entails all finance tools, new equipment assets, database 42 

updates, customer conversions, settlements, supply chain, human resources, 43 
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telecommunications, work management, and full SCADA integration. This process will 1 

commence in the latter half of 2018 (and into early 2019).  The estimated cost of these 2 

activities is $3.9M. 3 
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Ontario Energy Board (Board Staff)  INTERROGATORY #4  1 

 2 

Interrogatory 3 

 4 

Ref: Exhibit A, Tab 2, Schedule 1, Page 8 5 

 6 

Hydro One states that the premium paid over book value on the transaction will not have 7 

a material impact on Hydro One’s financial viability as the value of the transaction 8 

equates to approximately 2% of Hydro One’s fixed assets. Hydro One also states that the 9 

premium will not be recovered through revenue requirement and no return will be earned 10 

on that premium. 11 

 12 

a) Please confirm the amount of the premium that is being paid as well as the rate base 13 

portion of the price that is expected to be recovered from ratepayers. 14 

 15 

Response 16 

 17 

The amount of premium associated with the transaction is approximately $150 million. 18 

The final premium amount will be determined once all post-closing costs have been 19 

incurred.  As noted in Exhibit A, Tab 1, Schedule 1, page 7, neither Hydro One nor 20 

GLPT will seek to increase future revenue requirements recovered from customers in 21 

order to recover transaction costs and premiums associated with this transaction.   22 

 23 

The 2016 approved GLPT rate base is $218,654,000.  The return on this amount is 24 

currently included in the GLPT approved revenue requirement and will therefore be 25 

recovered from ratepayers as will any OEB-approved changes to rate base in future years. 26 



Filed: 2016-06-20 
EB-2016-0050 
Exhibit I 
Tab 1 
Schedule 5  
Page 1 of 1 

 
Ontario Energy Board (Board Staff)  INTERROGATORY #5  1 

 2 

Interrogatory 3 

 4 

Ref: Exhibit A, Tab 1, Schedule 1, Page 8 5 

 6 

Hydro One states that it has selected a 10 year rate rebasing deferral period commencing 7 

on the closing dat of the transaction. Should the transaction close before or during the 8 

first quarter of 2017, the rate rebasing deferral period would end December 31, 2016. 9 

Rates would then be rebased effective January 1, 2027. Hydro One also states that its 10 

understanding is that GLPT expects to file in 2016 a rate application for approval of its 11 

2017 and 2018 revenue requirements in 2016. 12 

 13 

a) Please clarify if Hydro One is requesting a deferred rate rebasing period for 10 years 14 

beginning in 2017 or is Hydro One requesting a deferred rate rebasing period for 8 15 

years, commencing in 2019. 16 

 17 

Response 18 

 19 

HOI assumes that the second sentence in the preamble to this question is intended to read 20 

“Should the transaction close before or during the first quarter of 2017, the rate rebasing 21 

deferral period would end on December 31, 2026.  Rates would then be rebased effective 22 

January 1, 2027”. 23 

 24 

HOI is requesting a 10 year deferred rebasing period commencing after the close of the 25 

transaction.  This approach is intended to comply with the 2016 Handbook which states 26 

at Page 12: 27 

 28 

“The 2015 Report permits consolidating distributors to defer rebasing for   29 

up to 10 years from the closing of the transaction [emphasis added]”1.     30 

 31 

Given the timing uncertainty of when regulatory approval of this application may occur, 32 

and given that regulatory approval is a condition to closing, HOI has proposed having the 33 

deferred rebasing period commence on January 1, 2017 in the event transaction closing 34 

occurs before or during the first quarter of 2017.  The deferred rebasing period would 35 

then end on December 31, 2026.  The first two years of that deferral period would then 36 

correspond to the 2017 and 2018 revenue requirement application to be filed by GLPT.  37 

For the subsequent 8 years of the deferred rebasing period, GLPT’s by then previously 38 

approved 2018 revenue requirement would be used and adjusted annually for inflation.  39 

Please refer to Exhibit A, Tab 3, Schedule 1, page 1. 40 

                                                 
1 Handbook, page 12 
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Ontario Energy Board (Board Staff)  INTERROGATORY #6  1 

 2 

Interrogatory 3 

 4 

Ref: Exhibit A, Tab 3, Schedule 1, Pages 1-2 5 

 6 

Hydro One has requested the OEB’s acceptance of the proposed methodology to 7 

calculate GLPT’s revenue requirement for 2019 and for each subsequent year during the 8 

rate rebasing deferral period. In 2016, GLPT intends to file a rate application for approval 9 

of its 2017 and 2018 revenue requirements. For 2019 and each subsequent year of the 10 

rebasing deferral period, GLPT’s annual revenue requirement will be calculated by using 11 

GLPT’s prior year revenue requirement and adjusting this amount with an inflation 12 

factor. 13 

 14 

a) Will GLPT be making a request under section 78 of the OEB Act in its 2017/2018 15 

rate application for its proposed methodology to calculate the GLPT 2019 revenue 16 

requirement and for each subsequent year during the deferred rebasing period? 17 

 18 

b) If Hydro One will not be making a request under section 78 of the OEB Act: 19 

 20 

a. Please explain what Hydro One is seeking from the OEB through the request 21 

made in this application 22 

 23 

b. Please provide the basis on which Hydro One is making this request, setting 24 

out in detail how this request is consistent with the OEB Handbook to 25 

Electricity Distributor and Transmitter Consolidations. 26 

 27 

Response 28 

 29 

a) HOI has been advised by GLPT that the cost of service application to be filed will be 30 

for 2017 and 2018 revenue requirements.  GLPT will not be seeking an approval for 31 

any revenue requirement beyond this time period in that application.   32 

 33 

b) HOI is seeking approval for the methodology by which revenue requirements will be 34 

determined during the entirety of the deferred rebasing period. 35 

 36 

HOI’s application has been prepared to comply with the Board’s new Handbook to 37 

Electricity Distributor and Transmitter Consolidations (“Handbook”) dated January 38 

19, 2016.  In so doing, HOI was mindful of the language found at page 11 which 39 

notes that rate-setting following a consolidation will not be addressed in an 40 

application for approval of a consolidation transaction, unless there is a rate proposal 41 

that is an integral aspect of the consolidation.   42 

 43 
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By seeking confirmation of, or alternatively, non-objection to the proposed method of 1 

determining rates during the entirety of the deferred rebasing period, HOI is provided 2 

with regulatory certainty that the methodology will not be subject to change and that 3 

it has a reasonable opportunity to realize efficiencies and have these offset against 4 

transaction and premium amounts.  If acceptance or non-objection to the proposed 5 

rate-making methodology was not obtained, then the objectives of the deferred 6 

rebasing period, namely to provide acquiring transmitters with the opportunity to 7 

recover transaction premiums through efficiencies, would remain uncertain.  Based 8 

on HOI’s review of the Handbook, Table 1 on page 15 demonstrates that certainty 9 

over the rate setting methodology over a deferral period is a necessary and integral 10 

part of the deferred rebasing period.  11 

 12 

In seeking confirmation of, or non-objection to, the revenue setting methodology 13 

proposed for the post 2019 deferred rebasing period, HOI was also informed by the 14 

information found under the heading “Rate Setting During Deferred Rebasing Period” 15 

as found at pages 13 and 14. Table 1, referenced in this section, addresses six 16 

scenarios in terms of the rate methodologies that would apply to distributors during 17 

the entirety of a deferred rebasing period.  The Handbook acknowledged that the six 18 

scenarios are not all inclusive and that unique circumstances may exist that would 19 

require the OEB to assess the rate-setting proposals on a case by case basis.   20 

 21 

The fact that the Handbook expressly contemplates Board consideration of revenue-22 

setting proposals for and during the deferred rebasing period and within the context of 23 

applications made pursuant to section 86(2)(a), is the primary reason why HOI has 24 

included information to this effect in its application and sought confirmation of its 25 

rate-setting proposal.  26 

 27 

HOI’s proposal does not explicitly fall into the rate-setting options during the 28 

deferred rebasing period as outlined in Table 1.  As such, HOI has requested approval 29 

of the revenue-setting methodology to be utilized during the deferred rebasing period. 30 

The circumstances in the present transaction are unique when compared to the 31 

scenarios described in Table 1 are: 32 

 33 

 Both GLPT and Hydro One are transmitters and as such neither has been required 34 

to adopt an IRM method of rate regulation.  Both entities, however, intend to do 35 

so commencing in 2019, midway through the deferred rebasing period.   36 

 This requirement, coupled with the fact that both GLPT and Hydro One will be 37 

seeking cost of service revenue requirement approvals during a two year period 38 

while the deferred rebasing period is in effect, are unique circumstances and 39 

unlike those found in Table 1. 40 

 41 

 42 
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 The 2017 and 2018 cost of service rate application to be filed by GLPT will 1 

effectively be the “starting point” revenue requirements for the first two years of 2 

the deferral rebasing period and the 2018 approved amount will become the base 3 

upon which the inflation adjustment will apply for the remaining years of the 4 

deferral period.  Scrutiny and justification for the GLPT 2017 and 2018 revenue 5 

requirements is expected through the OEB’s hearing process in that application.  6 

  7 

 The inflation adjustment proposal is unique to transmission consolidation 8 

circumstances but akin to other rate setting proposals approved in other 9 

consolidation proceedings.  10 

Based on the foregoing, HOI submits that unique circumstances exist allowing the 11 

OEB to assess the proposed rate-setting methodology for the post 2018 deferred 12 

rebasing period.  The OEB’s consideration and assessment of the rate-setting proposal 13 

for the entire deferral rebasing period are consistent with the Handbook.   14 

 15 

In response to part (a) to this request, HOI is seeking either express approval of or 16 

non-objection to the rate-setting methodology. This pronouncement will then guide 17 

the manner by which GLPT will make rate applications for the period 2019 to 2026 in 18 

accordance with section 78 of the Act.  Specifically, HOI would expect this form of 19 

application to be uncontentious and more of a compliance filing given the underlying 20 

expectation that the future revenue requirement will be based on the 2018 approved 21 

level and adjusted for inflation.  HOI does not view the proposed methodology to 22 

cause any undue prejudice since it is based upon approval of a yet to be determined 23 

2018 revenue requirement. In that respect, HOI is not opposed to having its proposal 24 

acknowledged to be conditional upon approval of the GLPT 2018 revenue 25 

requirement.  26 
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Ontario Energy Board (Board Staff)  INTERROGATORY #7  1 

 2 

Interrogatory 3 

 4 

Ref: OEB Filing Requirements For Electricity Transmission Applications, Chapter 2, 5 

Page 1 6 

 7 

The Filing Requirements set out two new transmission revenue plan options. One of these 8 

is an incentive-based revenue index plan of five years, comprising an initial application to 9 

establish a revenue requirement based on a single test year cost of service application, 10 

followed by incentive-based and indexed adjustments to revenue requirement for the 11 

balance of the term. Analogous to a Price Cap for distributors, this “Revenue Cap index” 12 

approach includes expectations for the development of an index, as well as productivity 13 

and stretch commitments. The OEB invites transmitters to propose and substantiate the 14 

appropriate method and commitments for these elements. 15 

 16 

a) If Hydro One is seeking the OEB’s approval for its proposed methodology for setting 17 

its revenue requirement for 2019: 18 

 19 

a. Please confirm whether Hydro One has completed analysis to substantiate its 20 

proposal. 21 

 22 

b. If this analysis has been undertaken, please advise whether this information is 23 

expected to be filed as part of GLPT’s rate application for 2017/2018. If not, 24 

please indicate when Hydro One expects to provide this information. 25 

 26 

b) Please comment on the impact to the transaction if the OEB does not accept Hydro 27 

One’s proposed metholodology or indicates that it will not be dealt with as part of this 28 

application. 29 

 30 

Response 31 

 32 

a) HOI has not completed this analysis because HOI is not seeking approval of a 33 

revenue requirement amount under s.78 of the OEB Act, 1998 in this Application.  34 

The relief sought is acceptance of the methodology used to determine the revenue 35 

requirement amount for GLPT in the deferred rebasing period proposed between 36 

2019 and 2026.  The Handbook permits consolidating entities to defer revenue 37 

requirement rebasing for a period up to ten years after the closing of the transaction.  38 

This deferred rebasing period is intended “to enable (consolidating entities) to fully 39 

realize anticipated efficiency gains from the transaction and retain achieved savings 40 

for a period of time to help offset the costs of the transaction”1.   In years six through 41 

ten, the Handbook also requires implementation of an earnings sharing mechanism 42 

                                                 
1 Handbook page 9 
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(“ESM”) in order to protect customers and ensure that they share in any benefits from 1 

consolidation during the deferred rebasing period2 which HOI has proposed.  Due to 2 

the implementation of an ESM during the extended deferred rebasing period, the 3 

productivity and stretch factors proposed by HOI are zero, for the following reasons: 4 

 5 

 Per the Board’s MAAD policy3 the achieved savings realized in the deferred 6 

rebasing period are to the benefit of the consolidating shareholder. 7 

 Currently the OEB does not have any established revenue adjustment 8 

mechanism for transmission  9 

 10 

HOI has also proposed an annual inflation factor, similar to the rate proposed in 11 

Chapter 3 of the distribution filing requirements, and requested the use of an ICM, 12 

both consistent with OEB policy.    13 

 14 

b) The purchase agreement for the proposed transaction is not contingent upon the OEB 15 

accepting the proposed methodology.  However, one of the business and regulatory 16 

objectives that HOI is trying to achieve is certainty over the methodology used to 17 

determine revenue requirements during the deferred rebasing period. This would not 18 

be achieved if the methodology is not dealt with as part of this application.  HOI sees 19 

these objectives as being beneficial not only to its interests, but also to the interests of 20 

ratepayers.  21 

 22 

The proposed revenue requirement setting methodology is intended to provide an 23 

equivalent level of certainty to that which would arise in circumstances involving 24 

distribution consolidations. Based on Table 1 (found on page 15 of the Handbook), 25 

distributors would know the methodology by which their rates are determined during 26 

the entirety of the deferred rebasing period.  27 

Implications arise if the Board decides not to approve or defer consideration of the 28 

proposed revenue requirement methodology. For instance, the level of certainty 29 

afforded to distribution consolidations would be greater than those involving 30 

transmission.  Additionally, deferring assessment of the methodology would create 31 

confusion on the revenue setting methodologies to be used during the deferred 32 

rebasing period, which would benefit neither ratepayers nor HOI.   33 

 34 

As noted in Exhibit I, Tab 1, Schedule 6, establishing a deferred rebasing period 35 

provides limited value absent knowledge of how revenue requirements within that 36 

period are to be determined.  HOI interprets the discussion in the Handbook (in 37 

particular, with regard to Table 1) to mean that rate setting methodologies for the 38 

deferred rebasing period are expected to be known to applicants seeking 39 

                                                 
2 Handbook page 16 
3 EB-2014-0138: Report of the Board on Rate-making Associated with Distributor Consolidation 
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consolidation authorizations.  This information provides a consolidating applicant 1 

with a reasonable basis to assess and quantify cost efficiencies and synergies as they 2 

become known.   3 



Filed: 2016-06-20 
EB-2016-0050 
Exhibit I 
Tab 1 
Schedule 8  
Page 1 of 1 

 
Ontario Energy Board (Board Staff)  INTERROGATORY #8  1 

 2 

Interrogatory 3 

 4 

Ref: Exhibit A, Tab 3, Schedule 1, Pages 2-3 5 

 6 

Hydro One has proposed an earnings sharing mechanism that will take effect during the 7 

last five years of the rebasing deferral period. GLPT’s revenue requirement will be 8 

adjusted so that prior year excess earnings are shared with ratepayers on a 50:50 basis for 9 

all earnings that exceed 300 basis points above the ROE approved by the Board for 2018 10 

in GLPT’s 2017-18 rates application. 11 

 12 

GLPT’s audited financial statements will be used to calculate any earning sharing 13 

amounts if amalgamation has not occurred during the rebasing deferral period. If 14 

amalgamation occurs during the rebasing deferral period, GLPT’s last available audited 15 

financial statement will serve as a proxy for the achieved ROE amount for purposes of 16 

calculating shared earnings. The shared amount will be held constant and treated as an 17 

annual credit to each subsequent revenue requirement amount in the remaining rebasing 18 

deferral period. 19 

 20 

a) Please confirm whether it is Hydro One’s intention to share potential excess earnings 21 

with customers of both Hydro One and GLPT or whether the shared earnings will 22 

accrue only to the benefit of the customers of GLPT. 23 

 24 

b) Please confirm whether Hydro One has considered any other methods for the 25 

calculation of shared earnings, post-amalgamation. If so, please provide details on the 26 

alternative methods that Hydro One has considered. 27 

 28 

Response 29 

 30 

a) Assuming the Uniform Transmission Rate (“UTR”) methodology remains in effect 31 

during 2022-2026 (i.e. the time period in which the ESM is in effect) HOI’s intention 32 

is to have any excess earnings that are shared with consumers, to be reflected in 33 

deductions to future revenue requirements.  The reduced revenue requirement will 34 

then form part of the revenue requirements used by the Board to determine the overall 35 

UTR (the combined total of all licensed electricity transmitters in Ontario that recover 36 

their revenues through Ontario’s UTR).  The impact of the reduction will then be 37 

reflected in the UTRs charged to all Ontario electricity customers.  The UTR rate 38 

methodology does not differentiate transmission rates by user.  This means that 39 

benefits from excess earnings will be shared equally amongst all Ontario ratepayers.  40 

 41 

b) No, HOI only considered the method described in the Handbook. 42 
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Energy Probe  INTERROGATORY #1  1 

 2 

Interrogatory 3 

 4 

Reference: Exhibit A, Tab 1, Schedule 1, Page 7 5 

 6 

Preamble: Hydro One’s assessment of the proposed transaction takes into account the 7 

Board’s “No Harm” Test outlined in the Handbook. 8 

 9 

a) Please provide the specific Handbook reference(s) and extract(s). 10 

 11 

b) How does Hydro One interpret the “No Harm” test from a ratepayer perspective? 12 

 13 

c) If GPLP’s revenue requirement and rates were to increase at or below inflation 14 

(absent the merger), how would this affect the “No Harm” test? 15 

 16 

Response 17 

 18 

a) Please refer to pages 3-4 of the Handbook, Section 3, The OEB Test, and Section 4, 19 

The OEB Assessment of the Application, found on pages 6-10. 20 

 21 

b) HOI’s interpretation of the no harm test is informed by the Handbook and previous 22 

OEB decisions (EB-2013-0187/0196/0198, EB-2014-0213, EB-2014-0244) that 23 

concerned relief under section 86 of the OEB Act.  In general terms, HOI understands 24 

that the no harm test considers whether the proposed transaction will have an adverse 25 

effect on the attainment of the OEB’s statutory objectives, as set out in section 1 of 26 

the OEB Act, 1998. 27 

 28 

c) If GLPT’s revenue requirement over the deferred rebasing period was to increase at 29 

an amount equal to inflation, then GLPT’s resulting revenue requirement would be 30 

equal to the revenue requirement proposed in this application resulting in no harm. In 31 

the unlikely scenario where GLPT’s revenue requirement was to increase at a rate 32 

less than inflation then HOI’s proposal would produce a higher revenue requirement.  33 

However, HOI believes this is an unlikely outcome and will not reflect the ongoing 34 

operational needs of GLPT. For further information please refer to GLPT’s draft 35 

capital expenditure plan provided in Exhibit I, Tab 2, Schedule 6.   36 

 37 

HOI also observes that in 2015, GLPT’s approved revenue requirement increased by 38 

approximately 10% when compared to 2014.  If this transaction did not proceed, 39 

GLPT could be expected to file two more revenue requirement applications in 40 

accordance with the OEB’s proposed RRFE for transmitters in the period 2019-2026. 41 

HOI has no reason to expect those revenue requirements would increase at a rate less 42 

than inflation. 43 

 44 
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The transaction before the OEB provides revenue requirement certainty over a 10 1 

year period, in that the revenue requirement over the last eight years of the deferral 2 

period will only increase by inflation.  In the absence of this transaction, such 3 

certainty is not provided to ratepayers.  Additionally, HOI’s evidence is that this 4 

transaction will result in downward pressure on the overall cost structures of both 5 

entities, to the ultimate benefit of Ontario ratepayers. 6 
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Energy Probe  INTERROGATORY #2  1 

 2 

Interrogatory 3 

 4 

Reference: Exhibit A, Tab 1, Schedule 1, Page 8  5 

 6 

Preamble: While longer term synergy savings opportunities are reasonably expected, 7 

reductions to the GLPT cost structure over time are not expected to result in significant 8 

reductions to the level of the UTR relative to the UTR rate had the transaction not 9 

proceeded. This outcome is due to the relatively small size of the GLPT revenue 10 

requirement as compared to the overall revenue requirement recovered through the UTR. 11 

 12 

Please explain why “size matters” in assessing the cost/benefit of the Transaction. In your 13 

response take into account the fact that GPLT’s revenue requirement is now recovered in 14 

the pooled UTR rates now and Post-merger. 15 

 16 

Response 17 

 18 

HOI was referring to the relative size of the revenue requirements. GLPTs revenue 19 

requirement, expressed as a percentage of the overall total revenue requirement recovered 20 

by the UTRs is 2.7%.  The point HOI makes is that regardless of the actual achieved 21 

synergy savings, ratepayers should not expect significant reductions to the overall level 22 

of the UTR because GLPT’s revenue requirement is such a small component of the 23 

overall revenue requirements recovered by the UTR. 24 
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Energy Probe  INTERROGATORY #3  1 

 2 

Interrogatory 3 

 4 

References: Exhibit A, Tab 3, Schedule 1. Page 2 and Distribution Filing Requirements 5 

Chapter 3 (RRFE) 6 

 7 

a) With reference to the RRFE, specifically Chapter 3, Table 1, Page 2 of the 8 

Guidelines, please indicate which of the Option(s) Hydro One is attempting to mirror 9 

- 4th Generation IR, Custom IR or Annual IR Index. 10 

 11 

b) Please demonstrate/discuss how the specific proposals in the Application and 12 

resulting Rates meet/do not meet the Structure and Options of the RFFE. 13 

 14 

c) Please discuss why Hydro One is proposing to adopt certain parts of the RRFE 15 

framework in the 10 year period post-merger and not others e.g. X factor, Term.  16 

 17 

Response 18 

 19 

Please refer to Exhibit I, Tab 1, Schedule 7. 20 
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Energy Probe  INTERROGATORY #4  1 

 2 

Interrogatory 3 

 4 

References: Exhibit A, Tab 2, Schedule 1, Page 3 and Exhibit A, Tab 3, Schedule 1, Page 5 

1 6 

 7 

a) Please confirm Hydro One Tx and GLPT rates recently have been set for a two year 8 

period based on a Revenue Requirement based on Cost of Service. 9 

 10 

b) Please provide for each entity, the annual Revenue Requirement and the realized rate 11 

of return for the period 2010-2015. 12 

 13 

c) Leaving aside relative size argument(s), please explain why a 10 year rebasing for 14 

GPLT is appropriate for Hydro One and for existing ratepayers? 15 

 16 

d) Given the historic revenue requirements for Hydro One TX and GLPT, please explain 17 

why inflation is an appropriate escalator for GPLT revenue requirement post 2019?  18 

 19 

Response 20 

 21 

a) Confirmed. Hydro One’s current transmission revenue requirement for 2015 and 22 

2016 was set under cost of service application (EB-2014-0140).  On May 31, 2016, 23 

Hydro One submitted a 2 year cost of service revenue requirement application for 24 

2017 and 2018, EB-2016-0160.   25 

 26 

GLPT’s revenue requirement for 2015 and 2016 was also set under a cost of service 27 

application (EB-2014-0238).  GLPT expects to file a cost of service revenue 28 

requirement application later in 2016 for 2017 and 2018. 29 

 30 

b)  31 

 32 

 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 

Hydro One Revenue Requirement ($M) 1,217.7 1,299.5 1,385.1 1,390.8 1,446.4 1,477.3 

Hydro One Realized Return on Equity (%) 10.49 10.95 12.41 13.22 13.12 10.93 

GLPT Revenue Requirement ($M) 34.2 34.8 36.1 38.1 38.7 39.6 

GLPT Realized Return on Equity (%) 11.03 10.94 11.86 11.51 11.42 9.66 

 33 

c) HOI relied on the Handbook, in selecting a 10 year deferral period. Specifically, page 34 

12 of the Handbook permits deferral of rebasing for up to 10 years and states that the 35 

extent of the deferred rebasing period is at the option of the applicant and no 36 

supporting evidence is required to justify the selection of the deferred rebasing 37 

period.  In allowing this, the OEB requires the applicant to identify the specific 38 
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number of years for which deferral is sought.   HOI has provided this information. 1 

 2 

d) GLPT’s historical revenue requirement has increased on average at a rate of 3% per 3 

year over the 2010-2015 period.  See part b) above. The GDP inflation rate over the 4 

same time period averages approximately 1.6%1.  As a result, increasing GLPT 5 

revenue requirement by the rate of inflation is an appropriate escalator. 6 

                                                 
1 From OEB distributors inflation factors (2011-1.3%; 2012-2.0%’ 2013-1.6%; 2014-1.7%; 2015-1.6%) 
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Energy Probe  INTERROGATORY #5  1 

 2 

Interrogatory 3 

 4 

Reference: Exhibit A, Tab 2, Schedule 1 Page 3 Table 1  5 

 6 

a) Please explain why in Table 1 “OM&A per gross fixed assets” is an appropriate 7 

measure. 8 

 9 

b) Has this measure been approved as a Productivity Measure for Transmitters, 10 

comparable to Total Factor Productivity used for Distributors? If so, please provide 11 

references. 12 

 13 

c) Does Hydro One have TFP figures for GPLT and Hydro One? If so, please provide 14 

these. 15 

 16 

Response 17 

 18 

a) Please refer to Exhibit I, Tab 1, Schedule 2b. 19 

 20 

b) To HOI’s knowledge, there are no formal approvals for performance measures.  21 

However the “OM&A per gross fixed assets” measure is used in the industry.  22 

 23 

c) No, HOI does not have these TFP figures. 24 
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Energy Probe  INTERROGATORY #6  1 

 2 

Interrogatory 3 

 4 

Reference: Exhibit A, Tab 2, Schedule 1 Tables 2 and 3 5 

 6 

a) Please provide a draft of GPLT’s Capital Plan as referenced in the evidence. 7 

 8 

b) Comparing Tables 2 and 3, please provide the basis of the reductions in CAPEX i.e. 9 

which projects will be deferred or integrated with Hydro One plans. Please be as 10 

specific as possible with a listing of projects and capital costs before and after the 11 

merger. 12 

 13 

Response 14 

 15 

a) Please refer to Attachment 1 for the draft 5 year GLPT capital plan. GLPT also 16 

provided HOI with a year 6-10 capital plan. This extended capital plan is provided in 17 

Attachment 2. 18 

 19 

b) Please refer to Attachment 3 for the reductions in CAPEX identified in Exhibit A, 20 

Tab 2, Schedule 1, Table 3. 21 



C$ in thousands 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 Total
Capital Expenditures - Detailed
Transmission Line Upgrades

Wood Structure Replacements 6,002.2$     6,390.1$     1,929.6$     1,607.4$      1,766.5$     17,695.9$    
Sault #3 115kV Line Upgrade -              1,022.7       6,162.9       5,238.4        8,549.1       20,973.1      
Engineering - Transmission Lines 430.8          498.1          756.5          634.3           572.6          2,892.3        

Total Transmission Line Upgrades 6,433.0       7,910.9       8,849.0       7,480.1        10,888.2     41,561.2      

Station Upgrades
Anjigami Transmission Station Upgrade 1,832.9       -              -              -              -              1,832.9        
Mackay Transmission Station - T1 Transformer Replacement 1,377.0       -              -              -              -              1,377.0        
Watson Transmission Station Protection Upgrades 1,382.1       -              -              -              -              1,382.1        
New Generation Network 510.0          520.2          -              -              -              1,030.2        
Echo River Transmission Station Upgrade 331.5          -              -              -              -              331.5           
Third Line Transmission Station - T2 Transformer Replacement 3,040.6       2,630.3       -              -              -              5,671.0        
Critical Spare Parts -              520.2          530.6          541.2           -              1,592.0        
Transformer Contingency Plan - Replacements & Spares -              -              -              1,226.8        588.8          1,815.6        
Hollingsworth Transmission Station Protection Upgrades -              -              248.7          -              -              248.7           
Mackay Transmission Station Relay Replacements -              -              193.9          298.8           -              492.6           
Steelton Transmission Station Upgrade -              -              2,220.6       2,265.0        -              4,485.6        
New Transmission Station - Replace Goulais & Batchawana -              485.9          1,068.1       2,178.9        3,333.77     7,066.7        
Security Camera Upgrades at Transmission Stations -              -              -              541.2           -              541.2           
Engineering - Transmission Stations 698.8          641.2          423.2          569.0           351.2          2,683.4        
Transmission Line/Station Emergency Work 168.3          171.7          175.1          178.6           182.2          875.8           

Total Station Upgrades 9,341.3       4,969.5       4,860.2       7,799.5        4,456.0       31,426.4      

System Equipment
Fibre Optic Network Upgrades 726.8          299.1          -              -              -              1,025.9        
SCADA Hardware Refresh -              -              -              -              1,104.1       1,104.1        
SCADA Asset Management -              -              596.9          1,826.6        -              2,423.5        
Radio System Upgrade 765.0          780.3          -              -              -              1,545.3        
General SCADA, Telecom, Communications Upgrades 153.0          156.1          159.2          162.4           165.6          796.2           
Information Technology Refresh - Hardware & Software 255.0          260.1          265.3          270.6           276.0          1,327.0        
Transportation and Work Equipment 204.0          208.1          1,485.7       649.5           220.8          2,768.0        

Total System Equipment 2,103.8       1,703.7       2,507.1       2,909.0        1,766.5       10,990.1      

Land and Property Rights
Third Line Transmission Station Storage Facility Building 714.0          -              -              -              -              714.0           
W23K Line ROW Expansion 153.0          156.1          -              -              -              309.1           
Land Acquisitions -              1,040.4       1,061.2       -              -              2,101.6        
Minor Fixed Assets 234.6          129.0          130.2          194.8           198.7          887.4           
General Building Upgrades 385.1          330.3          212.2          216.5           220.8          1,364.9        

Total Land and Property Rights 1,486.7       1,655.8       1,403.7       411.3           419.6          5,377.0        

Total Spend 19,364.7$   16,239.8$   17,619.9$   18,600.0$   17,530.3$    89,354.7$   

Great Lakes Power Transmission LP
5 Year Capital Plan
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C$ in thousands

Calendar Year 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026
GLPT 10-Year Detailed Capex

Transmission Line Upgrades 6,433      7,911      8,849      7,480      10,888    7,815      7,896      7,967      8,211      8,375      
Stations Upgrade 9,341      4,969      4,860      7,800      4,456      7,682      5,010      7,348      5,308      5,414      
System Equipment 2,104      1,704      2,507      2,909      1,767      3,514      5,342      2,510      3,432      3,500      
Land and Property Rights 1,487      1,656      1,404      411         420         1,585      1,617      454         463         473         
Total GLPT 10-Year Detailed Capex 19,365    16,240    17,620    18,600    17,530    20,596    19,864    18,279    17,413    17,762    

GLTP 10-year Capital Expenditure Forecast
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C$ in thousands

Calendar Year 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026
GLPT 10-Year Detailed Capex

Transmission Line Upgrades 6,433           7,911         8,849         7,480         10,888         7,815             7,896         7,967         8,211         8,375         
Stations Upgrade 9,341           4,969         4,860         7,800         4,456           7,682             5,010         7,348         5,308         5,414         
System Equipment 2,104           1,704         2,507         2,909         1,767           3,514             5,342         2,510         3,432         3,500         
Land and Property Rights 1,487           1,656         1,404         411            420              1,585             1,617         454            463            473            
Total GLPT 10-Year Detailed Capex -              19,365         16,240       17,620       18,600       17,530         20,596           19,864       18,279       17,413       17,762       

Reductions for Base Case
Station Upgrades

Critical Spare Parts (531)           (541)           -               
Transformer Contingency Plan - Replacements & Spares -             (1,227)        (589)             

System Equipment
SCADA Hardware Refresh (1,104)          
SCADA Asset Management (597)           (1,827)        -               
Transportation and Work Equipment (1,486)        (649)           

Back Up Control Centre (2,459)           (2,459)        
Costs savings from Operational programs (300)           (300)           (500)             (500)              (500)           (500)           (500)           (500)           
Adjusted Base Case CAPEX 19,365$       16,240$     14,707$     14,056$     15,337$       17,637$        16,905$     17,779$     16,913$     17,262$     

HIGH CASE SCENARIO
Additional 10% reductions -               -             (1,471)        (1,406)        (1,534)          (1,764)           (1,691)        (1,778)        (1,691)        (1,726)        

Adjusted HIGH CASE 19,365$       16,240$     13,236$     12,650$     13,804$       15,873$        15,215$     16,001$     15,222$     15,536$     

Capital Expenditure Forecast - Base and High Case

Filed: 2016-06-20 
EB-2016-0050 
Exhibit I-2-6 
Attachment 3 
Page 1 of 1



Filed: 2016-06-20 
EB-2016-0050 
Exhibit I 
Tab 2 
Schedule 7 
Page 1 of 1 

 
Energy Probe  INTERROGATORY #7  1 

 2 

Interrogatory 3 

 4 

Reference: Exhibit A, Tab 2, Schedule 1 Tables 4 and 5 5 

 6 

Comparing Tables 4 and 5, please list the major areas and amounts of OM&A savings, 7 

e.g. Salaries and Wages and associated savings for Business as Usual/Base/High 8 

scenarios. 9 

 10 

Response 11 

 12 

Please refer to Exhibit I, Tab 1, Schedule 2, for a description of the anticipated 13 

productivity improvements.  The expected savings shown in Table 5 was prepared by 14 

applying percentage reductions to the ‘status quo” OM&A.  The overall OM&A was 15 

reduced by 10% and 30% in the Base and High scenarios. An additional $500,000 16 

savings was also assumed in each of years 8 to 10 to reflect the future legal and financial 17 

amalgamation of the two entities.   18 
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Energy Probe  INTERROGATORY #8  1 

 2 

Interrogatory 3 

 4 

Reference: Exhibit A, Tab 2, Schedule 1 Table 6 5 

 6 

a) Does Hydro One have Regional SAIFI and SAIDI figures that correspond 7 

geographically to GPLTs service area? 8 

 9 

b) If so, please provide these data. 10 

 11 

Response 12 

 13 

a) Yes please refer to Exhibit A, Tab 2, Schedule 1, Table 6 on Page 9.  This 14 

information shows the regional Hydro One SAIFI and SAIDI figures from Mississagi 15 

TS to Martindale TS. This segment is similar to GLPT’s system in terms of location, 16 

asset types, line length, delivery points, and load.  17 

 18 

b) See part a) above. 19 
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Energy Probe  INTERROGATORY #9  1 

 2 

Interrogatory 3 

 4 

Reference: Exhibit A, Tab 3, Schedule 1, Page 2 5 

 6 

a) Please explain why Hydro One is proposing one of the features of RRFE - a 300 basis 7 

point ESM/Off Ramp. 8 

 9 

b) Confirm the proposed ESM is asymmetric. 10 

 11 

c) Please indicate if Hydro One is linking the ESM and the rebasing period. If so, 12 

describe the relationship and examples of other rebasing periods and ESM thresholds 13 

Hydro One has considered. 14 

 15 

d) If the Board was to require a productivity offset similar to Distribution, what would 16 

Hydro One propose? Please consider historic rate increases in your response. 17 

 18 

e) If the Board decided to set the rebasing term at 5 years with/without an option to 19 

extend, what would Hydro One’s position be? 20 

 21 

Response 22 

 23 

a) HOI’s proposal is consistent with the OEB Handbook.  Page 16 of the OEB 24 

Handbook states the following: 25 

 26 

“the OEB determined that under the ESM, excess earnings are shared with 27 

consumers on a 50:50 basis for all earnings that are more than 300 basis 28 

points above the consolidated entity’s annual ROE. Earnings will be 29 

assessed each year once audited financial results are available and excess 30 

earnings beyond 300 basis points will be shared with customers annually. 31 

No evidence is required in support of an ESM that follows the form set out 32 

in the 2015 Report”1. 33 

 34 

b)  Confirmed. 35 

 36 

c) The ESM and rebasing period were selected based on the content of the OEB 37 

Handbook. The Handbook states that for any extended deferred rebasing period 38 

beyond 5 years an ESM is required.  HOI did not consider any other rebasing periods 39 

and ESM thresholds than what was described in the Handbook. 40 

 41 

d) Please refer to Exhibit I, Tab 1, Schedule 7. 42 

                                                 
1 Page 16 of the OEB Handbook 
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e) A rebasing term of 5 years would not provide HOI with an adequate duration to have 1 

cost efficiencies offset the transaction costs.  The term of the deferral period is one 2 

that is selected by the applicant and does not require justification.  Given this, HOI 3 

would not expect the OEB to impose a deferral period that is different from what has 4 

been applied for.    5 
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Energy Probe  INTERROGATORY #10  1 

 2 

Interrogatory 3 

 4 

Reference: Exhibit A, Tab 3, Schedule 1, Page3, line 6  5 

 6 

Preamble: In the absence of audited financial statements, GLPT’s last available audited 7 

financial statement will serve as a proxy for the achieved ROE amount (excluding one-8 

time extraordinary, unusual items and any OEB-approved adjustments) for purposes of 9 

calculating shared earnings. 10 

 11 

a) Please provide the following Financial Pro-formas 2017-2026 for GLPT using the 12 

data in Tables 2-5.  13 

i) Business as usual (No Merger) 14 

ii) Base (Savings) 15 

iii) High (Savings) 16 

Please provide in Active XLS format. 17 

 18 

b) Please illustrate using the pro-forma(s), with rates increasing at inflation, the annual 19 

revenue requirement for each case and the return to Hydro One assuming the $222 20 

million Acquisition Costs are recovered in rates over a) 5 years and b) 10 years? 21 

Please provide all assumptions. 22 

 23 

Response 24 

 25 

a) Financial Pro-formas (Balance Sheet, Income Statement, Statement of Cash 26 

Flows) for the following scenarios are provided: 27 

i. For the Business as Usual (No Merger), refer to Attachment 1. 28 

Assumption: GLPT is a limited partnership and as such does not pay income 29 

taxes (the tax will be calculated on GLPT distributions made to owners at the 30 

ownership level). However, for purposes of illustrating after-tax earnings of 31 

the regulated utility, the income statement includes a corporate tax provision 32 

based on 26.5% of income before taxes.  The pro-forma financial statements 33 

assume that the tax liability established by GLPT is paid in the year 34 

established using funds generated by GLPT. 35 

ii. For the Base (Savings) assuming HOI ownership, refer to Attachment 2. 36 

iii. For the High (Savings) assuming HOI ownership, refer to Attachment 3. 37 

 38 

For scenarios ii and iii, taxes are assumed to be calculated and paid in GLPT 39 

and are therefore presented consistently with the Pro-Forma’s provided in 40 

Attachment 1. 41 

 42 

An active Excel.XLS model is provided as Attachment 4. 43 

 44 
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b) The attached Excel model includes a tab called ‘Assumptions’ which contains the 1 

modeling assumptions and enables the user to switch between the three scenarios 2 

requested in a) above. 3 

 4 

Acquisition costs will be paid by HOI in year 0 (i.e., at the close of the 5 

transaction). These costs will not be recovered in rates or form part of GLPT’s 6 

future revenue requirements.  HOI’s acquisition costs will therefore not be 7 

amortized and recovered in GLPT’s revenue requirement under either a 5 or 10 8 

year period.     9 
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Great Lakes Power Transmission LP
Balance Sheet - Annual
Scenario 1 : Status Quo (No Merger)

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026

Assets
Current assets

Cash 3,040,000$          3,190,000$          2,960,000$          2,200,000$          3,280,000$          2,290,000$          3,330,000$          3,460,000$          3,150,000$          2,890,000$          
Trade and other receivables 3,400,000           3,400,000           3,500,000           3,600,000           3,700,000           3,800,000           3,900,000           4,000,000           4,100,000           4,200,000           
Prepaid expenses and other 400,000              400,000              400,000              400,000              400,000              400,000              400,000              400,000              400,000              400,000              

6,840,000           6,990,000           6,860,000           6,200,000           7,380,000           6,490,000           7,630,000           7,860,000           7,650,000           7,490,000           

Property, plant and equipment
Gross 283,300,000        299,500,000        317,100,000        335,700,000        353,200,000        373,800,000        393,700,000        412,000,000        429,400,000        447,200,000        
CWIP 1,700,000           1,700,000           1,700,000           1,700,000           1,700,000           1,700,000           1,700,000           1,700,000           1,700,000           1,700,000           
Accum. deprec. (54,100,000)        (63,700,000)        (73,900,000)        (84,200,000)        (94,900,000)        (106,100,000)      (117,600,000)      (129,400,000)      (141,500,000)      (153,850,000)      

Property, plant and equipment, net 230,900,000        237,500,000        244,900,000        253,200,000        260,000,000        269,400,000        277,800,000        284,300,000        289,600,000        295,050,000        
237,740,000$      244,490,000$      251,760,000$     259,400,000$     267,380,000$     275,890,000$      285,430,000$     292,160,000$     297,250,000$     302,540,000$     

Liabilities and Partners' equity
Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 3,000,000$          3,000,000$          3,000,000$          3,000,000$          3,000,000$          3,000,000$          3,000,000$          3,000,000$          3,000,000$          3,000,000$          
Current portion of Trans senior bonds 2,600,000        2,800,000        3,000,000        3,200,000        3,400,000        94,700,000       -                   -                   -                   -                   
Due to related parties 200,000              200,000              200,000              200,000              200,000              200,000              200,000              200,000              200,000              200,000              

5,800,000           6,000,000           6,200,000           6,400,000           6,600,000           97,900,000          3,200,000           3,200,000           3,200,000           3,200,000           

Pension liability 3,500,000           3,500,000           3,500,000           3,500,000           3,500,000           3,500,000           3,500,000           3,500,000           3,500,000           3,500,000           
Trans senior bonds 106,000,000        103,400,000        100,600,000        97,600,000          94,400,000          -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
New debt -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      161,100,000        161,300,000        161,500,000        161,700,000        

115,300,000        112,900,000        110,300,000        107,500,000        104,500,000        101,400,000        167,800,000        168,000,000        168,200,000        168,400,000        

Partners' equity 122,440,000        131,590,000        141,460,000        151,900,000        162,880,000        174,490,000        117,630,000        124,160,000        129,050,000        134,140,000        
237,740,000$      244,490,000$      251,760,000$     259,400,000$     267,380,000$     275,890,000$      285,430,000$     292,160,000$     297,250,000$     302,540,000$     
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Great Lakes Power Transmission LP
Income Statement - Annual
Scenario 1 : Status Quo (No Merger)

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026

Revenues
Transmission revenues 39,540,000$      40,750,000$      42,270,000$      43,240,000$      44,480,000$      46,010,000$      47,240,000$      48,430,000$      49,390,000$      50,340,000$      
Regulatory account collection 800,000             -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     

Total Revenues 40,340,000        40,750,000        42,270,000        43,240,000        44,480,000        46,010,000        47,240,000        48,430,000        49,390,000        50,340,000        

Operating Expenses
Operations and administration 9,300,000          9,500,000          9,600,000          9,900,000          10,000,000        10,300,000        10,400,000        10,700,000        10,800,000        11,100,000        
Depreciation and amortization 9,300,000          9,600,000          10,200,000        10,300,000        10,700,000        11,200,000        11,500,000        11,800,000        12,100,000        12,350,000        
Maintenance 2,100,000          2,100,000          2,200,000          2,200,000          2,300,000          2,300,000          2,400,000          2,400,000          2,500,000          2,500,000          
Taxes, other than income taxes 100,000             100,000             100,000             100,000             100,000             100,000             100,000             100,000             100,000             100,000             

Total Operating Expenses 20,800,000        21,300,000        22,100,000        22,500,000        23,100,000        23,900,000        24,400,000        25,000,000        25,500,000        26,050,000        

Net Operating Income 19,540,000        19,450,000        20,170,000        20,740,000        21,380,000        22,110,000        22,840,000        23,430,000        23,890,000        24,290,000        

Finance costs 7,300,000          7,100,000          6,900,000          6,700,000          6,500,000          6,400,000          8,400,000          10,600,000        10,600,000        10,600,000        
Other income (100,000)            (100,000)            (100,000)            (100,000)            (100,000)            (100,000)            (100,000)            (100,000)            (100,000)            (100,000)            

Income before taxes 12,340,000        12,450,000        13,370,000        14,140,000        14,980,000        15,810,000        14,540,000        12,930,000        13,390,000        13,790,000        

Corporate tax provision 3,300,000          3,300,000          3,500,000          3,700,000          4,000,000          4,200,000          3,900,000          3,400,000          3,500,000          3,700,000          

Net Income 9,040,000$        9,150,000$        9,870,000$       10,440,000$     10,980,000$     11,610,000$      10,640,000$     9,530,000$       9,890,000$       10,090,000$     
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Great Lakes Power Transmission LP
Statement of Cash Flows - Annual
Scenario 1 : Status Quo (No Merger)

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026

Operating Activities
Net Income 9,040,000$       9,150,000$       9,870,000$       10,440,000$     10,980,000$     11,610,000$     10,640,000$     9,530,000$       9,890,000$       10,090,000$     
Items not affecting cash;
  Depreciation and amortization 9,300,000         9,600,000         10,200,000       10,300,000       10,700,000       11,200,000       11,500,000       11,800,000       12,100,000       12,350,000       
  Finance costs 7,300,000         7,100,000         6,900,000         6,700,000         6,500,000         6,400,000         8,400,000         10,600,000       10,600,000       10,600,000       
Net change in non-cash working capital & other -                    -                    (100,000)           (100,000)           (100,000)           (100,000)           (100,000)           (100,000)           (100,000)           (100,000)           
Operating cash flows before interest 25,640,000       25,850,000       26,870,000       27,340,000       28,080,000       29,110,000       30,440,000       31,830,000       32,490,000       32,940,000       
  Cash interest paid (7,400,000)        (7,200,000)        (7,000,000)        (6,800,000)        (6,600,000)        (6,400,000)        (8,500,000)        (10,700,000)      (10,700,000)      (10,700,000)      

18,240,000       18,650,000       19,870,000       20,540,000       21,480,000       22,710,000       21,940,000       21,130,000       21,790,000       22,240,000       

Investing Activities
Additions to property, plant and equipment (19,100,000)      (15,900,000)      (17,300,000)      (18,300,000)      (17,200,000)      (20,300,000)      (19,600,000)      (18,000,000)      (17,100,000)      (17,500,000)      

(19,100,000)      (15,900,000)      (17,300,000)      (18,300,000)      (17,200,000)      (20,300,000)      (19,600,000)      (18,000,000)      (17,100,000)      (17,500,000)      

Financing Activities
Principal repayment - Trans senior bonds (2,500,000)        (2,600,000)        (2,800,000)        (3,000,000)        (3,200,000)        (3,400,000)        (94,800,000)      -                    -                    -                    
New debt (repayment) -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    161,000,000     -                    -                    -                    
Distributions paid (1,000,000)                            -                      -                      -                      -                      -  (67,500,000)      (3,000,000)        (5,000,000)        (5,000,000)        *

(3,500,000)        (2,600,000)        (2,800,000)        (3,000,000)        (3,200,000)        (3,400,000)        (1,300,000)        (3,000,000)        (5,000,000)        (5,000,000)        

(Decrease) increase in cash (4,360,000)        150,000            (230,000)           (760,000)           1,080,000         (990,000)           1,040,000         130,000            (310,000)           (260,000)           
Cash, beginning balance 7,400,000         3,040,000         3,190,000         2,960,000         2,200,000         3,280,000         2,290,000         3,330,000         3,460,000         3,150,000         

Cash, ending balance 3,040,000$       3,190,000$      2,960,000$      2,200,000$      3,280,000$      2,290,000$       3,330,000$      3,460,000$      3,150,000$      2,890,000$      

* Adjust distributions paid to arrive at appropriate level of closing cash balance
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Great Lakes Power Transmission LP
Balance Sheet - Annual
Scenario 2 : Base Savings (HOI Ownership)

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026

Assets
Current assets

Cash 3,040,000$          3,190,000$          6,150,000$          10,140,000$        13,380,000$        14,890,000$        10,580,000$        10,970,000$        10,780,000$        10,820,000$        
Trade and other receivables 3,400,000           3,400,000           3,500,000           3,500,000           3,600,000           3,700,000           3,700,000           3,800,000           3,900,000           4,000,000           
Prepaid expenses and other 400,000              400,000              400,000              400,000              400,000              400,000              400,000              400,000              400,000              400,000              

6,840,000           6,990,000           10,050,000          14,040,000          17,380,000          18,990,000          14,680,000          15,170,000          15,080,000          15,220,000          

Property, plant and equipment
Gross 283,300,000        299,500,000        314,200,000        328,300,000        343,600,000        361,200,000        378,100,000        395,900,000        412,800,000        430,100,000        
CWIP 1,700,000           1,700,000           1,700,000           1,700,000           1,700,000           1,700,000           1,700,000           1,700,000           1,700,000           1,700,000           
Accum. deprec. (54,100,000)        (63,700,000)        (73,800,000)        (84,000,000)        (94,500,000)        (105,400,000)      (116,600,000)      (128,100,000)      (139,900,000)      (151,900,000)      

Property, plant and equipment, net 230,900,000        237,500,000        242,100,000        246,000,000        250,800,000        257,500,000        263,200,000        269,500,000        274,600,000        279,900,000        
237,740,000$      244,490,000$      252,150,000$     260,040,000$     268,180,000$     276,490,000$      277,880,000$     284,670,000$     289,680,000$     295,120,000$     

Liabilities and Partners' equity
Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 3,000,000$          3,000,000$          3,000,000$          3,000,000$          3,000,000$          3,000,000$          3,000,000$          3,000,000$          3,000,000$          3,000,000$          
Current portion of Trans senior bonds 2,600,000        2,800,000        3,000,000        3,200,000        3,400,000        94,700,000       -                   -                   -                   -                   
Due to related parties 200,000              200,000              200,000              200,000              200,000              200,000              200,000              200,000              200,000              200,000              

5,800,000           6,000,000           6,200,000           6,400,000           6,600,000           97,900,000          3,200,000           3,200,000           3,200,000           3,200,000           

Pension liability 3,500,000           3,500,000           3,500,000           3,500,000           3,500,000           3,500,000           3,500,000           3,500,000           3,500,000           3,500,000           
Trans senior bonds 106,000,000        103,400,000        100,600,000        97,600,000          94,400,000          -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
New debt -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      153,200,000        153,400,000        153,600,000        153,800,000        

115,300,000        112,900,000        110,300,000        107,500,000        104,500,000        101,400,000        159,900,000        160,100,000        160,300,000        160,500,000        

Partners' equity 122,440,000        131,590,000        141,850,000        152,540,000        163,680,000        175,090,000        117,980,000        124,570,000        129,380,000        134,620,000        
237,740,000$      244,490,000$      252,150,000$     260,040,000$     268,180,000$     276,490,000$      277,880,000$     284,670,000$     289,680,000$     295,120,000$     
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Great Lakes Power Transmission LP
Income Statement - Annual
Scenario 2 : Base Savings (HOI Ownership)

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026

Revenues
Transmission revenues 39,540,000$      40,750,000$      41,560,000$      42,390,000$      43,240,000$      44,110,000$      44,990,000$      45,890,000$      46,810,000$      47,740,000$      
Regulatory account collection 800,000             -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     

Total Revenues 40,340,000        40,750,000        41,560,000        42,390,000        43,240,000        44,110,000        44,990,000        45,890,000        46,810,000        47,740,000        

Operating Expenses
Operations and administration 9,300,000          9,500,000          8,400,000          8,700,000          8,800,000          9,000,000          9,100,000          8,900,000          9,000,000          9,200,000          
Depreciation and amortization 9,300,000          9,600,000          10,100,000        10,200,000        10,500,000        10,900,000        11,200,000        11,500,000        11,800,000        12,000,000        
Maintenance 2,100,000          2,100,000          2,200,000          2,200,000          2,300,000          2,300,000          2,400,000          2,400,000          2,500,000          2,500,000          
Taxes, other than income taxes 100,000             100,000             100,000             100,000             100,000             100,000             100,000             100,000             100,000             100,000             

Total Operating Expenses 20,800,000        21,300,000        20,800,000        21,200,000        21,700,000        22,300,000        22,800,000        22,900,000        23,400,000        23,800,000        

Net Operating Income 19,540,000        19,450,000        20,760,000        21,190,000        21,540,000        21,810,000        22,190,000        22,990,000        23,410,000        23,940,000        

Finance costs 7,300,000          7,100,000          6,900,000          6,700,000          6,500,000          6,400,000          8,100,000          10,100,000        10,100,000        10,100,000        
Other income (100,000)            (100,000)            (100,000)            (100,000)            (100,000)            (100,000)            (100,000)            (100,000)            (100,000)            (100,000)            

Income before taxes 12,340,000        12,450,000        13,960,000        14,590,000        15,140,000        15,510,000        14,190,000        12,990,000        13,410,000        13,940,000        

Corporate tax provision 3,300,000          3,300,000          3,700,000          3,900,000          4,000,000          4,100,000          3,800,000          3,400,000          3,600,000          3,700,000          

Net Income 9,040,000$        9,150,000$        10,260,000$     10,690,000$     11,140,000$     11,410,000$      10,390,000$     9,590,000$       9,810,000$       10,240,000$     
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Great Lakes Power Transmission LP
Statement of Cash Flows - Annual
Scenario 2 : Base Savings (HOI Ownership)

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026

Operating Activities
Net Income 9,040,000$       9,150,000$       10,260,000$     10,690,000$     11,140,000$     11,410,000$     10,390,000$     9,590,000$       9,810,000$       10,240,000$     
Items not affecting cash;
  Depreciation and amortization 9,300,000         9,600,000         10,100,000       10,200,000       10,500,000       10,900,000       11,200,000       11,500,000       11,800,000       12,000,000       
  Finance costs 7,300,000         7,100,000         6,900,000         6,700,000         6,500,000         6,400,000         8,100,000         10,100,000       10,100,000       10,100,000       
Net change in non-cash working capital & other -                    -                    (100,000)           -                    (100,000)           (100,000)           -                    (100,000)           (100,000)           (100,000)           
Operating cash flows before interest 25,640,000       25,850,000       27,160,000       27,590,000       28,040,000       28,610,000       29,690,000       31,090,000       31,610,000       32,240,000       
  Cash interest paid (7,400,000)        (7,200,000)        (7,000,000)        (6,800,000)        (6,600,000)        (6,400,000)        (8,200,000)        (10,200,000)      (10,200,000)      (10,200,000)      

18,240,000       18,650,000       20,160,000       20,790,000       21,440,000       22,210,000       21,490,000       20,890,000       21,410,000       22,040,000       

Investing Activities
Additions to property, plant and equipment (19,100,000)      (15,900,000)      (14,400,000)      (13,800,000)      (15,000,000)      (17,300,000)      (16,600,000)      (17,500,000)      (16,600,000)      (17,000,000)      

(19,100,000)      (15,900,000)      (14,400,000)      (13,800,000)      (15,000,000)      (17,300,000)      (16,600,000)      (17,500,000)      (16,600,000)      (17,000,000)      

Financing Activities
Principal repayment - Trans senior bonds (2,500,000)        (2,600,000)        (2,800,000)        (3,000,000)        (3,200,000)        (3,400,000)        (94,800,000)      -                    -                    -                    
New debt (repayment) -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    153,100,000     -                    -                    -                    
Distributions paid (1,000,000)                            -                      -                      -                      -                      -  (67,500,000)      (3,000,000)        (5,000,000)        (5,000,000)        *

(3,500,000)        (2,600,000)        (2,800,000)        (3,000,000)        (3,200,000)        (3,400,000)        (9,200,000)        (3,000,000)        (5,000,000)        (5,000,000)        

(Decrease) increase in cash (4,360,000)        150,000            2,960,000         3,990,000         3,240,000         1,510,000         (4,310,000)        390,000            (190,000)           40,000              
Cash, beginning balance 7,400,000         3,040,000         3,190,000         6,150,000         10,140,000       13,380,000       14,890,000       10,580,000       10,970,000       10,780,000       

Cash, ending balance 3,040,000$       3,190,000$      6,150,000$      10,140,000$    13,380,000$    14,890,000$     10,580,000$    10,970,000$    10,780,000$    10,820,000$    

* Adjust distributions paid to arrive at appropriate level of closing cash balance
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Great Lakes Power Transmission LP
Balance Sheet - Annual
Scenario 3 : High Savings (HOI Ownership)

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026

Assets
Current assets

Cash 3,040,000$          3,190,000$          9,450,000$          16,740,000$        23,280,000$        28,390,000$        23,580,000$        27,870,000$        31,580,000$        35,520,000$        
Trade and other receivables 3,400,000           3,400,000           3,500,000           3,500,000           3,600,000           3,700,000           3,700,000           3,800,000           3,900,000           4,000,000           
Prepaid expenses and other 400,000              400,000              400,000              400,000              400,000              400,000              400,000              400,000              400,000              400,000              

6,840,000           6,990,000           13,350,000          20,640,000          27,280,000          32,490,000          27,680,000          32,070,000          35,880,000          39,920,000          

Property, plant and equipment
Gross 283,300,000        299,500,000        312,700,000        325,400,000        339,200,000        355,000,000        370,200,000        386,200,000        401,400,000        417,000,000        
CWIP 1,700,000           1,700,000           1,700,000           1,700,000           1,700,000           1,700,000           1,700,000           1,700,000           1,700,000           1,700,000           
Accum. deprec. (54,100,000)        (63,700,000)        (73,800,000)        (84,000,000)        (94,500,000)        (105,400,000)      (116,500,000)      (127,900,000)      (139,600,000)      (151,500,000)      

Property, plant and equipment, net 230,900,000        237,500,000        240,600,000        243,100,000        246,400,000        251,300,000        255,400,000        260,000,000        263,500,000        267,200,000        
237,740,000$      244,490,000$      253,950,000$     263,740,000$     273,680,000$     283,790,000$      283,080,000$     292,070,000$     299,380,000$     307,120,000$     

Liabilities and Partners' equity
Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 3,000,000$          3,000,000$          3,000,000$          3,000,000$          3,000,000$          3,000,000$          3,000,000$          3,000,000$          3,000,000$          3,000,000$          
Current portion of Trans senior bonds 2,600,000        2,800,000        3,000,000        3,200,000        3,400,000        94,700,000       -                   -                   -                   -                   
Due to related parties 200,000              200,000              200,000              200,000              200,000              200,000              200,000              200,000              200,000              200,000              

5,800,000           6,000,000           6,200,000           6,400,000           6,600,000           97,900,000          3,200,000           3,200,000           3,200,000           3,200,000           

Pension liability 3,500,000           3,500,000           3,500,000           3,500,000           3,500,000           3,500,000           3,500,000           3,500,000           3,500,000           3,500,000           
Trans senior bonds 106,000,000        103,400,000        100,600,000        97,600,000          94,400,000          -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
New debt -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      149,000,000        149,200,000        149,400,000        149,600,000        

115,300,000        112,900,000        110,300,000        107,500,000        104,500,000        101,400,000        155,700,000        155,900,000        156,100,000        156,300,000        

Partners' equity 122,440,000        131,590,000        143,650,000        156,240,000        169,180,000        182,390,000        127,380,000        136,170,000        143,280,000        150,820,000        
237,740,000$      244,490,000$      253,950,000$     263,740,000$     273,680,000$     283,790,000$      283,080,000$     292,070,000$     299,380,000$     307,120,000$     
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Great Lakes Power Transmission LP
Income Statement - Annual
Scenario 3 : High Savings (HOI Ownership)

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026

Revenues
Transmission revenues 39,540,000$      40,750,000$      41,560,000$      42,390,000$      43,240,000$      44,110,000$      44,990,000$      45,890,000$      46,810,000$      47,740,000$      
Regulatory account collection 800,000             -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     

Total Revenues 40,340,000        40,750,000        41,560,000        42,390,000        43,240,000        44,110,000        44,990,000        45,890,000        46,810,000        47,740,000        

Operating Expenses
Operations and administration 9,300,000          9,500,000          6,000,000          6,200,000          6,300,000          6,500,000          6,500,000          6,200,000          6,300,000          6,500,000          
Depreciation and amortization 9,300,000          9,600,000          10,100,000        10,200,000        10,500,000        10,900,000        11,100,000        11,400,000        11,700,000        11,900,000        
Maintenance 2,100,000          2,100,000          2,200,000          2,200,000          2,300,000          2,300,000          2,400,000          2,400,000          2,500,000          2,500,000          
Taxes, other than income taxes 100,000             100,000             100,000             100,000             100,000             100,000             100,000             100,000             100,000             100,000             

Total Operating Expenses 20,800,000        21,300,000        18,400,000        18,700,000        19,200,000        19,800,000        20,100,000        20,100,000        20,600,000        21,000,000        

Net Operating Income 19,540,000        19,450,000        23,160,000        23,690,000        24,040,000        24,310,000        24,890,000        25,790,000        26,210,000        26,740,000        

Finance costs 7,300,000          7,100,000          6,900,000          6,700,000          6,500,000          6,400,000          8,000,000          9,800,000          9,800,000          9,800,000          
Other income (100,000)            (100,000)            (100,000)            (100,000)            (100,000)            (100,000)            (100,000)            (100,000)            (100,000)            (100,000)            

Income before taxes 12,340,000        12,450,000        16,360,000        17,090,000        17,640,000        18,010,000        16,990,000        16,090,000        16,510,000        17,040,000        

Corporate tax provision 3,300,000          3,300,000          4,300,000          4,500,000          4,700,000          4,800,000          4,500,000          4,300,000          4,400,000          4,500,000          

Net Income 9,040,000$        9,150,000$        12,060,000$     12,590,000$     12,940,000$     13,210,000$      12,490,000$     11,790,000$     12,110,000$     12,540,000$     
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Great Lakes Power Transmission LP
Statement of Cash Flows - Annual
Scenario 3 : High Savings (HOI Ownership)

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026

Operating Activities
Net Income 9,040,000$       9,150,000$       12,060,000$     12,590,000$     12,940,000$     13,210,000$     12,490,000$     11,790,000$     12,110,000$     12,540,000$     
Items not affecting cash;
  Depreciation and amortization 9,300,000         9,600,000         10,100,000       10,200,000       10,500,000       10,900,000       11,100,000       11,400,000       11,700,000       11,900,000       
  Finance costs 7,300,000         7,100,000         6,900,000         6,700,000         6,500,000         6,400,000         8,000,000         9,800,000         9,800,000         9,800,000         
Net change in non-cash working capital & other -                    -                    (100,000)           -                    (100,000)           (100,000)           -                    (100,000)           (100,000)           (100,000)           
Operating cash flows before interest 25,640,000       25,850,000       28,960,000       29,490,000       29,840,000       30,410,000       31,590,000       32,890,000       33,510,000       34,140,000       
  Cash interest paid (7,400,000)        (7,200,000)        (7,000,000)        (6,800,000)        (6,600,000)        (6,400,000)        (8,100,000)        (9,900,000)        (9,900,000)        (9,900,000)        

18,240,000       18,650,000       21,960,000       22,690,000       23,240,000       24,010,000       23,490,000       22,990,000       23,610,000       24,240,000       

Investing Activities
Additions to property, plant and equipment (19,100,000)      (15,900,000)      (12,900,000)      (12,400,000)      (13,500,000)      (15,500,000)      (14,900,000)      (15,700,000)      (14,900,000)      (15,300,000)      

(19,100,000)      (15,900,000)      (12,900,000)      (12,400,000)      (13,500,000)      (15,500,000)      (14,900,000)      (15,700,000)      (14,900,000)      (15,300,000)      

Financing Activities
Principal repayment - Trans senior bonds (2,500,000)        (2,600,000)        (2,800,000)        (3,000,000)        (3,200,000)        (3,400,000)        (94,800,000)      -                    -                    -                    
New debt (repayment) -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    148,900,000     -                    -                    -                    
Distributions paid (1,000,000)                            -                      -                      -                      -                      -  (67,500,000)      (3,000,000)        (5,000,000)        (5,000,000)        *

(3,500,000)        (2,600,000)        (2,800,000)        (3,000,000)        (3,200,000)        (3,400,000)        (13,400,000)      (3,000,000)        (5,000,000)        (5,000,000)        

(Decrease) increase in cash (4,360,000)        150,000            6,260,000         7,290,000         6,540,000         5,110,000         (4,810,000)        4,290,000         3,710,000         3,940,000         
Cash, beginning balance 7,400,000         3,040,000         3,190,000         9,450,000         16,740,000       23,280,000       28,390,000       23,580,000       27,870,000       31,580,000       

Cash, ending balance 3,040,000$       3,190,000$      9,450,000$      16,740,000$    23,280,000$    28,390,000$     23,580,000$    27,870,000$    31,580,000$    35,520,000$    

* Adjust distributions paid to arrive at appropriate level of closing cash balance
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Energy Probe  INTERROGATORY #11  1 

 2 

Interrogatory 3 

 4 

Reference: Exhibit A, Tab 1, Schedule 1, Page 8 5 

 6 

Preamble: The rate rebasing deferral period is intended to give HOI the opportunity to 7 

realize cost savings through operational integration and the eventual amalgamation with 8 

Hydro One. Savings realized during the deferral period will be used by HOI to offset 9 

transaction costs and premiums incurred in respect of the transaction. The resulting cost 10 

structure reductions following the deferral period will be reflected in rebased rates 11 

charged to transmission customers. 12 

 13 

Please provide rebasing periods for previous purchases in the company’s transmission 14 

and distribution businesses. 15 

 16 

Response 17 

 18 

Since the 2007 Report on Rate-making Associated with Distributor Consolidation, HOI 19 

has acquired 3 LDCs and no transmission companies.   Norfolk Power Distribution Inc., 20 

Haldimand County Hydro Inc., and Woodstock Hydro Services Inc., were all negotiated 21 

prior to the release of the March 26, 2015 amended Report, which extended the deferred 22 

period for up to 10 years.  Consequently, the OEB approved a 5 year deferral period for 23 

these applications. 24 
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Energy Probe  INTERROGATORY #12  1 

 2 

Interrogatory 3 

 4 

Reference: Exhibit A, Tab 2, Schedule 1, Table 2 and Table 4 5 

 6 

a) Please provide the capital expenditure data back to 2010. 7 

 8 

b) Please provide the OM&A data back to 2010. 9 

 10 

Response 11 

 12 

 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016F 

GLPT Capital Expenditure ($M) 7,339 20,509 14,454 4,334 3,845 8,899 9,388 

GLPT OM&A ($M) 9,568 9,581 9,411 10,719 10,695 10,730 11,233 

 13 

Figures retrieved from GLPTLP Financial Statements. 14 
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ASSOCIATION OF MAJOR POWER CONSUMERS IN ONTARIO (AMPCO) 1 

INTERROGATORY #1  2 

 3 

Interrogatory 4 

 5 

Ref: Exhibit A, Tab 1, Schedule 1, Attachment 5, Hydro One Annual Report 2015 Page 29 6 

 7 

Preamble: Hydro One’s Annual Report 2015 states the following: 8 

 9 
a) Please explain and quantify all of the “customary adjustments”. 10 

 11 

b) Please provide the status of the Competition Act approval. 12 

 13 

c) Please identify and discuss all of the risks to HOI and GLPT associated with the 14 

proposed transaction. 15 

 16 

d) Please identify and discuss all of the risks to ratepayers of the proposed transaction. 17 

 18 

Response 19 

 20 

a) The purchase agreement is filed as Attachment 2 to Exhibit A, Tab 1, Schedule 1.  21 

Article 2, Section 2.2. outlines the details of the purchase price including adjustments 22 

for deferral accounts balances and working capital.  These customary adjustments are 23 

subject to change between the signing and close of the agreement, and have not been 24 

quantified.  Their actual amount will be determined at the closing of the transaction.  25 

 26 

b) Competition Bureau approval is still pending. 27 

 28 

c) Please refer to Exhibit I, Tab 1, Schedule 2c. 29 

 30 

d) HOI does not believe there is any additional risk to ratepayers resulting from this 31 

transaction.  Quality and reliable service will be maintained.  Expected efficiencies 32 

will provide benefits to ratepayers both during the extended deferred rebasing period, 33 

through the ESM, and in the long term when rates are reset with lower cost structures. 34 
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ASSOCIATION OF MAJOR POWER CONSUMERS IN ONTARIO (AMPCO) 1 

INTERROGATORY #2  2 

 3 

Interrogatory 4 

 5 

Ref: Exhibit A, Tab 1, Schedule 1, Page 6 6 

 7 

a) Please provide a copy of Hydro One’s audited 2015 financial statements. 8 

 9 

Response 10 

 11 

Please refer to Attachment 1 for the Hydro One Inc. 2015 Consolidated Financial 12 

Statements and please refer to Attachment 2 for the 2015 Hydro One Networks Inc. 13 

Transmission Business Financial Statements.  14 



HYDRO ONE INC. 
MANAGEMENT’S REPORT 
 
 

1 
 

The Consolidated Financial Statements, Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) and related financial information 
have been prepared by the management of Hydro One Inc. (Hydro One or the Company). Management is responsible for the 
integrity, consistency and reliability of all such information presented. The Consolidated Financial Statements have been 
prepared in accordance with United States Generally Accepted Accounting Principles and applicable securities legislation. 
The MD&A has been prepared in accordance with National Instrument 51-102. 
 
The preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements and information in the MD&A involves the use of estimates and 
assumptions based on management’s judgment, particularly when transactions affecting the current accounting period cannot 
be finalized with certainty until future periods. Estimates and assumptions are based on historical experience, current 
conditions and various other assumptions believed to be reasonable in the circumstances, with critical analysis of the 
significant accounting policies followed by the Company as described in Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
The preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements and the MD&A includes information regarding the estimated 
impact of future events and transactions. The MD&A also includes information regarding sources of liquidity and capital 
resources, operating trends, risks and uncertainties. Actual results in the future may differ materially from the present 
assessment of this information because future events and circumstances may not occur as expected. The Consolidated 
Financial Statements and MD&A have been properly prepared within reasonable limits of materiality and in light of 
information up to February 11, 2016. 
 
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting for the 
Company. In meeting its responsibility for the reliability of financial information, management maintains and relies on a 
comprehensive system of internal control and internal audit. The system of internal control includes a written corporate 
conduct policy; implementation of a risk management framework; effective segregation of duties and delegation of 
authorities; and sound and conservative accounting policies that are regularly reviewed. This structure is designed to provide 
reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded and that reliable information is available on a timely basis. In addition, 
management has assessed the design and operating effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting in 
accordance with the criteria set forth in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013), issued by the Committee of 
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this assessment, management concluded that the 
Company maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015. The effectiveness of these 
internal controls is reported to the Audit Committee of the Hydro One Board of Directors, as required. 
 
The Consolidated Financial Statements have been audited by KPMG LLP, independent external auditors appointed by the 
shareholder of the Company. The external auditors’ responsibility is to express their opinion on whether the Consolidated 
Financial Statements are fairly presented in accordance with United States Generally Accepted Accounting Principles. The 
Independent Auditors’ Report outlines the scope of their examination and their opinion. 
 
The Hydro One Board of Directors, through its Audit Committee, is responsible for ensuring that management fulfills its 
responsibilities for financial reporting and internal controls. The Audit Committee of Hydro One met periodically with 
management, the internal auditors and the external auditors to satisfy itself that each group had properly discharged its 
respective responsibility and to review the Consolidated Financial Statements before recommending approval by the Board of 
Directors. The external auditors had direct and full access to the Audit Committee, with and without the presence of 
management, to discuss their audit findings. 
 
The President and Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer have certified Hydro One’s annual Consolidated 
Financial Statements and annual MD&A, related disclosure controls and procedures and the design and effectiveness of 
related internal controls over financial reporting. 
 
On behalf of Hydro One’s management: 
 
   
 
 
 Mayo Schmidt Michael Vels 
 President and Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer 
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HYDRO ONE INC. 
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
 
 

2 
 

To the Shareholder of Hydro One Inc. 
 
We have audited the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements of Hydro One Inc., which comprise the 
consolidated balance sheets as at December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, the consolidated statements of operations and 
comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the years then ended, and notes, comprising a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance 
with United States Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, and for such internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditors’ Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these Consolidated Financial Statements based on our audits. We conducted 
our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with 
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Consolidated Financial 
Statements are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the Consolidated 
Financial Statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the Consolidated Financial Statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we 
consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the Consolidated Financial Statements in 
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 
the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion. 
 
Opinion 
 
In our opinion, the Consolidated Financial Statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial 
position of Hydro One Inc. as at December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, and its consolidated results of operations and 
its consolidated cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with United States Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles. 
 
 
 
 
 
Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants  
 
Toronto, Canada 
February 11, 2016 
 
 
 



HYDRO ONE INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
For the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 
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Year ended December 31 (millions of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)  2015 2014 

Revenues    
Distribution (includes $159 related party revenues; 2014 – $159) (Note 23)  4,949 4,903
Transmission (includes $1,554 related party revenues; 2014 – $1,567) (Note 23)  1,536 1,588
Other  44 57
  6,529 6,548
  
Costs  
Purchased power (includes $2,335 related party costs; 2014 – $2,633) (Note 23)  3,450 3,419
Operation, maintenance and administration (Note 23)  1,130 1,192
Depreciation and amortization (Note 5)  757 722

   5,337 5,333
 

Income before financing charges and income taxes  1,192 1,215
Financing charges (Note 6)  376 379

 
Income before income taxes  816 836
Income taxes (Notes 7, 23)  114 89
Net income  702 747
  
Other comprehensive income  – –
Comprehensive income  702 747
  
Net income and comprehensive income attributable to:  
    Noncontrolling interest (Note 22)  10 (2)
    Preferred shareholder  13 18
    Common shareholder  679 731
  702 747
  
Earnings per common share (Note 20)  
    Basic  $6,340 $7,319
    Diluted  $6,340 $7,319
  
Dividends per common share declared (Note 19)  $8,750 $2,696
  
See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



HYDRO ONE INC. 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 
At December 31, 2015 and 2014 
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December 31 (millions of Canadian dollars)  2015 2014 

Assets   
Current assets:  
    Cash and cash equivalents (Note 13)  89 100
    Accounts receivable (net of allowance for doubtful accounts – $61; 2014 – $66) (Note 8)  772 1,016
    Due from related parties (Note 23)  184 224
    Regulatory assets (Note 11)  36 31
    Materials and supplies  21 23
   Deferred income tax assets (Note 7)  19 19
    Derivative instruments (Note 13)  – 2
    Prepaid expenses and other assets  24 35
  1,145 1,450
Property, plant and equipment (Note 9):  
   Property, plant and equipment in service  25,911 25,356
    Less: accumulated depreciation  9,319 9,134

 16,592 16,222
    Construction in progress  1,144 1,025
    Future use land, components and spares  157 154
  17,893 17,401
Other long-term assets:  
    Regulatory assets (Note 11)  3,015 3,200
    Deferred income tax assets (Note 7)  1,610 7
    Intangible assets (net of accumulated amortization – $274; 2014 – $305) (Note 10)  336 276
    Goodwill (Note 4)  163 173
    Deferred debt issuance costs  34 36
    Derivative instruments (Note 13)  1 –
    Other  6 7
  5,165 3,699
Total assets  24,203 22,550
 
See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
 
 
 
 



HYDRO ONE INC. 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (continued) 
At December 31, 2015 and 2014 
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December 31 (millions of Canadian dollars, except number of shares)  2015 2014 

Liabilities   
Current liabilities:  
    Bank indebtedness (Note 13)  – 2
    Short-term notes payable (Notes 12, 13)  1,491 –
    Accounts payable   152 173
    Accrued liabilities (Notes 15, 16)  591 611
    Due to related parties (Note 23)  132 227
    Accrued interest  96 100
    Regulatory liabilities (Note 11)  19 47
    Derivative instruments (Note 13)  – 3
    Long-term debt payable within one year (includes $nil measured at fair value; 
        2014 – $252) (Notes 12, 13)  

500 552
  2,981 1,715
  
Long-term debt (includes $51 measured at fair value; 2014 – $nil) (Notes 12, 13)  8,224 8,373
Other long-term liabilities:  
   Post-retirement and post-employment benefit liability (Note 15)  1,541 1,533
    Pension benefit liability (Note 15)  952 1,236
    Regulatory liabilities (Note 11)  236 168
    Deferred income tax liabilities (Note 7)  206 1,313
    Environmental liabilities (Note 16)  185 221
    Net unamortized debt premiums  17 18
    Due to related parties (Note 21, 23)  10 –
    Asset retirement obligations (Note 17)  9 9
    Long-term accounts payable and other liabilities      17 17
  3,173 4,515
Total liabilities  14,378 14,603
  
Contingencies and Commitments (Notes 25, 26)  
Subsequent Events (Note 28)  
  
Preferred shares (Notes 18, 19)  – 323
Noncontrolling interest subject to redemption (Note 22)  23 21
  
Equity  
    Common shares (Notes 18, 19)  6,000 3,314
    Retained earnings  3,759 4,249
    Accumulated other comprehensive loss  (9) (9)
    Total Hydro One shareholder’s equity  9,750 7,554
  
    Noncontrolling interest (Note 22)  52 49
Total equity  9,802 7,603
  24,203 22,550
 
See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
 
 
On behalf of the Board of Directors: 
 
 
   
 David Denison Philip Orsino 
 Chair Chair, Audit Committee 



HYDRO ONE INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY  

For the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 
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Year ended December 31, 2015 
(millions of Canadian dollars) 

 
 

Common 
Shares 

 
 

Retained 
Earnings 

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive 
Loss 

Total  
Hydro One 

Shareholder’s 
Equity 

 
Non-

controlling 
Interest 

(Note 22) 

 
 

Total 
Equity 

January 1, 2015 3,314 4,249 (9) 7,554 49 7,603
Net income  – 692 – 692 7 699
Other comprehensive income – – – – – –
Distributions to noncontrolling interest – – – – (4) (4)
Dividends on preferred shares – (13) – (13) – (13)
Dividends on common shares – (875) – (875) – (875)
Common shares issued (Note 18) 2,923 – – 2,923 – 2,923
Hydro One Brampton spin-off (Note 4) (196) (258) – (454) – (454)
Hydro One Telecom and MBSI spin-offs (Note 4) (41) (36) – (77) – (77)
December 31, 2015 6,000 3,759 (9) 9,750 52 9,802
 
 

 
 
Year ended December 31, 2014 
(millions of Canadian dollars) 

 
 

Common 
Shares 

 
 

Retained 
Earnings 

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive 
Loss 

Total  
Hydro One 

Shareholder’s 
Equity 

 
Non-

controlling 
Interest 

(Note 22) 

 
 

Total 
Equity 

January 1, 2014 3,314 3,787 (9) 7,092 – 7,092
Net income  – 749 – 749 (1) 748
Other comprehensive income – – – – – –
Amount contributed by 
    noncontrolling interest 

 
–

 
–

 
–

 
– 

 
50

 
50

Dividends on preferred shares – (18) – (18) – (18)
Dividends on common shares – (269) – (269) – (269)
December 31, 2014 3,314 4,249 (9) 7,554 49 7,603
 
See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
 
 



HYDRO ONE INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  
For the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 
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Year ended December 31 (millions of Canadian dollars)  2015 2014 

Operating activities  
Net income  702 747
Environmental expenditures  (19) (18)
Adjustments for non-cash items:  

Depreciation and amortization (excluding removal costs)  667 641
Regulatory assets and liabilities  (3) (69)
Deferred income taxes (Note 7)  (2,817) 10
Other  24 –

Changes in non-cash balances related to operations (Note 24)  187 (55)
Net cash from (used in) operating activities  (1,259) 1,256
  
Financing activities  
Long-term debt issued  350 628
Long-term debt retired  (585) (776)
Short-term notes issued  1,491 –
Common shares issued  2,600 –
Dividends paid   (888) (287)
Amount contributed by noncontrolling interest (Note 22)  – 72
Distributions paid to noncontrolling interest  (5) –
Change in bank indebtedness  (2) (29)
Other  (7) (3)
Net cash from (used in) financing activities  2,954 (395)
  
Investing activities  
Capital expenditures (Note 24)  

Property, plant and equipment  (1,594) (1,481)
Intangible assets  (37) (23)

Capital contributions received (Note 24)  62 –
Acquisition of Haldimand Hydro (Note 4)  (66) –
Acquisition of Woodstock Hydro (Note 4)  (24) –
Investment in Hydro One Brampton (Note 4)  (53) –
Acquisition of Norfolk Power (Note 4)  – (66)
Proceeds from investment  – 250
Other  6 (6)
Net cash used in investing activities  (1,706) (1,326)
  
Net change in cash and cash equivalents   (11) (465)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year  100 565
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year  89 100
 
See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



HYDRO ONE INC. 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 
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1. DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS 
 
Hydro One Inc. (Hydro One or the Company) was incorporated on December 1, 1998, under the Business Corporations Act 
(Ontario) and is wholly owned by Hydro One Limited.  
 

On October 31, 2015, Hydro One Limited, a subsidiary of the Province of Ontario (Province), acquired Hydro One. The 
principal businesses of Hydro One are the transmission and distribution of electricity to customers within Ontario.  
 

In November 2015, Hydro One Limited and the Province completed an initial public offering (IPO) on the Toronto Stock 
Exchange of 15% of Hydro One Limited’s 595 million outstanding common shares. See Note 18 for reorganization of Hydro 
One. 
 
 
2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Basis of Consolidation 
 

These Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries. 
Intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated. 
 

On August 31, 2015, Hydro One completed the spin-off of its subsidiary, Hydro One Brampton Networks Inc. (Hydro One 
Brampton) to the Province. See note 4 – Business Combinations. These Consolidated Financial Statements include the results 
of operations of Hydro One Brampton up to August 31, 2015. 
 

On November 6, 2015, Hydro One completed the spin-off of its subsidiaries, Hydro One Telecom Inc. (Hydro One Telecom) 
and Municipal Billing Services Inc. (MBSI). See note 4 – Business Combinations. These Consolidated Financial Statements 
include the results of operations of Hydro One Telecom and MBSI up to November 6, 2015. 
 
Basis of Accounting 
 

These Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared and presented in accordance with United States (US) Generally 
Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) and in Canadian dollars. 
 

Hydro One performed an evaluation of subsequent events through to February 11, 2016, the date these Consolidated Financial 
Statements were issued, to determine whether any events or transactions warranted recognition and disclosure in these 
Consolidated Financial Statements. See Note 28 – Subsequent Events. 
 
Use of Management Estimates 
 

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, gains 
and losses during the reporting periods. Management evaluates these estimates on an ongoing basis based upon historical 
experience, current conditions, and assumptions believed to be reasonable at the time the assumptions are made, with any 
adjustments being recognized in results of operations in the period they arise. Significant estimates relate to regulatory assets 
and regulatory liabilities, environmental liabilities, pension benefits, post-retirement and post-employment benefits, asset 
retirement obligations, goodwill and asset impairments, contingencies, unbilled revenues, allowance for doubtful accounts, 
derivative instruments, and deferred income tax assets and liabilities. Actual results may differ significantly from these 
estimates. 
 
Rate Setting 
 

The Company’s Transmission Business consists of the transmission business of Hydro One Networks, as well as its 66% 
interest in B2M Limited Partnership (B2M LP). The Company’s Distribution Business consists of the distribution businesses 
of Hydro One Networks, Haldimand County Utilities Inc. (Haldimand Hydro), Hydro One Remote Communities Inc. (Hydro 
One Remote Communities), and Woodstock Hydro Holdings Inc. (Woodstock Hydro). 
 

The Ontario Energy Board (OEB) has approved the use of US GAAP for rate setting and regulatory accounting and reporting 
by Hydro One Networks’ transmission and distribution businesses, as well as by Hydro One Remote Communities. 
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Transmission 
 

On January 8, 2015, pursuant to an application filed with the OEB, the OEB approved the 2015 Hydro One transmission rates 
revenue requirement, excluding the B2M LP revenue requirement, of $1,477 million. 
 

On June 30, 2015, B2M LP updated its application (originally filed March 30, 2015) with the OEB for 2015-2019 
transmission rates, requesting approval of revenue requirement of $39 million, $36 million, $37 million, $38 million and $37 
million for the respective years. On December 29, 2015, the OEB issued a Decision and Order approving the 2015-2019 rates 
revenue requirement, and on January 14, 2016, the OEB approved the B2M LP revenue requirement recovery through the 
2016 Uniform Transmission Rates, and the establishment of a deferral account to capture costs of Tax Rate and Rule 
changes.  
 
Distribution 
 

On March 12, 2015, the OEB issued a Decision and Rate Order approving a revenue requirement of $1,326 million for 2015, 
$1,430 million for 2016 and $1,486 million for 2017. The revenue requirements for 2016 and 2017 are estimates that may 
change based on 2016 and 2017 Rate Orders. On April 23, 2015, the Final Rate Order for 2015 rates was approved by the 
OEB. 
 

On September 24, 2014, Hydro One Remote Communities filed an Incentive Regulation Mechanism application with the 
OEB for 2015 rates, seeking approval for increased base rates for the distribution and generation of electricity of 1.7%. On 
March 19, 2015, the OEB approved an increase of approximately 1.6% to basic rates for the distribution and generation of 
electricity, with an effective date of May 1, 2015. 
 
Regulatory Accounting 
 

The OEB has the general power to include or exclude revenues, costs, gains or losses in the rates of a specific period, 
resulting in a change in the timing of accounting recognition from that which would have been applied in an unregulated 
company. Such change in timing involves the application of rate-regulated accounting, giving rise to the recognition of 
regulatory assets and liabilities. The Company’s regulatory assets represent certain amounts receivable from future customers 
and costs that have been deferred for accounting purposes because it is probable that they will be recovered in future rates. In 
addition, the Company has recorded regulatory liabilities that generally represent amounts that are refundable to future 
customers. The Company continually assesses the likelihood of recovery of each of its regulatory assets and continues to 
believe that it is probable that the OEB will factor its regulatory assets and liabilities into the setting of future rates. If, at 
some future date, the Company judges that it is no longer probable that the OEB will include a regulatory asset or liability in 
setting future rates, the appropriate carrying amount will be reflected in results of operations in the period that the assessment 
is made.  
  
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash and short-term investments with an original maturity of three months or less. 
 
Revenue Recognition 
 

Transmission revenues are collected through OEB-approved rates, which are based on an approved revenue requirement that 
includes a rate of return. Such revenue is recognized as electricity is transmitted and delivered to customers. 
 

Distribution revenues attributable to the delivery of electricity are based on OEB-approved distribution rates and are 
recognized on an accrual basis and include billed and unbilled revenues. Billed revenues are based on electricity delivered as 
measured from customer meters.  Unbilled revenues are based on an estimate of electricity delivered determined by historical 
trends of consumption and are estimated at the end of each month. The unbilled revenue estimate is affected by energy 
consumption, weather, and changes in the composition of customer classes. 
 

Distribution revenue also includes an amount relating to rate protection for rural, residential and remote customers, which is 
received from the Independent Electricity System Operator (IESO) based on a standardized customer rate that is approved by 
the OEB. 
 

Revenues also include amounts related to sales of other services and equipment. Such revenue is recognized as services are 
rendered or as equipment is delivered. 
 

Revenues are recorded net of indirect taxes. 
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Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 
 

Billed accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount, net of allowance for doubtful accounts. Unbilled accounts 
receivable are recorded at their estimated value. Overdue amounts related to regulated billings bear interest at OEB-approved 
rates. The allowance for doubtful accounts reflects the Company’s best estimate of losses on billed accounts receivable 
balances. The Company estimates the allowance for doubtful accounts on customer receivables by applying internally 
developed loss rates to the outstanding receivable balances by aging category. Loss rates applied to the accounts receivable 
balances are based on historical overdue balances, customer payments and write-offs. Accounts receivable are written-off 
against the allowance when they are deemed uncollectible. The existing allowance for doubtful accounts will continue to be 
affected by changes in volume, prices and economic conditions. 
 
Noncontrolling interest 
 

Noncontrolling interest represents the portion of equity ownership in subsidiaries that is not attributable to shareholders of 
Hydro One. Noncontrolling interest is initially recorded at fair value and subsequently the amount is adjusted for the 
proportionate share of net income (loss) and other comprehensive income (loss) attributable to the noncontrolling interest and 
any dividends or distributions paid to the noncontrolling interest. 
 

If a transaction results in the acquisition of all, or part, of a noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary, the acquisition of the 
noncontrolling interest is accounted for as an equity transaction. No gain or loss is recognized in consolidated net income or 
comprehensive income as a result of changes in the noncontrolling interest, unless a change results in the loss of control by 
the Company. 
 
Income Taxes 
 

By virtue of being wholly owned by the Province, Hydro One was exempt from tax under the Income Tax Act (Canada) and 
the Taxation Act, 2007 (Ontario) (Federal Tax Regime). However, under the Electricity Act, Hydro One was required to make 
payments in lieu of tax (PILs) to the Ontario Electricity Financial Corporation (OEFC) (PILs Regime). The PILs were, in 
general, based on the amount of tax that Hydro One would otherwise be liable to pay under the Federal Tax Regime if it was 
not exempt from taxes under those statutes.  
 

In connection with the IPO of Hydro One Limited, Hydro One’s exemption from tax under the Federal Tax Regime ceased to 
apply. Upon exiting the PILs Regime, Hydro One is required to make corporate income tax payments to the Canada Revenue 
Agency (CRA) under the Federal Tax Regime. 
 

Current and deferred income taxes are computed based on the tax rates and tax laws enacted as at the balance sheet date. Tax 
benefits associated with income tax positions taken, or expected to be taken, in a tax return are recorded only when the 
“more-likely-than-not” recognition threshold is satisfied and are measured at the largest amount of benefit that has a greater 
than 50% likelihood of being realized upon settlement. Management evaluates each position based solely on the technical 
merits and facts and circumstances of the position, assuming the position will be examined by a taxing authority having full 
knowledge of all relevant information. Significant management judgment is required to determine recognition thresholds and 
the related amount of tax benefits to be recognized in the Consolidated Financial Statements. Management re-evaluates tax 
positions each period in which new information about recognition or measurement becomes available.  
 
Deferred Income Taxes  
 

Deferred income taxes are provided for using the liability method. Deferred income taxes are recognized based on the 
estimated future tax consequences attributable to temporary differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities 
in the Consolidated Financial Statements and their corresponding tax bases. 
 

Deferred income tax liabilities are generally recognized on all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are 
recognized to the extent that it is more-likely-than-not that these assets will be realized from taxable income available against 
which deductible temporary differences can be utilized.  
 

Deferred income taxes are calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the 
asset is realized, based on the tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted as at the balance sheet date. Deferred income 
taxes that are not included in the rate-setting process are charged or credited to the Consolidated Statements of Operations 
and Comprehensive Income. 
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If management determines that it is more-likely-than-not that some or all of a deferred income tax asset will not be realized, a 
valuation allowance is recorded against the deferred income tax asset to report the net balance at the amount expected to be 
realized. Previously unrecognized deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each balance sheet date and are recognized to 
the extent that it has become more-likely-than-not that the tax benefit will be realized. 
 

The Company records regulatory assets and liabilities associated with deferred income taxes that will be included in the rate-
setting process.  
 

The Company uses the flow-through method to account for investment tax credits (ITCs) earned on eligible scientific 
research and experimental development expenditures, and apprenticeship job creation. Under this method, only non-
refundable ITCs are recognized as a reduction to income tax expense. 
 
Materials and Supplies 
 

Materials and supplies represent consumables, small spare parts and construction materials held for internal construction and 
maintenance of property, plant and equipment. These assets are carried at average cost less any impairments recorded. 
 
Property, Plant and Equipment 
 

Property, plant and equipment is recorded at original cost, net of customer contributions, and any accumulated impairment 
losses. The cost of additions, including betterments and replacement asset components, is included on the Consolidated 
Balance Sheets as property, plant and equipment.  
 

The original cost of property, plant and equipment includes direct materials, direct labour (including employee benefits), 
contracted services, attributable capitalized financing costs, asset retirement costs, and direct and indirect overheads that are 
related to the capital project or program. Indirect overheads include a portion of corporate costs such as finance, treasury, 
human resources, information technology and executive costs. Overhead costs, including corporate functions and field 
services costs, are capitalized on a fully allocated basis, consistent with an OEB-approved methodology.  
 

Property, plant and equipment in service consists of transmission, distribution, communication, administration and service 
assets and land easements. Property, plant and equipment also includes future use assets, such as land, major components and 
spare parts, and capitalized project development costs associated with deferred capital projects.  
 
Transmission 
 

Transmission assets include assets used for the transmission of high-voltage electricity, such as transmission lines, support 
structures, foundations, insulators, connecting hardware and grounding systems, and assets used to step up the voltage of 
electricity from generating stations for transmission and to step down voltages for distribution, including transformers, circuit 
breakers and switches. 
 
Distribution  
 

Distribution assets include assets related to the distribution of low-voltage electricity, including lines, poles, switches, 
transformers, protective devices and metering systems.  
 
Communication 
 

Communication assets include fibre optic and microwave radio systems, optical ground wire, towers, telephone equipment 
and associated buildings. 
 
Administration and Service 
 

Administration and service assets include administrative buildings, personal computers, transport and work equipment, tools 
and other minor assets. 
 
Easements 
 

Easements include statutory rights of use for transmission corridors and abutting lands granted under the Reliable Energy and 
Consumer Protection Act, 2002, as well as other land access rights. 
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Intangible Assets 
 

Intangible assets separately acquired or internally developed are measured on initial recognition at cost, which comprises 
purchased software, direct labour (including employee benefits), consulting, engineering, overheads and attributable 
capitalized financing charges. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost, net of any accumulated 
amortization and accumulated impairment losses. The Company’s intangible assets primarily represent major computer 
applications. 
 
Capitalized Financing Costs 
 

Capitalized financing costs represent interest costs attributable to the construction of property, plant and equipment or 
development of intangible assets. The financing cost of attributable borrowed funds is capitalized as part of the acquisition 
cost of such assets. The capitalized financing costs are a reduction of financing charges recognized in the Consolidated 
Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income. Capitalized financing costs are calculated using the Company’s 
weighted average effective cost of debt. 
 
Construction and Development in Progress 
 

Construction and development in progress consists of the capitalized cost of constructed assets that are not yet complete and 
which have not yet been placed in service.  
 
Depreciation and Amortization 
 

The cost of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets is depreciated or amortized on a straight-line basis based on 
the estimated remaining service life of each asset category, except for transport and work equipment, which is depreciated on 
a declining balance basis. 
 

The Company periodically initiates an external independent review of its property, plant and equipment and intangible asset 
depreciation and amortization rates, as required by the OEB. Any changes arising from OEB approval of such a review are 
implemented on a remaining service life basis, consistent with their inclusion in electricity rates. The last review resulted in 
changes to rates effective January 1, 2015. A summary of average service lives and depreciation and amortization rates for 
the various classes of assets is included below: 
 

 Average                                 Rate 

 Service Life Range Average

Transmission 56 years 1% – 2% 2%
Distribution  46 years 1% – 7% 2%
Communication 16 years 1% – 15% 6%
Administration and service 18 years 1% – 20% 6%
 
The cost of intangible assets is included primarily within the administration and service classification above. Amortization 
rate for computer applications software and other intangible assets is 10%. 
 

In accordance with group depreciation practices, the original cost of property, plant and equipment, or major components 
thereof, and intangible assets that are normally retired, is charged to accumulated depreciation, with no gain or loss being 
reflected in results of operations. Where a disposition of property, plant and equipment occurs through sale, a gain or loss is 
calculated based on proceeds and such gain or loss is included in depreciation expense. Depreciation expense also includes 
the costs incurred to remove property, plant and equipment where no asset retirement obligations have been recorded.  
 
Goodwill 
 

Goodwill represents the cost of acquired local distribution companies that is in excess of the fair value of the net identifiable 
assets acquired at the acquisition date. Goodwill is not included in rate base.  
 

Goodwill is evaluated for impairment on an annual basis, or more frequently if circumstances require. The Company 
performs a qualitative assessment to determine whether it is more-likely-than-not that the fair value of the applicable 
reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. If the Company determines, as a result of its qualitative assessment, that it is 
not more-likely-than-not that the fair value of the applicable reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, no further testing 
is required. If the Company determines, as a result of its qualitative assessment, that it is more-likely-than-not that the fair 
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value of the applicable reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, a goodwill impairment assessment is performed using a 
two-step, fair value-based test. The first step compares the fair value of the applicable reporting unit to its carrying amount, 
including goodwill. If the carrying amount of the applicable reporting unit exceeds its fair value, a second step is performed. 
The second step requires an allocation of fair value to the individual assets and liabilities using purchase price allocation in 
order to determine the implied fair value of goodwill. If the implied fair value of goodwill is less than the carrying amount, an 
impairment loss is recorded as a reduction to goodwill and as a charge to results of operations.  
 

For the year ended December 31, 2015, based on the qualitative assessment performed as at September 30, 2015, the 
Company has determined that it is not more-likely-than-not that the fair value of each applicable reporting unit assessed is 
less than its carrying amount. As a result, no further testing was performed, and the Company has concluded that goodwill 
was not impaired at December 31, 2015. 
 
Long-Lived Asset Impairment 
 

When circumstances indicate the carrying value of long-lived assets may not be recoverable, the Company evaluates whether 
the carrying value of such assets, excluding goodwill, has been impaired. For such long-lived assets, the Company evaluates 
whether impairment may exist by estimating future estimated undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use and 
eventual disposition of the asset. When alternative courses of action to recover the carrying amount of a long-lived asset are 
under consideration, a probability-weighted approach is used to develop estimates of future undiscounted cash flows. If the 
carrying value of the long-lived asset is not recoverable based on the estimated future undiscounted cash flows, an 
impairment loss is recorded, measured as the excess of the carrying value of the asset over its fair value. As a result, the 
asset’s carrying value is adjusted to its estimated fair value.  
 

Within its regulated business, the carrying costs of most of Hydro One’s long-lived assets are included in rate base where 
they earn an OEB-approved rate of return. Asset carrying values and the related return are recovered through approved rates. 
As a result, such assets are only tested for impairment in the event that the OEB disallows recovery, in whole or in part, or if 
such a disallowance is judged to be probable.  
 

Hydro One regularly monitored the assets of its unregulated Hydro One Telecom subsidiary prior to spin-off for indications 
of impairment. Management assessed the fair value of such long-lived assets using commonly accepted techniques,  which 
included but were not limited to, the use of recent third party comparable sales for reference and internally developed 
discounted cash flow analysis. Significant changes in market conditions, changes to the condition of an asset, or a change in 
management’s intent to utilize the asset was generally viewed by management as triggering events to reassess the cash flows 
related to these long-lived assets. As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, no asset impairment had been recorded for assets 
within either the Company’s regulated or unregulated businesses. 
 
Costs of Arranging Debt Financing 
 

For financial liabilities classified as other than held-for-trading, the Company defers the external transaction costs related to 
obtaining debt financing and presents such amounts as deferred debt issuance costs on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. 
Deferred debt issuance costs are amortized over the contractual life of the related debt on an effective-interest basis and the 
amortization is included within financing charges in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income. 
Transaction costs for items classified as held-for-trading are expensed immediately. 
 
Comprehensive Income 
 

Comprehensive income is comprised of net income and other comprehensive income (OCI). Hydro One presents net income 
and OCI in a single continuous Consolidated Statement of Operations and Comprehensive Income.  
 
Financial Assets and Liabilities 
 

All financial assets and liabilities are classified into one of the following five categories: held-to-maturity; loans and 
receivables; held-for-trading; other liabilities; or available-for-sale. Financial assets and liabilities classified as held-for-
trading are measured at fair value. All other financial assets and liabilities are measured at amortized cost, except accounts 
receivable and amounts due from related parties, which are measured at the lower of cost or fair value. Accounts receivable 
and amounts due from related parties are classified as loans and receivables. The Company considers the carrying amounts of 
accounts receivable and amounts due from related parties to be reasonable estimates of fair value because of the short time to 
maturity of these instruments. Provisions for impaired accounts receivable are recognized as adjustments to the allowance for 
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doubtful accounts and are recognized when there is objective evidence that the Company will not be able to collect amounts 
according to the original terms. All financial instrument transactions are recorded at trade date. 
 

Derivative instruments are measured at fair value. Gains and losses from fair valuation are included within financing charges 
in the period in which they arise. The Company determines the classification of its financial assets and liabilities at the date 
of initial recognition. The Company designates certain of its financial assets and liabilities to be held at fair value, when it is 
consistent with the Company’s risk management policy disclosed in Note 13 – Fair Value of Financial Instruments and Risk 
Management. 
 
Derivative Instruments and Hedge Accounting 
 

The Company closely monitors the risks associated with changes in interest rates on its operations and, where appropriate, 
uses various instruments to hedge these risks. Certain of these derivative instruments qualify for hedge accounting and are 
designated as accounting hedges, while others either do not qualify as hedges or have not been designated as hedges 
(hereinafter referred to as undesignated contracts) as they are part of economic hedging relationships.  
 

The accounting guidance for derivative instruments requires the recognition of all derivative instruments not identified as 
meeting the normal purchase and sale exemption as either assets or liabilities recorded at fair value on the Consolidated 
Balance Sheets. For derivative instruments that qualify for hedge accounting, the Company may elect to designate such 
derivative instruments as either cash flow hedges or fair value hedges. The Company offsets fair value amounts recognized 
on its Consolidated Balance Sheets related to derivative instruments executed with the same counterparty under the same 
master netting agreement. 
 

For derivative instruments that qualify for hedge accounting and which are designated as cash flow hedges, the effective 
portion of any gain or loss, net of tax, is reported as a component of accumulated OCI (AOCI) and is reclassified to results of 
operations in the same period or periods during which the hedged transaction affects results of operations. Any gains or 
losses on the derivative instrument that represent either hedge ineffectiveness or hedge components excluded from the 
assessment of effectiveness are recognized in results of operations. For fair value hedges, changes in fair value of both the 
derivative instrument and the underlying hedged exposure are recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and 
Comprehensive Income in the current period. The gain or loss on the derivative instrument is included in the same line item 
as the offsetting gain or loss on the hedged item in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income. 
Additionally, the Company enters into derivative agreements that are economic hedges which either do not qualify for hedge 
accounting or have not been designated as hedges. The changes in fair value of these undesignated derivative instruments are 
reflected in results of operations. 
 

Embedded derivative instruments are separated from their host contracts and carried at fair value on the Consolidated 
Balance Sheets when: (a) the economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative are not clearly and closely 
related to the economic characteristics and risks of the host contract; (b) the hybrid instrument is not measured at fair value, 
with changes in fair value recognized in results of operations each period; and (c) the embedded derivative itself meets the 
definition of a derivative. The Company does not engage in derivative trading or speculative activities and had no embedded 
derivatives at December 31, 2015 or 2014. 
 

Hydro One periodically develops hedging strategies taking into account risk management objectives. At the inception of a 
hedging relationship where the Company has elected to apply hedge accounting, Hydro One formally documents the 
relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument, the related risk management objective, the nature of the 
specific risk exposure being hedged, and the method for assessing the effectiveness of the hedging relationship. The 
Company also assesses, both at the inception of the hedge and on a quarterly basis, whether the hedging instruments are 
effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged items.  
 
Employee Future Benefits 
 

Employee future benefits provided by Hydro One include pension, post-retirement and post-employment benefits. The costs 
of the Company’s pension, post-retirement and post-employment benefit plans are recorded over the periods during which 
employees render service.  
 

The Company recognizes the funded status of its defined benefit pension, post-retirement and post-employment plans on its 
Consolidated Balance Sheets and subsequently recognizes the changes in funded status at the end of each reporting year. 
Defined benefit pension, post-retirement and post-employment plans are considered to be underfunded when the projected 
benefit obligation exceeds the fair value of the plan assets. Liabilities are recognized on the Consolidated Balance Sheets for 
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any net underfunded projected benefit obligation. The net underfunded projected benefit obligation may be disclosed as a 
current liability, long-term liability, or both. The current portion is the amount by which the actuarial present value of 
benefits included in the benefit obligation payable in the next 12 months exceeds the fair value of plan assets. If the fair value 
of plan assets exceeds the projected benefit obligation of the plan, an asset is recognized equal to the net overfunded 
projected benefit obligation. The post-retirement and post-employment benefit plans are unfunded because there are no 
related plan assets. 
 
Pension benefits 
 

Pension costs are recorded on an accrual basis for financial reporting purposes. Pension costs are actuarially determined using 
the projected benefit method prorated on service and are based on assumptions that reflect management’s best estimate of the 
effect of future events, including future compensation increases. Past service costs from plan amendments and all actuarial 
gains and losses are amortized on a straight-line basis over the expected average remaining service period of active 
employees in the plan, and over the estimated remaining life expectancy of inactive employees in the plan. Pension plan 
assets, consisting primarily of listed equity securities as well as corporate and government debt securities, are fair valued at 
the end of each year. Hydro One records a regulatory asset equal to the net underfunded projected benefit obligation for its 
pension plan.  
 
Post-retirement and post-employment benefits 
 

Post-retirement and post-employment benefits are recorded and included in rates on an accrual basis. Costs are determined by 
independent actuaries using the projected benefit method prorated on service and based on assumptions that reflect 
management’s best estimates. Past service costs from plan amendments are amortized to results of operations based on the 
expected average remaining service period. Hydro One records a regulatory asset equal to the incremental net unfunded 
projected benefit obligation for post-retirement and post-employment plans recorded at each year end based on annual 
actuarial reports.  
 

For post-retirement benefits, all actuarial gains or losses are deferred using the “corridor” approach. The amount calculated 
above the “corridor” is amortized to results of operations on a straight-line basis over the expected average remaining service 
life of active employees in the plan and over the remaining life expectancy of inactive employees in the plan. The post-
retirement benefit obligation is remeasured to its fair value at each year end based on an annual actuarial report, with an 
offset to the associated regulatory asset, to the extent of the remeasurement adjustment. 
 

For post-employment obligations, the associated regulatory liabilities representing actuarial gains on transition to US GAAP 
are amortized to results of operations based on the “corridor” approach. Post transition, the actuarial gains and losses on post-
employment obligations that are incurred during the year are recognized immediately to results of operations. The post-
employment benefit obligation is remeasured to its fair value at each year end based on an annual actuarial report, with an 
offset to the associated regulatory asset, to the extent of the remeasurement adjustment. 
 

All post-retirement and post-employment future benefit costs are attributed to labour and are either charged to results of 
operations or capitalized as part of the cost of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets. 
 
Multiemployer Pension Plan 
 

Former employees of Haldimand Hydro and Woodstock Hydro participate in the Ontario Municipal Employees Retirement 
System Fund (OMERS Plan), a multiemployer, contributory, defined benefit public sector pension fund. Former employees 
of Norfolk Power Inc. (Norfolk Power) ceased to contribute to the OMERS Plan upon integration of Norfolk Power into 
Hydro One Networks in September 2015. These employees are now included in Hydro One’s defined benefit pension plan. 
OMERS Plan provides retirement pension payments based on members’ length of service and salary. Both the participating 
employers and members are required to make plan contributions. The OMERS Plan assets are pooled together to provide 
benefits to all plan participants and the plan assets are not segregated by member entity. The OMERS Plan is registered with 
the Financial Services Commission of Ontario under Registration #0345983. 
 

The OMERS Plan is accounted for as a defined contribution plan by Hydro One because it is not practicable to determine the 
present value of the Company’s obligation, the fair value of plan assets or the related current service cost applicable to 
employees of Haldimand Hydro and Woodstock Hydro. Hydro One recognizes its contributions to the OMERS Plan as 
pension expense, with a portion being capitalized. The expensed amount is included in operation, maintenance and 
administration costs in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income. 
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Stock-Based Compensation 
 

Hydro One measures share grant plans based on fair value of share grants as estimated based on the grant date Hydro One 
Limited share price. The costs are recognized in the financial statements using the graded-vesting attribution method for 
share grant plans that have both a performance condition and a service condition. The Company records a regulatory asset 
equal to the accrued costs of share grant plans recognized in each period, as management considers it to be probable that such 
costs will be recovered in the future through the rate-setting process. 
 

The Company also records the liabilities associated with its Directors’ Deferred Share Unit (DSU) Plan at fair value at each 
reporting date until settlement, recognizing compensation expense over the vesting period on a straight-line basis. The fair 
value of the DSU liability is based on Hydro One Limited’s common share closing price at the end of each reporting period. 
 
Loss Contingencies  
 

Hydro One is involved in certain legal and environmental matters that arise in the normal course of business. In the 
preparation of its Consolidated Financial Statements, management makes judgments regarding the future outcome of 
contingent events and records a loss for a contingency based on its best estimate when it is determined that such loss is 
probable and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. Where the loss amount is recoverable in future rates, a 
regulatory asset is also recorded. When a range estimate for the probable loss exists and no amount within the range is a 
better estimate than any other amount, the Company records a loss at the minimum amount within the range.  
 

Management regularly reviews current information available to determine whether recorded provisions should be adjusted 
and whether new provisions are required. Estimating probable losses may require analysis of multiple forecasts and scenarios 
that often depend on judgments about potential actions by third parties, such as federal, provincial and local courts or 
regulators. Contingent liabilities are often resolved over long periods of time. Amounts recorded in the Consolidated 
Financial Statements may differ from the actual outcome once the contingency is resolved. Such differences could have a 
material impact on future results of operations, financial position and cash flows of the Company. 
 

Provisions are based upon current estimates and are subject to greater uncertainty where the projection period is lengthy. A 
significant upward or downward trend in the number of claims filed, the nature of the alleged injuries, and the average cost of 
resolving each claim could change the estimated provision, as could any substantial adverse or favourable verdict at trial. A 
federal or provincial legislative outcome or structured settlement could also change the estimated liability. Legal fees are 
expensed as incurred. 
 
Environmental Liabilities 
 

Environmental liabilities are recorded in respect of past contamination when it is determined that future environmental 
remediation expenditures are probable under existing statute or regulation and the amount of the future expenditures can be 
reasonably estimated. Hydro One records a liability for the estimated future expenditures associated with contaminated land 
assessment and remediation and for the phase-out and destruction of polychlorinated biphenyl (PCB)-contaminated mineral 
oil removed from electrical equipment, based on the present value of these estimated future expenditures. The Company 
determines the present value with a discount rate equal to its credit-adjusted risk-free interest rate on financial instruments 
with comparable maturities to the pattern of future environmental expenditures. As the Company anticipates that the future 
expenditures will continue to be recoverable in future rates, an offsetting regulatory asset has been recorded to reflect the 
future recovery of these environmental expenditures from customers. Hydro One reviews its estimates of future 
environmental expenditures annually, or more frequently if there are indications that circumstances have changed. 
 
Asset Retirement Obligations 
 

Asset retirement obligations are recorded for legal obligations associated with the future removal and disposal of long-lived 
assets. Such obligations may result from the acquisition, construction, development and/or normal use of the asset. 
Conditional asset retirement obligations are recorded when there is a legal obligation to perform a future asset retirement 
activity but where the timing and/or method of settlement are conditional on a future event that may or may not be within the 
control of the Company. In such a case, the obligation to perform the asset retirement activity is unconditional even though 
uncertainty exists about the timing and/or method of settlement.  
 

When recording an asset retirement obligation, the present value of the estimated future expenditures required to complete 
the asset retirement activity is recorded in the period in which the obligation is incurred, if a reasonable estimate can be made. 
In general, the present value of the estimated future expenditures is added to the carrying amount of the associated asset and 
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the resulting asset retirement cost is depreciated over the estimated useful life of the asset. Where an asset is no longer in 
service when an asset retirement obligation is recorded, the asset retirement cost is recorded in results of operations. 
 

Some of the Company’s transmission and distribution assets, particularly those located on unowned easements and rights-of-
way, may have asset retirement obligations, conditional or otherwise. The majority of the Company’s easements and rights-
of-way are either of perpetual duration or are automatically renewed annually. Land rights with finite terms are generally 
subject to extension or renewal. As the Company expects to use the majority of its facilities in perpetuity, no asset retirement 
obligations currently exist for these assets. If, at some future date, a particular facility is shown not to meet the perpetuity 
assumption, it will be reviewed to determine whether an estimable asset retirement obligation exists. In such a case, an asset 
retirement obligation would be recorded at that time.  
 

The Company’s asset retirement obligations recorded to date relate to estimated future expenditures associated with the 
removal and disposal of asbestos-containing materials installed in some of its facilities and with the decommissioning of 
specific switching stations located on unowned sites. 
 
 
3. NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS 
 
Recent Accounting Guidance Not Yet Adopted 
 

In January 2015, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2015-01, 
Income Statement – Extraordinary and Unusual Items (Subtopic 225-20): Simplifying Income Statement Presentation by 
Eliminating the Concept of Extraordinary Items. This ASU eliminates the requirements for reporting entities to consider whether 
an underlying event or transaction is extraordinary and to show the item separately in the income statement. This ASU is 
effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within these years, beginning after December 15, 2015. The adoption of this ASU 
is not anticipated to have an impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements. 
 

In February 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-02, Consolidation (Topic 810): Amendments to the Consolidation Analysis. This 
ASU provides guidance about the analysis that a reporting entity must perform to determine whether it should consolidate 
certain types of legal entities. This ASU is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after 
December 15, 2015. The adoption of this ASU is not anticipated to have an impact on the Company’s consolidated financial 
statements. 
 

In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-03, Interest – Imputation of Interest (Subtopic 835-30): Simplifying the Presentation 
of Debt Issuance Costs. This ASU requires that debt issuance costs related to a recognized debt liability be presented in the 
balance sheet as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of that debt liability. The recognition and measurement guidance 
for debt issuance costs are not affected. This ASU is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning 
after December 15, 2015. Upon adoption of this ASU in the first quarter of 2016, the Company’s deferred debt issuance costs 
that are currently presented under other long-term assets will be reclassified as a deduction from the carrying amount of long-
term debt. 
 

In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-04, Compensation – Retirement Benefits (Topic 715): Practical Expedient for the 
Measurement Date of an Employer’s Defined Benefit Obligation and Plan Assets. This ASU permits an entity with a fiscal year-
end that does not coincide with a month-end and an entity that has a significant event in an interim period that calls for a 
remeasurement of defined benefit plan assets and obligations to measure the defined benefit plan assets and obligations using the 
month-end that is closest to the entity’s fiscal year-end. This ASU is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within these 
years, beginning after December 15, 2015. The adoption of this ASU is not anticipated to have an impact on the Company’s 
consolidated financial statements. 
 

In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-05, Intangibles – Goodwill and Other – Internal-Use Software (Subtopic 350-40): 
Customer’s Accounting for Fees Paid in a Cloud Computing Arrangement. This ASU provides guidance to customers about 
whether a cloud computing arrangement includes a software license, as well as the related accounting for the arrangement. This 
ASU is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within these years, beginning after December 15, 2015. The Company is 
currently assessing the impact of adoption of this ASU on its consolidated financial statements. 
 

In August 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-14, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Deferral of the Effective 
Date. This ASU defers by one year the effective date of ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) 
issued by the FASB in May 2014. ASU 2014-09 provides guidance on revenue recognition that depicts the transfer of promised 
goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange 
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for those goods and services. The guidance in ASU 2014-09 is now effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those 
years, beginning after December 15, 2017. The Company is currently assessing the impact of adoption of ASU 2014-09 on its 
consolidated financial statements. 
 

In September 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-16, Business Combinations (Topic 805): Simplifying the Accounting for 
Measurement-Period Adjustments. The amendments in this ASU require that an acquirer recognize adjustments to provisional 
amounts that are identified during the measurement period of a business combination in the reporting period in which the 
adjustment amounts are determined. The amendments in this update require that the acquirer to present separately on the face of 
the income statement or disclose in the notes the portion of the amount recorded in current-period earnings by line item that 
would have been recorded in previous reporting periods if the adjustment to the provisional amounts had been recognized as of 
the acquisition date. This ASU is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 
2015. Upon adoption of this ASU in the first quarter of 2016, the Company will apply the guidance in this ASU to future 
measurement adjustments related to business combinations, as applicable. 
 

In November 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-17, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Balance Sheet Classification of Deferred 
Taxes. The amendments in this ASU require that all deferred tax assets and liabilities be classified as noncurrent on the 
balance sheet. This ASU is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 
2016. Upon adoption of this ASU in the first quarter of 2017, the current portions of the Company’s deferred income tax 
assets and liabilities will be reclassified as noncurrent assets and liabilities on the consolidated Balance Sheets. 
 

In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-01, Financial Instruments – Overall (Subtopic 825-10): Recognition and 
Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities. This ASU requires equity investments to be measured at fair 
value with changes in fair value recognized in net income, and requires enhanced disclosures and presentation of financial 
assets and liabilities in the financial statements. This ASU also simplifies the impairment assessment of equity investments 
without readily determinable fair values by requiring a qualitative assessment to identify impairment. This ASU is effective 
for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2017. The Company is currently 
assessing the impact of adoption of this ASU on its consolidated financial statements. 
 
 
4. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS 
 
Acquisition of Woodstock Hydro 
 

On October 31, 2015, Hydro One acquired 100% of the common shares of Woodstock Hydro, an electricity distribution 
company located in southwestern Ontario. The total purchase price for Woodstock Hydro was approximately $32 million. 
 
The following table summarizes the preliminary determination of the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed: 
 

(millions of Canadian dollars)  

Cash and cash equivalents  3
Working capital  4
Property, plant and equipment  28
Intangible assets  1
Deferred income tax assets  2
Goodwill  17
Long-term debt  (17)
Other long-term liabilities  (2)
Post-retirement and post-employment benefit liability  (1)
Derivative instruments  (3)
  32
 
The preliminary determination of the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed has been based upon management’s 
preliminary estimates and certain assumptions with respect to the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed. Due 
to the timing of the transaction, the Company has not yet completed the final fair value measurements as at December 31, 2015. 
In addition, the purchase agreement provides for final purchase price adjustments based on agreed working capital and other 
balances at the acquisition date which have not yet been finalized. The Company will continue to review information and 
perform further analysis prior to finalizing the total purchase price and the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities 
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assumed. The actual total purchase price and the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed may differ from the 
amounts above. 
 

Goodwill of approximately $17 million arising from the Woodstock Hydro acquisition consists largely of the synergies and 
economies of scale expected from combining the operations of Hydro One and Woodstock Hydro. All of the goodwill was 
assigned to Hydro One’s Distribution Business segment. Woodstock Hydro contributed revenues of $12 million and net income 
of $2 million to the Company’s consolidated financial results for the year ended December 31, 2015. All costs related to the 
acquisition have been expensed through the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income. Woodstock 
Hydro’s financial information is not material to the Company’s consolidated financial results for the year ended December 31, 
2015 and therefore, has not been disclosed on a pro forma basis. 
 
Hydro One Brampton Spin-off 
 

On August 31, 2015, Hydro One completed the spin-off of its subsidiary, Hydro One Brampton. The spin-off was accounted as a 
non-monetary, nonreciprocal transfer with the Province, based on its carrying values at August 31, 2015. Transactions that 
immediately preceded the spin-off as well as the spin-off were as follows: 

 Hydro One subscribed for 357 common shares of Hydro One Brampton for an aggregate subscription price of 
$53 million;  

 Hydro One transferred to a company wholly owned by the Province all the issued and outstanding shares of Hydro One 
Brampton as a dividend-in-kind; and all of the long-term intercompany debt in aggregate principal amount of $193 
million plus accrued interest of $3 million owed by Hydro One Brampton to Hydro One as a return of stated capital of 
$196 million on its common shares. 

 

In connection with the Hydro One Brampton spin-off, the following assets and liabilities of Hydro One Brampton were 
transferred: 
 

(millions of Canadian dollars)  

Working capital  33
Property, plant and equipment and intangibles (net)  360
Other long-term assets  6
Long-term liabilities  (205)
 
As a result of the spin-off, goodwill related to Hydro One Brampton of $60 million was eliminated from the Consolidated 
Balance Sheet. 
 
Acquisition of Haldimand Hydro 
 

On June 30, 2015, Hydro One acquired 100% of the common shares of Haldimand Hydro, an electricity distribution company 
located in southwestern Ontario. The final total purchase price for Haldimand Hydro was approximately $73 million.  
 

The following table summarizes the determination of the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed: 
 

(millions of Canadian dollars)  

Cash and cash equivalents  3
Working capital  5
Property, plant and equipment  52
Deferred income tax assets  1
Goodwill  33
Long-term debt  (18)
Regulatory liabilities  (3)
  73
 
The determination of the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed has been based upon management’s estimates and 
certain assumptions with respect to the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed. 
 

Goodwill of approximately $33 million arising from the Haldimand Hydro acquisition consists largely of the synergies and 
economies of scale expected from combining the operations of Hydro One and Haldimand Hydro. All of the goodwill was 
assigned to Hydro One’s Distribution Business segment. Haldimand Hydro contributed revenues of $32 million and net income 
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of $6 million to the Company’s consolidated financial results for the year ended December 31, 2015. All costs related to the 
acquisition have been expensed through the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income. Haldimand 
Hydro’s financial information is not material to the Company’s consolidated financial results for the year ended December 31, 
2015 and therefore, has not been disclosed on a pro forma basis. 
 
Acquisition of Norfolk Power 
 

On August 29, 2014, Hydro One acquired 100% of the common shares of Norfolk Power, an electricity distribution and telecom 
company located in southwestern Ontario. Norfolk Power was a holding company for two subsidiaries, Norfolk Power 
Distribution Inc. (NPDI) and Norfolk Energy Inc. The total purchase price for Norfolk Power, net of the long-term debt 
assumed, was approximately $68 million. The purchase price was finalized in 2015, with no adjustments to the preliminary 
purchase price allocation as disclosed at December 31, 2014. 
 

The following table summarizes the determination of the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed: 
 

(millions of Canadian dollars)  
Working capital  6
Property, plant and equipment  56
Deferred income tax assets  1
Goodwill  40
Bank indebtedness  (3)
Derivative instruments  (3)
Long-term debt  (26)
Post-retirement and post-employment benefit liability  (1)
Environmental liability  (1)
Long-term accounts payable and other liabilities  (1)
  68
 
The determination of the fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed has been based upon management’s estimates and 
certain assumptions with respect to the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed. 
 

Goodwill of approximately $40 million arising from the Norfolk Power acquisition consists largely of the synergies and 
economies of scale expected from combining the operations of Hydro One and Norfolk Power. All of the goodwill was assigned 
to Hydro One’s Distribution Business segment. Norfolk Power contributed revenues of $18 million and net income of less than 
$1 million to the Company’s consolidated financial results for the year ended December 31, 2014. All costs related to the 
acquisition have been expensed through the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income. Norfolk 
Power’s financial information was not material to the Company’s consolidated financial results for the year ended December 31, 
2014 and therefore, has not been disclosed on a pro forma basis. 
 
Other 
 

On November 6, 2015, Hydro One completed the spin-off of its subsidiary, Hydro One Telecom. The spin-off was accounted as 
a non-monetary, nonreciprocal transfer with Hydro One Limited, based on its carrying values at November 6, 2015. Hydro One 
transferred to Hydro One Limited all the issued and outstanding shares of Hydro One Telecom totalling $17 million, and all of 
the intercompany debt receivable held by Hydro One due from Hydro One Telecom and Hydro One Telecom Link Limited 
totalling $21 million, as a return of stated capital of $38 million on its common shares.  
 

On November 6, 2015, Hydro One completed the spin-off of its subsidiary, MBSI. The spin-off was accounted as a non-
monetary, nonreciprocal transfer with Hydro One Limited, based on its carrying values at November 6, 2015. Hydro One 
transferred to Hydro One Limited all the issued and outstanding shares of MBSI and all of the intercompany debt receivable held 
by Hydro One due from MBSI, as a return of stated capital of $3 million on its common shares. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



HYDRO ONE INC. 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 
 
 

21 
 

5. DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION 
 

Year ended December 31 (millions of Canadian dollars)  2015 2014 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  594 565
Amortization of intangible assets  54 53
Asset removal costs  90 81
Amortization of regulatory assets  19 23
  757 722
 
 
6. FINANCING CHARGES 

 
Year ended December 31 (millions of Canadian dollars)  2015 2014 

Interest on long-term debt  417 432
Other  16 12
Less: Interest capitalized on construction and development in progress  (52) (49)
          Gain on interest-rate swap agreements  (2) (10)
          Interest earned on investments  (3) (6)
  376 379
 
 
7. INCOME TAXES 
 
Income taxes / provision for PILs differs from the amount that would have been recorded using the combined Canadian 
federal and Ontario statutory income tax rate. The reconciliation between the statutory and the effective tax rates is provided 
as follows: 
 

Year ended December 31 (millions of Canadian dollars)  2015 2014 

Income taxes / provision for PILs at statutory rate  216 222

Increase (decrease) resulting from:  
Net temporary differences included in amounts charged to customers:  
    Capital cost allowance in excess of depreciation and amortization  (37) (72)
    Pension contributions in excess of pension expense  (25) (24)
    Overheads capitalized for accounting but deducted for tax purposes  (15) (15)
    Interest capitalized for accounting but deducted for tax purposes  (13) (13)
    Environmental expenditures  (5) (5)
    Non-refundable investment tax credits  (2) (3)
    Post-retirement and post-employment benefit expense in excess of cash payments  (1) 3
    Prior year’s adjustments  (1) (4)
    Other  (2) (1)
Net temporary differences  (101) (134)
Net tax benefit resulting from transition from PILs Regime to Federal Tax Regime  (9) –
Hydro One Brampton spin-off  7 –
Net permanent differences  1 1
Total income taxes / provision for PILs  114 89
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The major components of income tax expense are as follows: 
 

Year ended December 31 (millions of Canadian dollars) 2015 2014 

Current income taxes / provision for PILs  2,931 79
Deferred income taxes / provision for (recovery of) PILs  (2,817) 10
Total income taxes / provision for PILs  114 89
  
Effective income tax rate  13.97% 10.63%
 
The provision for PILs / current income taxes is remitted to, or received from, the OEFC (PILs Regime) and the CRA 
(Federal Tax Regime). At December 31, 2015, $12 million (2014 – $39 million) due from the OEFC was included in due 
from related parties and $1 million (2014 – $nil) due from the CRA was included in prepaid expenses and other assets on the 
Consolidated Balance Sheet. 
 

In connection with the IPO, Hydro One’s exemption from tax under the Federal Tax Regime ceased to apply. Under the PILs 
Regime, Hydro One was deemed to have disposed of its assets immediately before it lost its tax exempt status under the 
Federal Tax Regime, resulting in Hydro One making payments in lieu of tax (Departure Tax) totalling $2.6 billion. To enable 
Hydro One to make the Departure Tax payment, Hydro One Limited subscribed for 39,598 common shares of Hydro One for 
$2.6 billion. Hydro One used the proceeds of this share subscription to pay the Departure Tax. 
 

At December 31, 2015, the total income taxes / provision for PILs includes deferred income taxes / recovery of PILs of 
$2,817 million (2014 – deferred provision of $10 million), including $2,798 million (2014 – $nil) resulting from transition 
from the PILs Regime to the Federal Tax Regime, that is not included in the rate-setting process, using the liability method of 
accounting. Deferred income taxes / PILs balances expected to be included in the rate-setting process are offset by regulatory 
assets and liabilities to reflect the anticipated recovery or disposition of these balances within future electricity rates. 
 
Deferred Income Tax Assets and Liabilities 
 
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities arise from differences between the carrying amounts and tax basis of the 
Company’s assets and liabilities. At December 31, 2015 and 2014, deferred income tax assets and liabilities consisted of the 
following: 
 

December 31 (millions of Canadian dollars)  2015 2014 

Deferred income tax assets   
    Depreciation and amortization in excess of capital cost allowance 918 (4)
    Post-retirement and post-employment benefits expense in excess of cash payments 572 8
    Environmental expenditures  75 4
    Non-capital losses  62 –
    Other  2 (1)
Total deferred income tax assets  1,629 7
Less: current portion  19 –
  1,610 7
 
December 31 (millions of Canadian dollars)  2015 2014 

Deferred income tax liabilities   
    Regulatory amounts that are not recognized for tax purposes  (153) (140)
    Partnership interest  (41) (38)
    Goodwill  (10) (21)
    Capital cost allowance in excess of depreciation and amortization  (1) (1,713)
    Post-retirement and post-employment benefits expense in excess of cash payments – 559
    Environmental expenditures  – 59
    Other  (1) –
Total deferred income tax liabilities  (206) (1,294)
Less: current portion  – 19
  (206) (1,313)
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During 2015 and 2014, there were no changes in the rate applicable to future taxes. The Company has recorded a valuation 
allowance in the amount of $278 million (2014 – $nil) in respect of non-depreciable capital property. 
 
 
8. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 
 

December 31 (millions of Canadian dollars)  2015 2014 

Accounts receivable – billed  374 496
Accounts receivable – unbilled  459 586
Accounts receivable, gross  833 1,082
Allowance for doubtful accounts  (61) (66)
Accounts receivable, net  772 1,016
 
In 2015, the Company revised the method to estimate the unbilled accounts receivable by using new technology that 
improved the estimation process. This change has been accounted for on a prospective basis in the consolidated financial 
statements at December 31, 2015. At December 31, 2015, the change in estimation technology resulted in a reduction in 
unbilled accounts receivable of approximately $121 million, with a corresponding offset to various components of the retail 
settlement variance accounts (RSVA). The change in estimate had no significant impact on 2015 net income. 
 
The following table shows the movements in the allowance for doubtful accounts for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 
2014: 
 

Year ended December 31 (millions of Canadian dollars)  2015 2014 

Allowance for doubtful accounts – January 1  (66) (36)
Write-offs  37 24
Additions to allowance for doubtful accounts  (32) (54)
Allowance for doubtful accounts – December 31  (61) (66)
 
 
9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 

December 31, 2015 (millions of Canadian dollars) 
Property, Plant 
and Equipment 

Accumulated 
Depreciation 

Construction
in Progress 

 
Total 

Transmission 13,803 4,625 853 10,031
Distribution 9,205 3,177 238 6,266
Communication 1,006 609 18 415
Administration and service 1,531 848 35 718
Easements 523 60 – 463
 26,068 9,319 1,144 17,893
 

 
December 31, 2014 (millions of Canadian dollars) 

Property, Plant 
and Equipment 

Accumulated 
Depreciation 

Construction
in Progress 

 
Total 

Transmission 13,209 4,416 626 9,419
Distribution 9,076 3,225 320 6,171
Communication 1,100 615 56 541
Administration and service 1,502 793 23 732
Easements 623 85 – 538
 25,510 9,134 1,025 17,401
 
Financing charges capitalized on property, plant and equipment under construction were $50 million in 2015 (2014 – 
$48 million). 
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10. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
 

December 31, 2015 (millions of Canadian dollars) 
Intangible 

Assets 
Accumulated 
Amortization 

Development
in Progress 

 
Total 

Computer applications software 579 270 24 333
Other 7 4 – 3
 586 274 24 336
 

December 31, 2014 (millions of Canadian dollars) 
Intangible 

Assets 
Accumulated 
Amortization 

Development
in Progress 

 
Total 

Computer applications software 573 303 3 273
Other 5 2 – 3
 578 305 3 276
 
Financing charges capitalized to intangible assets under development were $1 million in 2015 (2014 – $1 million). The 
estimated annual amortization expense for intangible assets is as follows: 2016 – $57 million; 2017 – $57 million; 2018 – $57 
million; 2019 – $47 million; and 2020 – $30 million. 
 
 
11. REGULATORY ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 
 
Regulatory assets and liabilities arise as a result of the rate-setting process. Hydro One has recorded the following regulatory 
assets and liabilities: 
 

December 31 (millions of Canadian dollars) 2015 2014 

Regulatory assets: 
    Deferred income tax regulatory asset 1,445 1,327
    Pension benefit regulatory asset 952 1,236
    Post-retirement and post-employment benefits 240 273
    Environmental  207 239
   RSVA 110 11
   Pension cost variance  37 90
   2015-2017 rate rider 20 –
   DSC exemption 10 16
   Share-based compensation 10 –
   B2M LP start-up costs 8 –
   OEB cost assessment differential – 12
   Other 12 27

Total regulatory assets 3,051 3,231
Less: current portion 36 31

3,015 3,200
 
Regulatory liabilities: 
   External revenue variance 87 54
   Green Energy expenditure variance 76 83
   CDM deferral variance  53 25
   Deferred income tax regulatory liability 23 21
   PST savings deferral  4 19
   Other 12 13

Total regulatory liabilities 255 215
Less: current portion 19 47

236 168
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Deferred Income Tax Regulatory Asset and Liability 
 

Deferred income taxes are recognized on temporary differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the 
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable income. The Company has 
recognized regulatory assets and liabilities that correspond to deferred income taxes that flow through the rate-setting 
process. In the absence of rate-regulated accounting, the Company’s income tax expense would have been recognized using 
the liability method and there would be no regulatory accounts established for taxes to be recovered through future rates. As a 
result, the 2015 income tax expense would have been higher by approximately $101 million (2014 – $132 million).  
 
Pension Benefit Regulatory Asset 
 

In accordance with OEB rate orders, pension costs are recorded on a cash basis as employer contributions are paid to the 
pension fund in accordance with the Pension Benefits Act (Ontario). The Company recognizes the net unfunded status of 
pension obligations on the Consolidated Balance Sheets with an offset to the associated regulatory asset. A regulatory asset is 
recognized because management considers it to be probable that pension benefit costs will be recovered in the future through 
the rate-setting process. The pension benefit obligation is remeasured to its fair value at each year end based on an annual 
actuarial report, with an offset to the associated regulatory asset, to the extent of the remeasurement adjustment. In the 
absence of rate-regulated accounting, 2015 OCI would have been higher by $284 million (2014 – lower by $391 million).  
 
Post-Retirement and Post-Employment Benefits 
 

The Company recognizes the net unfunded status of post-retirement and post-employment obligations on the Consolidated 
Balance Sheets with an incremental offset to the associated regulatory assets. A regulatory asset is recognized because 
management considers it to be probable that post-retirement and post-employment benefit costs will be recovered in the 
future through the rate-setting process. The post-retirement and post-employment benefit obligation is remeasured to its fair 
value at each year end based on an annual actuarial report, with an offset to the associated regulatory asset, to the extent of 
the remeasurement adjustment. In the absence of rate-regulated accounting, 2015 OCI would have been higher by $33 
million (2014 – $35 million).  
 
Environmental 
 

Hydro One records a liability for the estimated future expenditures required to remediate environmental contamination. 
Because such expenditures are expected to be recoverable in future rates, the Company has recorded an equivalent amount as 
a regulatory asset. In 2015, the environmental regulatory asset decreased by $24 million (2014 – $33 million) to reflect 
related changes in the Company’s PCB liability, and increased by $1 million (2014 – $13 million) due to changes in the land 
assessment and remediation liability. The environmental regulatory asset is amortized to results of operations based on the 
pattern of actual expenditures incurred and charged to environmental liabilities. The OEB has the discretion to examine and 
assess the prudency and the timing of recovery of all of Hydro One’s actual environmental expenditures. In the absence of 
rate-regulated accounting, 2015 operation, maintenance and administration expenses would have been lower by $23 million 
(2014 – $20 million). In addition, 2015 amortization expense would have been lower by $19 million (2014 – $18 million), 
and 2015 financing charges would have been higher by $10 million (2014 – $11 million). 
 
RSVA 
 

Hydro One has deferred certain retail settlement variance amounts under the provisions of Article 490 of the OEB’s 
Accounting Procedures Handbook. In March 2015, the OEB approved the disposition of the total RSVA balance accumulated 
from January 2012 to December 2013, including accrued interest, to be recovered through the 2015-2017 Rate Rider. In 
2015, the Company revised its method to estimate the unbilled accounts receivable based on new technology implemented to 
improve the accuracy of the estimation process. At December 31, 2015, the change in estimate reduced unbilled accounts 
receivable by approximately $121 million, with a corresponding offset to various components of RSVA. The change in 
estimate had no significant impact on 2015 net income. 
 
Pension Cost Variance 
 

A pension cost variance account was established for Hydro One Networks’ transmission and distribution businesses to track 
the difference between the actual pension expenses incurred and estimated pension costs approved by the OEB. The balance 
in this regulatory account reflects the excess of pension costs paid as compared to OEB-approved amounts. In March 2015, 
the OEB approved the disposition of the distribution business portion of the total pension cost variance account at December 
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31, 2013, including accrued interest, which will be recovered through the 2015-2017 Rate Rider. In the absence of rate-
regulated accounting, 2015 revenue would have been lower by $6 million (2014 – $10 million). 
 
2015-2017 Rate Rider 
 

In March 2015, as part of its decision on Hydro One Networks’ Distribution rate application for 2015-2019 the OEB approved 
the disposition of certain deferral and variance accounts, including RSVAs and accrued interest.  The 2015-2017 Rate Rider 
account includes the balances approved for disposition by the OEB and will be disposed over a 32-month period in accordance 
with the OEB decision. 
 
DSC Exemption 
 

In June 2010, Hydro One Networks filed an application with the OEB regarding the OEB’s new cost responsibility rules 
contained in the OEB’s October 2009 Notice of Amendment to the Distribution System Code (DSC), with respect to the 
connection of certain renewable generators that were already connected or that had received a connection impact assessment 
prior to October 21, 2009. The application sought approval to record and defer the unanticipated costs incurred by Hydro One 
Networks that resulted from the connection of certain renewable generation facilities. The OEB ruled that identified specific 
expenditures can be recorded in a deferral account subject to the OEB’s review in subsequent Hydro One Network distribution 
applications. In March 2015, the OEB approved the disposition of the DSC exemption deferral account at December 31, 
2013, including accrued interest, which will be recovered through the 2015-2017 Rate Rider. In addition, the OEB also 
approved Hydro One’s request to discontinue this deferral account, and there were no additions to this regulatory account in 
2015. 
 
Share-based Compensation 
 

The Company recognizes costs associated with stock-based compensation in a regulatory asset as management considers it 
probable that stock-based compensation costs will be recovered in the future through the rate-setting process. At December 31, 
2015 the stock-based compensation costs relate to the share grant plans, are measured at fair value estimated based on grant date 
Hydro One Limited share price and recognized using the graded-vesting attribution method.  In the absence of rate-regulated 
accounting 2015 operation, maintenance and administration expenses would have been higher by $5 million (2014 – $nil). 
 
B2M LP Start-up Costs 
 

In December 2015, OEB issued its decision on B2M LP’s application for 2015-2019 and as part of the decision approved the 
recovery of $8 million of start-up costs relating to B2M LP. The costs will be recovered over a 4 year period beginning in 
2016, in accordance with the OEB decision.  
 
OEB Cost Assessment Differential 
 

In April 2010, the OEB issued its Decision regarding Hydro One Networks’ distribution rate application for 2010 and 2011. 
As part of this decision, the OEB also approved the distribution-related OEB Cost Assessment Differential Account to record 
the difference between the amounts approved in rates and actual expenditures with respect to the OEB’s cost assessments.  In 
March 2015, the OEB approved the disposition of the OEB Cost Assessment Differential Account at December 31, 2013, 
including accrued interest, which will be recovered through the 2015-2017 Rate Rider. In addition, the OEB also approved 
Hydro One’s request to discontinue this deferral account, and there were no additions to this regulatory account in 2015.   
 
External Revenue Variance 
 

In May 2009, the OEB approved forecasted amounts related to export service revenue, external revenue from secondary land 
use, and external revenue from station maintenance and engineering and construction work. In November 2012, the OEB 
again approved forecasted amounts related to these revenue categories and extended the scope to encompass all other external 
revenues. The external revenue variance account balance reflects the excess of actual external revenues compared to the 
OEB-approved forecasted amounts.  
 
Green Energy Expenditure Variance 
 

In April 2010, the OEB requested the establishment of deferral accounts which capture the difference between the revenue 
recorded on the basis of Green Energy Plan expenditures incurred and the actual recoveries received.  
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CDM Deferral Variance Account 
 

As part of Hydro One Networks’ application for 2013 and 2014 transmission rates, Hydro One agreed to establish a new 
regulatory deferral variance account to track the impact of actual Conservation and Demand Management (CDM) and 
demand response results on the load forecast compared to the estimated load forecast included in the revenue requirement. At 
December 31, 2014, the balance in the CDM deferral variance account relates to the actual 2013 CDM compared to the 
amounts included in 2013 revenue requirement. At December 31, 2015, the balance also includes the difference between the 
actual 2014 CDM compared to the amounts included in 2014 revenue requirement. The OEB rate order specifically states 
that the IESO (Ontario Power Authority (OPA) prior to January 1, 2015) data used to calculate the difference between 
forecasted and actual savings will be provided one year in arrears, and as a result, no amount should be recorded in advance 
of notification from the IESO of actual results. 
 
PST Savings Deferral Account 
 

The provincial sales tax (PST) and goods and services tax (GST) were harmonized in July 2010. Unlike the GST, the PST 
was included in operation, maintenance and administration expenses or capital expenditures for past revenue requirements 
approved during a full cost-of-service hearing. Under the harmonized sales tax (HST) regime, the HST included in operation, 
maintenance and administration expenses or capital expenditures is not a cost ultimately borne by the Company and as such, 
a refund of the prior PST element in the approved revenue requirement is applicable, and calculations for tracking and refund 
were requested by the OEB. For Hydro One Networks’ transmission revenue requirement, PST was included between July 1, 
2010 and December 31, 2010 and recorded in a deferral account, per direction from the OEB. For Hydro One Networks’ 
distribution revenue requirement, PST was included between July 1, 2010 and December 31, 2015 and recorded in a deferral 
account, as directed by the OEB. In March 2015, the OEB approved the disposition of the PST Savings Deferral account at 
December 31, 2013, including accrued interest, which will be recovered through the 2015-2017 Rate Rider. 
 
 
12. DEBT AND CREDIT AGREEMENTS 
 
Short-Term Notes and Credit Facilities 
 

Hydro One meets its short-term liquidity requirements in part through the issuance of commercial paper under its 
Commercial Paper Program which has a maximum authorized amount of $1.5 billion. These short-term notes are 
denominated in Canadian dollars with varying maturities not exceeding 365 days. The Commercial Paper Program is 
supported by the Company’s committed revolving credit facilities totalling $2.3 billion. At December 31, 2015, Hydro One 
had $1,491 million in commercial paper borrowings outstanding (December 31, 2014 – $nil).  
 

At December 31, 2015, Hydro One’s consolidated committed, unsecured and unused credit facilities totalling $2.3 billion 
consisted of the following: 
 

(millions of Canadian dollars)  Maturity Amount 

    Revolving standby credit facility  June 2020 1,500
    Three-year senior, revolving term credit facility October 2018 800
Total  2,300
 
The Company may use the credit facilities for working capital and general corporate purposes. If used, interest on the credit 
facilities would apply based on Canadian benchmark rates. The obligation of each lender to make any credit extension under 
its credit facility is subject to various conditions including, among other things, that no event of default has occurred or would 
result from such credit extension. 
 
Long-Term Debt 
 

The Company issues notes for long-term financing under its Medium-Term Note (MTN) Program. The maximum authorized 
principal amount of notes issuable under this program is $3.5 billion. At December 31, 2015, $3.5 billion remained available 
for issuance until January 2018.  
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The following table presents the outstanding long-term debt at December 31, 2015 and 2014: 
 

December 31 (millions of Canadian dollars)  2015 2014 

2.95% Series 21 notes due 20151  – 500
Floating-rate Series 22 notes due 20152  – 50
4.64% Series 10 notes due 2016  450 450
Floating-rate Series 27 notes due 20162  50 50
5.18% Series 13 notes due 2017  600 600
2.78% Series 28 notes due 2018  750 750
Floating-rate Series 31 notes due 20192  228 228
4.40% Series 20 notes due 2020  300 300
1.62% Series 33 notes due 20201  350 –
3.20% Series 25 notes due 2022  600 600
7.35% Debentures due 2030  400 400
6.93% Series 2 notes due 2032  500 500
6.35% Series 4 notes due 2034  385 385
5.36% Series 9 notes due 2036  600 600
4.89% Series 12 notes due 2037  400 400
6.03% Series 17 notes due 2039  300 300
5.49% Series 18 notes due 2040  500 500
4.39% Series 23 notes due 2041  300 300
6.59% Series 5 notes due 2043  315 315
4.59% Series 29 notes due 2043  435 435
4.17% Series 32 notes due 2044  350 350
5.00% Series 11 notes due 2046  325 325
4.00% Series 24 notes due 2051  225 225
3.79% Series 26 notes due 2062  310 310
4.29% Series 30 notes due 2064  50 50
  8,723 8,923
Add: Unrealized mark-to-market loss1  1 2
Less: Long-term debt payable within one year  (500) (552)
  
Long-term debt  8,224 8,373
1 The unrealized mark-to-market loss relates to $50 million of the Series 33 notes due 2020 (2014 – $250 million of the Series 21 notes due 2015). The 

unrealized mark-to-market loss is offset by a $1 million (2014 – $2 million) unrealized mark-to-market gain on the related fixed-to-floating interest-rate 
swap agreements, which are accounted for as fair value hedges. See Note 13 – Fair Value of Financial Instruments and Risk Management for details of fair 
value hedges. 

2 The interest rates of the floating-rate notes are referenced to the 3-month Canadian dollar bankers’ acceptance rate, plus a margin. 

 

In 2015, Hydro One issued $350 million (2014 – $628 million) of long-term debt under the MTN Program, and repaid $550 
million of long-term debt MTN Program notes (2014 – $750 million). 
 

Long-term debt totalling $35 million assumed by Hydro One as part of the Haldimand Hydro and Woodstock Hydro 
acquisitions was repaid in 2015.  
 

The long-term debt is unsecured and denominated in Canadian dollars. The long-term debt is summarized by the number of 
years to maturity in Note 13 – Fair Value of Financial Instruments and Risk Management. 
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13. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
Fair value is considered to be the exchange price in an orderly transaction between market participants to sell an asset or 
transfer a liability at the measurement date. The fair value definition focuses on an exit price, which is the price that would be 
received in the sale of an asset or the amount that would be paid to transfer a liability.  
 

Hydro One classifies its fair value measurements based on the following hierarchy, as prescribed by the accounting guidance 
for fair value, which prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value into three levels: 
 

Level 1 inputs are unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that Hydro One has the ability 
to access. An active market for the asset or liability is one in which transactions for the asset or liability occur with sufficient 
frequency and volume to provide ongoing pricing information.  
 

Level 2 inputs are those other than quoted market prices that are observable, either directly or indirectly, for an asset or 
liability. Level 2 inputs include, but are not limited to, quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in an active market, 
quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active and inputs other than quoted market 
prices that are observable for the asset or liability, such as interest-rate curves and yield curves observable at commonly 
quoted intervals, volatilities, credit risk and default rates. A Level 2 measurement cannot have more than an insignificant 
portion of the valuation based on unobservable inputs. 
 

Level 3 inputs are any fair value measurements that include unobservable inputs for the asset or liability for more than an 
insignificant portion of the valuation. A Level 3 measurement may be based primarily on Level 2 inputs.  
 
Non-Derivative Financial Assets and Liabilities 
 

At December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Company’s carrying amounts of accounts receivable, due from related parties, cash and 
cash equivalents, bank indebtedness, short-term notes payable, accounts payable, and due to related parties are representative 
of fair value because of the short-term nature of these instruments. 
 
Fair Value Measurements of Long-Term Debt 
 

The fair values and carrying values of the Company’s long-term debt at December 31, 2015 and 2014 are as follows: 
 

December 31 (millions of Canadian dollars) 
2015

Carrying Value
2015

Fair Value
2014 

Carrying Value 
2014

Fair Value

Long-term debt  

    $250 million of MTN Series 21 notes1 – – 252 252
    $50 million of MTN Series 33 notes1 51 51 – –
    Other notes and debentures2 8,673 9,942 8,673 10,159
 8,724 9,993 8,925 10,411

1
 The fair value of the $50 million MTN Series 33 notes and $250 million of the MTN Series 21 notes subject to hedging is primarily based on changes in 
the present value of future cash flows due to a change in the yield in the swap market for the related swap (hedged risk). 

2 
The fair value of other notes and debentures, and the portion of the MTN Series 21 notes that are not subject to hedging, represents the market value of the 
notes and debentures and is based on unadjusted period-end market prices for the same or similar debt of the same remaining maturities. 

 
Fair Value Measurements of Derivative Instruments 
 

At December 31, 2015, Hydro One had an interest-rate swap in the amount of $50 million (2014 – $250 million) that was 
used to convert fixed-rate debt to floating-rate debt. This swap is classified as a fair value hedge. Hydro One’s fair value 
hedge exposure was equal to about 1% (2014 – 3%) of its total long-term debt of $8,724 million (2014 – $8,925 million). At 
December 31, 2015, Hydro One’s interest-rate swap designated as a fair value hedge was as follows: 

 a $50 million fixed-to-floating interest-rate swap agreement to convert $50 million of the $350 million MTN Series 33 
notes maturing April 30, 2020 into three-month variable rate debt. 

 

At December 31, 2015, the Company had no interest-rate swaps classified as undesignated contracts (2014 – $409 million).  
  

As part of the Norfolk Power and Woodstock Hydro acquisitions, Hydro One assumed liabilities associated with unrealized 
losses on derivative instruments (interest-rate swaps) totalling $6 million. Hydro One extinguished the interest rate swaps and 
repaid these liabilities in 2015. 
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Fair Value Hierarchy 
 

The fair value hierarchy of financial assets and liabilities at December 31, 2015 and 2014 is as follows: 
 

 
December 31, 2015 (millions of Canadian dollars) 

Carrying 
Value 

Fair 
 Value 

 
Level 1 

 
Level 2 Level 3 

Assets:  
  Cash and cash equivalents 89 89 89 – – 
  Derivative instruments      
      Fair value hedge – interest-rate swap 1 1 1 – – 
 90 90 90 – –
  

Liabilities:      
  Short-term notes payable 1,491 1,491 1,491 – – 
  Long-term debt 8,724 9,993 – 9,993 – 
     10,215 11,484 1,491 9,993

 

 
December 31, 2014 (millions of Canadian dollars) 

Carrying 
Value 

Fair 
 Value 

 
Level 1 

 
Level 2 Level 3 

Assets:  
  Cash and cash equivalents 100 100 100 – – 
  Derivative instruments      
      Fair value hedges – interest-rate swaps 2 2 – 2 – 
 102 102 100 2 –
  

Liabilities:      
  Bank indebtedness 2 2 2 – – 
  Derivative instruments      
      Undesignated contracts – interest-rate swaps 3 3 – 3 – 
  Long-term debt 8,925 10,411 – 10,411 – 
     8,930 10,416 2 10,414 –

 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash and short-term investments. The carrying values are representative of fair value 
because of the short-term nature of these instruments. 
 

The fair value of the derivative instruments is determined using inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for these 
assets. The fair value is primarily based on the present value of future cash flows using a swap yield curve to determine the 
assumptions for interest rates. 
 

The fair value of the hedged portion of the long-term debt is primarily based on the present value of future cash flows using a 
swap yield curve to determine the assumption for interest rates. The fair value of the unhedged portion of the long-term debt 
is based on unadjusted period-end market prices for the same or similar debt of the same remaining maturities. 
 

There were no significant transfers between any of the fair value levels during the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014.  
  
Risk Management 
 

Exposure to market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk arises in the normal course of the Company’s business.  
 
Market Risk 
 

Market risk refers primarily to the risk of loss that results from changes in costs, foreign exchange rates and interest rates. 
The Company is exposed to fluctuations in interest rates as its regulated return on equity is derived using a formulaic 
approach that takes into account anticipated interest rates, but is not currently exposed to material commodity price risk or 
material foreign exchange risk. 
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The OEB-approved adjustment formula for calculating return on equity in a deemed regulatory capital structure of 60% debt 
and 40% equity provides for increases and decreases depending on changes in benchmark rates of return for Government of 
Canada debt. The Company estimates that a 1% decrease in the forecasted long-term Government of Canada bond yield used 
in determining its rate of return would reduce the Company’s transmission business’ 2015 net income by approximately $20 
million (2014 – $20 million) and its distribution business’ 2015 net income by approximately $13 million (2014 – $10 
million). The Company’s net income is adversely impacted by rising interest rates as Hydro One’s maturing long-term debt is 
refinanced at market rates. Hydro One periodically utilizes interest rate swap agreements to mitigate elements of interest rate 
risk. 
 

Hydro One uses a combination of fixed and variable-rate debt to manage the mix of its debt portfolio. Hydro One also uses 
derivative financial instruments to manage interest-rate risk. Hydro One utilizes interest-rate swaps, which are typically 
designated as fair value hedges, as a means to manage its interest rate exposure to achieve a lower cost of debt. In addition, 
the Company may utilize interest-rate derivative instruments to lock in interest-rate levels in anticipation of future financing.  
 

A hypothetical 10% increase in the interest rates associated with variable-rate debt would not have resulted in a significant 
decrease in Hydro One’s net income for the years ended December 31, 2015 or 2014. 
 

Fair Value Hedges 
 

For derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges, the gain or loss on the derivative as well as 
the offsetting loss or gain on the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk are recognized in the Consolidated Statements of 
Operations and Comprehensive Income. The net unrealized loss (gain) on the hedged debt and the related interest-rate swaps 
for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 are included in financing charges as follows: 
 

Year ended December 31 (millions of Canadian dollars)  2015 2014 

Unrealized loss (gain) on hedged debt  (1) (3)
Unrealized loss (gain) on fair value interest-rate swaps  1 3
Net unrealized loss (gain)  – –
 
At December 31, 2015, Hydro One had $50 million (2014 – $250 million) of notional amounts of fair value hedges 
outstanding related to interest-rate swaps, with assets at fair value of $1 million (2014 – $2 million). During the years ended 
December 31, 2015 and 2014, there was no significant impact on the results of operations as a result of any ineffectiveness 
attributable to fair value hedges. 
 
Credit Risk 
 

Financial assets create a risk that a counterparty will fail to discharge an obligation, causing a financial loss. At December 31, 
2015 and 2014, there were no significant concentrations of credit risk with respect to any class of financial assets. The 
Company’s revenue is earned from a broad base of customers. As a result, Hydro One did not earn a significant amount of 
revenue from any single customer. At December 31, 2015 and 2014, there was no significant accounts receivable balance due 
from any single customer.  
 

At December 31, 2015, the Company’s provision for bad debts was $61 million (2014 – $66 million). Adjustments and write-
offs were determined on the basis of a review of overdue accounts, taking into consideration historical experience. At 
December 31, 2015, approximately 6% (2014 – 6%) of the Company’s net accounts receivable were aged more than 60 days. 
 

Hydro One manages its counterparty credit risk through various techniques including: entering into transactions with highly-
rated counterparties; limiting total exposure levels with individual counterparties consistent with the Company’s Board-
approved Credit Risk Policy; entering into master agreements which enable net settlement and the contractual right of offset; 
and monitoring the financial condition of counterparties. In addition to payment netting language in master agreements, the 
Company establishes credit limits, margining thresholds and collateral requirements for each counterparty. Counterparty 
credit limits are based on an internal credit review that considers a variety of factors, including the results of a scoring model, 
leverage, liquidity, profitability, credit ratings and risk management capabilities. The determination of credit exposure for a 
particular counterparty is the sum of current exposure plus the potential future exposure with that counterparty. The current 
exposure is calculated as the sum of the principal value of money market exposures and the market value of all contracts that 
have a positive mark-to-market position on the measurement date. The Company would offset the positive market values 
against negative values with the same counterparty only where permitted by the existence of a legal netting agreement such 
as an International Swap Dealers Association master agreement. The potential future exposure represents a safety margin to 
protect against future fluctuations of interest rates, currencies, equities, and commodities. It is calculated based on factors 
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developed by the Bank of International Settlements, following extensive historical analysis of random fluctuations of interest 
rates and currencies. To the extent that a counterparty’s margining thresholds are exceeded, the counterparty is required to 
post collateral with the Company as specified in each agreement. The Company monitors current and forward credit exposure 
to counterparties both on an individual and an aggregate basis. The Company’s credit risk for accounts receivable is limited 
to the carrying amounts on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.  
 

Derivative financial instruments result in exposure to credit risk since there is a risk of counterparty default. The credit 
exposure of derivative contracts, before collateral, is represented by the fair value of contracts at the reporting date. At 
December 31, 2015, the counterparty credit risk exposure on the fair value of these interest-rate swap contracts was 
$1 million (2014 – $3 million). At December 31, 2015, Hydro One’s credit exposure for all derivative instruments, and 
applicable payables and receivables, had a credit rating of investment grade, with one financial institution as the counterparty. 
 
Liquidity Risk 
 

Liquidity risk refers to the Company’s ability to meet its financial obligations as they come due. Hydro One meets its short-
term liquidity requirements using cash and cash equivalents on hand, funds from operations, the issuance of commercial 
paper, and the revolving standby facilities totaling $2.3 billion. The short-term liquidity under the Commercial Paper 
Program, and anticipated levels of funds from operations should be sufficient to fund normal operating requirements. 
 

At December 31, 2015, accounts payable and accrued liabilities in the amount of $743 million (2014 – $784 million) were 
expected to be settled in cash at their carrying amounts within the next 12 months. 
 

At December 31, 2015, Hydro One had long-term debt in the principal amount of $8,723 million (2014 – $8,923 million). 
Principal repayments and related weighted average interest rates are summarized by the number of years to maturity in the 
following table: 
 

  
Long-term Debt 

Principal Repayments 
Weighted Average

Interest Rate 

Years to Maturity  (millions of Canadian dollars) (%) 

1 year 500 4.3
2 years 600 5.2
3 years 750 2.8
4 years 228 1.2
5 years 650 2.9
 2,728 3.5
6 – 10 years 600 3.2
Over 10 years 5,395 5.4
 8,723 4.7
 
Interest payments on long-term debt are summarized by year in the following table: 
 

   Interest Payments 

Year  (millions of Canadian dollars) 

2016  397
2017  386
2018  355
2019  332
2020  322
  1,792
2021-2025  1,496
2026 +  4,080
  7,368
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14. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
 
The Company’s objectives with respect to its capital structure are to maintain effective access to capital on a long-term basis 
at reasonable rates, and to deliver appropriate financial returns. In order to ensure ongoing access to capital, the Company 
targets to maintain strong credit quality. The Company considers its capital structure to consist of shareholder’s equity, 
preferred shares, long-term debt, short-term notes payable, and cash and cash equivalents. At December 31, 2015 and 2014, 
the Company’s capital structure was as follows: 
 

December 31 (millions of Canadian dollars)   2015 2014 

Long-term debt payable within one year  500 552
Short-term notes payable  1,491 –
Less: cash and cash equivalents  89 100
  1,902 452

Long-term debt  8,224 8,373

Preferred shares  – 323

Common shares  6,000 3,314
Retained earnings  3,759 4,249
  9,759 7,563
 
Total capital 19,885 16,711
 
The Company has customary covenants typically associated with long-term debt. Among other things, Hydro One’s long-
term debt and credit facility covenants limit the permissible debt to 75% of its total capitalization, limit the ability to sell 
assets and impose a negative pledge provision, subject to customary exceptions. At December 31, 2015 and 2014, Hydro One 
was in compliance with all of these covenants and limitations. 
 
 
15. PENSION AND POST-RETIREMENT AND POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS 
 
Hydro One has a defined benefit pension plan, a supplementary pension plan, and post-retirement and post-employment 
benefit plans. The defined benefit pension plan (Pension Plan) is contributory and covers all regular employees of Hydro One 
and its subsidiaries, except employees of Haldimand Hydro and Woodstock Hydro. Employees of Haldimand Hydro and 
Woodstock Hydro participate in the OMERS Plan. The supplementary pension plan provides members of the Pension Plan 
with benefits that would have been earned and payable under the Pension Plan but for limitations imposed by the Income Tax 
Act (Canada). The supplementary pension plan obligation is included with other post-retirement and post-employment benefit 
obligations on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. 
 
The OMERS Plan 
 

Hydro One contributions to the OMERS Plan for the year ended December 31, 2015 were $2 million (2014 – $2 million). At 
December 31, 2015, Company contributions payable included in accrued liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets were 
less than $1 million (2014 – less than $1 million). Hydro One contributions do not represent more than 5% of total 
contributions to the OMERS Plan, as indicated in OMERS’ most recently available annual report for the year ended 
December 31, 2014. 
 

At December 31, 2014, the OMERS Plan was 90.8% funded, with an unfunded liability of $7.1 billion. This unfunded 
liability could result in future payments by participating employers and members. Hydro One future contributions could be 
increased substantially if other entities withdraw from the plan.  
 
Pension Plan, Post-Retirement and Post-Employment Plans 
 

The Pension Plan provides benefits based on highest three-year average pensionable earnings. For new management 
employees who commenced employment on or after January 1, 2004, and for new Society of Energy Professionals-
represented staff hired after November 17, 2005, benefits are based on highest five-year average pensionable earnings. After 
retirement, pensions are indexed to inflation.  
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Company and employee contributions to the Pension Plan are based on actuarial valuations performed at least every three 
years. Annual Pension Plan contributions for 2015 of $177 million (2014 – $174 million) were based on an actuarial 
valuation effective December 31, 2013 and the expected level of pensionable earnings. Estimated annual Pension Plan 
contributions for 2016 are approximately $180 million, based on the actuarial valuation as at December 31, 2013 and 
projected levels of pensionable earnings. Future minimum contributions beyond 2016 will be based on an actuarial valuation 
effective no later than December 31, 2016. Contributions are payable one month in arrears. All of the contributions are 
expected to be in the form of cash. 
 

Hydro One recognizes the overfunded or underfunded status of the Pension Plan, and post-retirement and post-employment 
benefit plans (Plans) as an asset or liability on its Consolidated Balance Sheets, with offsetting regulatory assets and 
liabilities as appropriate. The underfunded benefit obligations for the Plans, in the absence of regulatory accounting, would 
be recognized in AOCI. The impact of changes in assumptions used to measure pension, post-retirement and post-
employment benefit obligations is generally recognized over the expected average remaining service period of the 
employees. The measurement date for the Plans is December 31.  
 

  
Pension Benefits 

Post-Retirement and
Post-Employment Benefits 

Year ended December 31 (millions of Canadian dollars) 2015 2014 2015 2014 

Change in projected benefit obligation  
Projected benefit obligation, beginning of year 7,535 6,576 1,582 1,531
Current service cost 186 145 43 41
Interest cost 302 312 64 73
Benefits paid (334) (319) (47) (45)
Net actuarial loss (gain) (6) 821 (27) (18)
Change due to Hydro One Brampton spin-off – – (5) –
Change due to Hydro One Telecom spin-off – – (19) –
Projected benefit obligation, end of year 7,683 7,535 1,591 1,582
 
Change in plan assets  
Fair value of plan assets, beginning of year 6,299 5,731 – –
Actual return on plan assets 582 703 – –
Benefits paid (334) (319) – –
Employer contributions 177 174 – –
Employee contributions 40 35 – –
Administrative expenses (33) (25) – –
Fair value of plan assets, end of year 6,731 6,299 – –
  
Unfunded status 952 1,236 1,591 1,582
 
Hydro One presents its benefit obligations and plan assets net on its Consolidated Balance Sheets within the following line 
items: 

  
Pension Benefits 

Post-Retirement and
Post-Employment Benefits 

December 31 (millions of Canadian dollars) 2015 2014 2015 2014 

Accrued liabilities – – 50 49
Pension benefit liability 952 1,236 – –
Post-retirement and post-employment benefit liability – – 1,541 1,533
Unfunded status 952 1,236 1,591 1,582
 
The funded or unfunded status of the pension, post-retirement and post-employment benefit plans refers to the difference 
between the fair value of plan assets and the projected benefit obligations for the Plans. The funded/unfunded status changes 
over time due to several factors, including contribution levels, assumed discount rates and actual returns on plan assets. 
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The following table provides the projected benefit obligation (PBO), accumulated benefit obligation (ABO) and fair value of 
plan assets for the Pension Plan: 
 

December 31 (millions of Canadian dollars)  2015 2014 

PBO  7,683 7,535
ABO  7,020 6,887
Fair value of plan assets  6,731 6,299
 
On an ABO basis, the Pension Plan was funded at 96% at December 31, 2015 (2014 – 91%). On a PBO basis, the Pension 
Plan was funded at 88% at December 31, 2015 (2014 – 84%). The ABO differs from the PBO in that the ABO includes no 
assumption about future compensation levels. 
 
Components of Net Periodic Benefit Costs 
 

The following table provides the components of the net periodic benefit costs for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 
2014 for the Pension Plan: 
 

Year ended December 31 (millions of Canadian dollars)  2015 2014 

Current service cost, net of employee contributions  146 110
Interest cost  302 312
Expected return on plan assets, net of expenses  (406) (369)
Actuarial loss amortization  119 103
Prior service cost amortization  2 2
Net periodic benefit costs  163 158
  
Charged to results of operations1  81 81
1 

The Company follows the cash basis of accounting consistent with the inclusion of pension costs in OEB-approved rates. During the year ended 
December 31, 2015, pension costs of $177 million (2014 – $174 million) were attributed to labour, of which $81 million (2014 – $81 million) was charged 
to operations, and $96 million (2014 – $93 million) was capitalized as part of the cost of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets. 

 
The following table provides the components of the net periodic benefit costs for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 
2014 for the post-retirement and post-employment benefit plans: 
 

Year ended December 31 (millions of Canadian dollars)  2015 2014 

Current service cost, net of employee contributions  43 41
Interest cost  64 73
Actuarial loss amortization  14 18
Prior service cost amortization  – 2
Net periodic benefit costs  121 134
  
Charged to results of operations  55 62
 
Assumptions 

 

The measurement of the obligations of the Plans and the costs of providing benefits under the Plans involves various factors, 
including the development of valuation assumptions and accounting policy elections. When developing the required 
assumptions, the Company considers historical information as well as future expectations. The measurement of benefit 
obligations and costs is impacted by several assumptions including the discount rate applied to benefit obligations, the long-
term expected rate of return on plan assets, Hydro One’s expected level of contributions to the Plans, the incidence of 
mortality, the expected remaining service period of plan participants, the level of compensation and rate of compensation 
increases, employee age, length of service, and the anticipated rate of increase of health care costs, among other factors. The 
impact of changes in assumptions used to measure the obligations of the Plans is generally recognized over the expected 
average remaining service period of the plan participants. In selecting the expected rate of return on plan assets, Hydro One 
considers historical economic indicators that impact asset returns, as well as expectations regarding future long-term capital 
market performance, weighted by target asset class allocations. In general, equity securities, real estate and private equity 
investments are forecasted to have higher returns than fixed-income securities. 
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The following weighted average assumptions were used to determine the benefit obligations at December 31, 2015 and 2014: 
 

  
Pension Benefits 

Post-Retirement and
Post-Employment Benefits 

Year ended December 31 2015 2014 2015 2014 

Significant assumptions:  
    Weighted average discount rate 4.00% 4.00% 4.10% 4.00%
    Rate of compensation scale escalation (without merit) 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50%
    Rate of cost of living increase 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00%
    Rate of increase in health care cost trends1 – – 4.36% 4.36%
1 

6.38% per annum in 2016, grading down to 4.36% per annum in and after 2031 (2014 – 6.52% in 2015, grading down to 4.36% per annum in and 
after 2031) 

 
The following weighted average assumptions were used to determine the net periodic benefit costs for the years ended 
December 31, 2015 and 2014. Assumptions used to determine current year-end benefit obligations are the assumptions used 
to estimate the subsequent year’s net periodic benefit costs. 
 

Year ended December 31  2015 2014 

Pension Benefits:  
    Weighted average expected rate of return on plan assets  6.50% 6.50%
    Weighted average discount rate  4.00% 4.75%
    Rate of compensation scale escalation (without merit)  2.50% 2.50%
    Rate of cost of living increase  2.00% 2.00%
    Average remaining service life of employees (years)  13 11
  
Post-Retirement and Post-Employment Benefits:  
    Weighted average discount rate  4.00% 4.75%
    Rate of compensation scale escalation (without merit)  2.50% 2.50%
    Rate of cost of living increase  2.00% 2.00%
    Average remaining service life of employees (years)  13.8 12
    Rate of increase in health care cost trends1  4.36% 4.39%
1
 6.52% per annum in 2015, grading down to 4.36% per annum in and after 2031 (2014 – 6.81% in 2014, grading down to 4.39% per annum in and after 
2031) 

 
The discount rate used to determine the current year pension obligation and the subsequent year’s net periodic benefit costs is 
based on a yield curve approach. Under the yield curve approach, expected future benefit payments for each plan are 
discounted by a rate on a third party bond yield curve corresponding to each duration. The yield curve is based on “AA” 
long-term corporate bonds. A single discount rate is calculated that would yield the same present value as the sum of the 
discounted cash flows. 
 

The effect of a 1% change in health care cost trends on the projected benefit obligation for the post-retirement and post-
employment benefits at December 31, 2015 and 2014 is as follows: 
 

December 31 (millions of Canadian dollars)   2015 2014 

Projected benefit obligation:  
    Effect of a 1% increase in health care cost trends  252 248
    Effect of a 1% decrease in health care cost trends  (196) (193)
 
The effect of a 1% change in health care cost trends on the service cost and interest cost for the post-retirement and post-
employment benefits for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 is as follows: 
 

Year ended December 31 (millions of Canadian dollars)   2015 2014 

Service cost and interest cost:  
    Effect of a 1% increase in health care cost trends  22 23
    Effect of a 1% decrease in health care cost trends  (16) (17)
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The following approximate life expectancies were used in the mortality assumptions to determine the projected benefit 
obligations for the pension and post-retirement and post-employment plans at December 31, 2015 and 2014: 
 

December 31, 2015 December 31, 2014 

Life expectancy at 65 for a member currently at Life expectancy at 65 for a member currently at 

Age 65 Age 45 Age 65 Age 45 

Male Female Male Female Male Female Male Female 
23 25 24 26 23 25 24 26 

 
Estimated Future Benefit Payments 
 

At December 31, 2015, estimated future benefit payments to the participants of the Plans were: 

(millions of Canadian dollars) 
 

Pension Benefits 
Post-Retirement and

Post-Employment Benefits 

2016 316 53
2017 328 55
2018 339 57
2019 350 59
2020 360 61
2021 through to 2025 1,928 342
Total estimated future benefit payments through to 2025 3,621 627
 
Components of Regulatory Assets 
 

A portion of actuarial gains and losses and prior service costs is recorded within regulatory assets on Hydro One’s 
Consolidated Balance Sheets to reflect the expected regulatory inclusion of these amounts in future rates, which would 
otherwise be recorded in OCI. The following table provides the actuarial gains and losses and prior service costs recorded 
within regulatory assets: 
 

Year ended December 31 (millions of Canadian dollars)  2015 2014 

Pension Benefits:  
    Actuarial loss (gain) for the year  (181) 511
    Actuarial loss amortization  (119) (103)
    Prior service cost amortization  (2) (2)
      (302) 406
  
Post-Retirement and Post-Employment Benefits:  
    Actuarial loss (gain) for the year  (27) (18)
    Actuarial loss amortization  (14) (18)
    Prior service cost amortization  – (2)
      (41) (38)
 
The following table provides the components of regulatory assets that have not been recognized as components of net 
periodic benefit costs for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014: 
 

Year ended December 31 (millions of Canadian dollars)  2015 2014 

Pension Benefits:  
    Prior service cost  – 2
    Actuarial loss  952 1,234
      952 1,236
  
Post-Retirement and Post-Employment Benefits:  
    Actuarial loss  240 273
      240 273
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The following table provides the components of regulatory assets at December 31 that are expected to be amortized as 
components of net periodic benefit costs in the following year: 

  
Pension Benefits 

Post-Retirement and
Post-Employment Benefits 

December 31 (millions of Canadian dollars) 2015 2014 2015 2014 

    Prior service cost – 2 – –
    Actuarial loss 96 119 8 10
 96 121 8 10
 
Pension Plan Assets 
 

Investment Strategy 
 

On a regular basis, Hydro One evaluates its investment strategy to ensure that Pension Plan assets will be sufficient to pay 
Pension Plan benefits when due. As part of this ongoing evaluation, Hydro One may make changes to its targeted asset 
allocation and investment strategy. The Pension Plan is managed at a net asset level. The main objective of the Pension Plan 
is to sustain a certain level of net assets in order to meet the pension obligations of the Company. The Pension Plan fulfills its 
primary objective by adhering to specific investment policies outlined in its Summary of Investment Policies and Procedures 
(SIPP), which is reviewed and approved by the Human Resource Committee of Hydro One’s Board of Directors. The 
Company manages net assets by engaging knowledgeable external investment managers who are charged with the 
responsibility of investing existing funds and new funds (current year’s employee and employer contributions) in accordance 
with the approved SIPP. The performance of the managers is monitored through a governance structure. Increases in net 
assets are a direct result of investment income generated by investments held by the Pension Plan and contributions to the 
Pension Plan by eligible employees and by the Company. The main use of net assets is for benefit payments to eligible 
Pension Plan members.  
 
Pension Plan Asset Mix 
 

At December 31, 2015, the Pension Plan target asset allocations and weighted average asset allocations were as follows: 
 

 Target Allocation (%) Pension Plan Assets (%) 

Equity securities 55.0 58.2
Debt securities 35.0 36.4
Other1 10.0 5.4
 100.0 100.0
1
 Other investments include real estate and infrastructure investments. 

 
At December 31, 2015, the Pension Plan held $9 million Hydro One corporate bonds (2014 – $nil) and $420 million of debt 
securities of the Province (2014 – $340 million). 
 
Concentrations of Credit Risk 
 

Hydro One evaluated its Pension Plan’s asset portfolio for the existence of significant concentrations of credit risk as at 
December 31, 2015 and 2014. Concentrations that were evaluated include, but are not limited to, investment concentrations 
in a single entity, concentrations in a type of industry, and concentrations in individual funds. At December 31, 2015 and 
2014, there were no significant concentrations (defined as greater than 10% of plan assets) of risk in the Pension Plan’s 
assets. 
 

The Pension Plan manages its counterparty credit risk with respect to bonds by investing in investment-grade and 
government bonds and with respect to derivative instruments by transacting only with financial institutions rated at least 
“A+” by Standard & Poor’s Rating Services, DBRS Limited, and Fitch Ratings Inc., and “A1” by Moody’s Investors Service, 
and also by utilizing exposure limits to each counterparty and ensuring that exposure is diversified across counterparties. The 
risk of default on transactions in listed securities is considered minimal, as the trade will fail if either party to the transaction 
does not meet its obligation. 
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Fair Value Measurements 
 

The following tables present the Pension Plan assets measured and recorded at fair value on a recurring basis and their level 
within the fair value hierarchy at December 31, 2015 and 2014: 
 

December 31, 2015 (millions of Canadian dollars) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Pooled funds – 23 299 322
Cash and cash equivalents 191 – – 191
Short-term securities – 80 – 80
Real estate – – 2 2
Corporate shares – Canadian 923 – – 923
Corporate shares – Foreign 2,931 – – 2,931
Bonds and debentures – Canadian  – 2,074 – 2,074
Bonds and debentures – Foreign – 199 – 199
Total fair value of plan assets1 4,045 2,376 301 6,722
1
 At December 31, 2015, the total fair value of Pension Plan assets excludes $27 million of interest and dividends receivable, and $18 million relating to 
accruals for pension administration expense and foreign exchange contracts payable. 

 
December 31, 2014 (millions of Canadian dollars) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Pooled funds – 18 142 160
Cash and cash equivalents 166 – – 166
Short-term securities – 176 – 176
Real estate – – 2 2
Corporate shares – Canadian 1,008 – – 1,008
Corporate shares – Foreign 2,766 – – 2,766
Bonds and debentures – Canadian  – 1,799 – 1,799
Bonds and debentures – Foreign – 211 – 211
Total fair value of plan assets1 3,940 2,204 144 6,288
1
 At December 31, 2014, the total fair value of Pension Plan assets excludes $18 million of interest and dividends receivable, and $7 million relating to 
accruals for pension administration expense. 

 
See Note 13 – Fair Value of Financial Instruments and Risk Management for a description of levels within the fair value 
hierarchy. 
 
Changes in the Fair Value of Financial Instruments Classified in Level 3 
 

The following table summarizes the changes in fair value of financial instruments classified in Level 3 for the years ended 
December 31, 2015 and 2014. The Pension Plan classifies financial instruments as Level 3 when the fair value is measured 
based on at least one significant input that is not observable in the markets or due to lack of liquidity in certain markets. The 
gains and losses presented in the table below may include changes in fair value based on both observable and unobservable 
inputs. 
 

Year ended December 31 (millions of Canadian dollars)   2015 2014 

Fair value, beginning of year  144 119
Realized and unrealized gains  51 30
Purchases  106 23
Sales and disbursements  – (28)
Fair value, end of year  301 144
 
There were no significant transfers between any of the fair value levels during the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014. 
 

The Company performs sensitivity analysis for fair value measurements classified in Level 3, substituting the unobservable 
inputs with one or more reasonably possible alternative assumptions. These sensitivity analyses resulted in negligible changes 
in the fair value of financial instruments classified in this level. 
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Valuation Techniques Used to Determine Fair Value 
 

Pooled Funds 
 

The pooled fund category mainly consists of private equity, real estate and infrastructure investments. Private equity 
investments represent private equity funds that invest in operating companies that are not publicly traded on a stock 
exchange. Investment strategies in private equity include limited partnerships in businesses that are characterized by high 
internal growth and operational efficiencies, venture capital, leveraged buyouts and special situations such as distressed 
investments. Real estate and infrastructure investments represent funds that invest in real assets which are not publicly traded 
on a stock exchange. Investment strategies in real estate include limited partnerships that seek to generate a total return 
through income and capital growth by investing primarily in global and Canadian limited partnerships. Investment strategies 
in infrastructure include limited partnerships in core infrastructure assets focusing on assets that generate stable, long-term 
cash flows and deliver incremental returns relative to conventional fixed-income investments. Private equity, real estate and 
infrastructure valuations are reported by the fund manager and are based on the valuation of the underlying investments 
which includes inputs such as cost, operating results, discounted future cash flows and market-based comparable data. Since 
these valuation inputs are not highly observable, private equity and infrastructure investments have been categorized as Level 
3 within pooled funds. 
 

Cash Equivalents 
 

Demand cash deposits held with banks and cash held by the investment managers are considered cash equivalents and are 
included in the fair value measurements hierarchy as Level 1. 
 

Short-Term Securities 
 

Short-term securities are valued at cost plus accrued interest, which approximates fair value due to their short-term nature. 
Short-term securities have been categorized as Level 2. 
 

Real Estate 
 

Real estate investments represent investments in holding companies that invest in real estate properties. The investments in 
the holding companies are valued using net asset values reported by the fund manager. Real estate investments are 
categorized as Level 3.  
 

Corporate Shares 
 

Corporate shares are valued based on quoted prices in active markets and are categorized as Level 1. Investments 
denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Canadian currency at year-end rates of exchange. 
 

Bonds and Debentures 
 

Bonds and debentures are presented at published closing trade quotations, and are categorized as Level 2. 
 
 
16. ENVIRONMENTAL LIABILITIES 

 
The following tables show the movements in environmental liabilities for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014: 
 

Year ended December 31, 2015 (millions of Canadian dollars) 
 

PCB 

Land 
Assessment and 

Remediation Total 

Environmental liabilities, January 1 172 67 239
Interest accretion 8 2 10
Expenditures (8) (11) (19)
Revaluation adjustment (24) 1 (23)
Environmental liabilities, December 31 148 59 207
Less: current portion 12 10 22
 136 49 185
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Year ended December 31, 2014 (millions of Canadian dollars) 
 

PCB 

Land 
Assessment and 

Remediation Total 

Environmental liabilities, January 1 201 65 266
Interest accretion 9 2 11
Expenditures (5) (13) (18)
Revaluation adjustment (33) 13 (20)
Environmental liabilities, December 31 172 67 239
Less: current portion 8 10 18
 164 57 221
 
The following tables show the reconciliation between the undiscounted basis of the environmental liabilities and the amount 
recognized on the Consolidated Balance Sheets after factoring in the discount rate: 
 

December 31, 2015 (millions of Canadian dollars) 
 

PCB 

Land 
Assessment and 

Remediation Total 

Undiscounted environmental liabilities 168 61 229
Less: discounting accumulated liabilities to present value 20 2 22
Discounted environmental liabilities 148 59 207
 

December 31, 2014 (millions of Canadian dollars) 
 

PCB 

Land 
Assessment and 

Remediation Total 

Undiscounted environmental liabilities 195 70 265
Less: discounting accumulated liabilities to present value 23 3 26
Discounted environmental liabilities 172 67 239
 
At December 31, 2015, the estimated future environmental expenditures were as follows: 
 

(millions of Canadian dollars)  
2016  22
2017  25
2018  26
2019  28
2020  30
Thereafter  98
  229
 
Hydro One records a liability for the estimated future expenditures for land assessment and remediation and for the phase-out 
and destruction of PCB-contaminated mineral oil removed from electrical equipment when it is determined that future 
environmental remediation expenditures are probable under existing statute or regulation and the amount of the future 
expenditures can be reasonably estimated.  
 

There are uncertainties in estimating future environmental costs due to potential external events such as changes in legislation 
or regulations, and advances in remediation technologies. In determining the amounts to be recorded as environmental 
liabilities, the Company estimates the current cost of completing required work and makes assumptions as to when the future 
expenditures will actually be incurred, in order to generate future cash flow information. A long-term inflation rate 
assumption of approximately 2% has been used to express these current cost estimates as estimated future expenditures. 
Future expenditures have been discounted using factors ranging from approximately 2.0% to 6.3%, depending on the 
appropriate rate for the period when expenditures are expected to be incurred. All factors used in estimating the Company’s 
environmental liabilities represent management’s best estimates of the present value of costs required to meet existing 
legislation or regulations. However, it is reasonably possible that numbers or volumes of contaminated assets, cost estimates 
to perform work, inflation assumptions and the assumed pattern of annual cash flows may differ significantly from the 
Company’s current assumptions. In addition, with respect to the PCB environmental liability, the availability of critical 
resources such as skilled labour and replacement assets and the ability to take maintenance outages in critical facilities may 
influence the timing of expenditures. 
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PCBs 
 

The Environment Canada regulations, enacted under the Canadian Environmental Protection Act, 1999, govern the 
management, storage and disposal of PCBs based on certain criteria, including type of equipment, in-use status, and PCB-
contamination thresholds. Under current regulations, Hydro One’s PCBs have to be disposed of by the end of 2025, with the 
exception of specifically exempted equipment. Contaminated equipment will generally be replaced, or will be 
decontaminated by removing PCB-contaminated insulating oil and retro filling with replacement oil that contains PCBs in 
concentrations of less than 2 ppm. 
 

The Company’s best estimate of the total estimated future expenditures to comply with current PCB regulations is 
$168 million (2014 – $195 million). These expenditures are expected to be incurred over the period from 2016 to 2025. As a 
result of its annual review of environmental liabilities, the Company recorded a revaluation adjustment in 2015 to reduce the 
PCB environmental liability by $24 million (2014 – $33 million). 
 
Land Assessment and Remediation 
 

The Company’s best estimate of the total estimated future expenditures to complete its land assessment and remediation 
program is $61 million (2014 –$70 million). These expenditures are expected to be incurred over the period from 2016 to 
2023. As a result of its annual review of environmental liabilities, the Company recorded a revaluation adjustment in 2015 to 
increase the land assessment and remediation environmental liability by $1 million (2014 – $13 million). 
 
 
17. ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS 
 
Hydro One records a liability for the estimated future expenditures for the removal and disposal of asbestos-containing 
materials installed in some of its facilities and for the decommissioning of specific switching stations located on unowned 
sites. Asset retirement obligations, which represent legal obligations associated with the retirement of certain tangible long-
lived assets, are computed as the present value of the projected expenditures for the future retirement of specific assets and 
are recognized in the period in which the liability is incurred, if a reasonable estimate of fair value can be made. If the asset 
remains in service at the recognition date, the present value of the liability is added to the carrying amount of the associated 
asset in the period the liability is incurred and this additional carrying amount is depreciated over the remaining life of the 
asset. If an asset retirement obligation is recorded in respect of an out-of-service asset, the asset retirement cost is charged to 
results of operations. Subsequent to the initial recognition, the liability is adjusted for any revisions to the estimated future 
cash flows associated with the asset retirement obligation, which can occur due to a number of factors including, but not 
limited to, cost escalation, changes in technology applicable to the assets to be retired, changes in legislation or regulations, 
as well as for accretion of the liability due to the passage of time until the obligation is settled. Depreciation expense is 
adjusted prospectively for any increases or decreases to the carrying amount of the associated asset. 
 

In determining the amounts to be recorded as asset retirement obligations, the Company estimates the current fair value for 
completing required work and makes assumptions as to when the future expenditures will actually be incurred, in order to 
generate future cash flow information. A long-term inflation assumption of approximately 2% has been used to express these 
current cost estimates as estimated future expenditures. Future expenditures have been discounted using factors ranging from 
approximately 3.0% to 5.0%, depending on the appropriate rate for the period when expenditures are expected to be incurred. 
All factors used in estimating the Company’s asset retirement obligations represent management’s best estimates of the cost 
required to meet existing legislation or regulations. However, it is reasonably possible that numbers or volumes of 
contaminated assets, cost estimates to perform work, inflation assumptions and the assumed pattern of annual cash flows may 
differ significantly from the Company’s current assumptions. Asset retirement obligations are reviewed annually or more 
frequently if significant changes in regulations or other relevant factors occur. Estimate changes are accounted for 
prospectively. 
 

At December 31, 2015, Hydro One had recorded asset retirement obligations of $9 million (2014 – $9 million), consisting of 
$8 million (2014 – $8 million) related to the estimated future expenditures associated with the removal and disposal of 
asbestos-containing materials installed in some of its facilities, as well as $1 million (2014 – $1 million) related to the future 
decommissioning and removal of two switching stations. The amount of interest recorded is nominal.  
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18. SHARE CAPITAL 
 
Common Shares 
 

The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares. At December 31, 2015, the Company had 
142,239 common shares issued and outstanding.  
 

The amount and timing of any dividends payable by Hydro One is at the discretion of the Hydro One Board of Directors and 
is established on the basis of Hydro One’s results of operations, maintenance of its deemed regulatory capital structure, 
financial condition, cash requirements, the satisfaction of solvency tests imposed by corporate laws for the declaration and 
payment of dividends and other factors that the Board of Directors may consider relevant.  
 
Preferred Shares 
 

The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of preferred shares, issuable in series. At December 31, 2015, 
Hydro One had no issued and outstanding preferred shares.  
 

On November 2, 2015, a special resolution of Hydro One Limited (as sole shareholder of Hydro One) was made to amend the 
articles of Hydro One to delete the share ownership restrictions and to amend the Hydro One preferred share terms to provide 
for basic redeemable preferred shares. When issued, the Class A preferred shares will be redeemable at the option of the 
Company. The holders of the Class A preferred shares will be entitled to receive, if and when declared by the Hydro One 
Board of Directors, non-cumulative preferred share dividends at a rate per year to be determined by the Hydro One Board of 
Directors. The holders of the Class A preferred shares will not be entitled to receive notice of, or to attend or to vote at, any 
meeting of the shareholders of Hydro One. The holders of the Class A preferred shares will be entitled to receive, before any 
distributions to the holders of common shares and any other shares ranking junior to the Class A preferred shares, an amount 
equal to the amount paid for the Class A preferred shares together with all dividends declared and unpaid up to the date of 
liquidation, dissolution or winding up of Hydro One, or the date of redemption. 
 

Prior to October 31, 2015, the Company had 12,920,000 issued and outstanding 5.5% cumulative preferred shares held by the 
Province, with a redemption value of $25 per share or $323 million total value. These preferred shares were entitled to an 
annual cumulative dividend of $18 million, or $1.375 per share, which was payable on a quarterly basis. These preferred 
shares had conditions for their redemption that were outside the control of the Company because the Province could exercise 
its right to redeem in the event of change in ownership without approval of the Company’s Board of Directors. At December 
31, 2014, these preferred shares were classified on the Consolidated Balance Sheet as temporary equity because the redemption 
feature was outside the control of the Company. On October 31, 2015, these preferred shares were purchased and cancelled by 
Hydro One. See “Reorganization” below for further details. 
 
Reorganization 
 

Prior to the completion of the IPO, Hydro One and Hydro One Limited completed a series of transactions (Pre-IPO 
Transactions) that resulted in, among other things, on October 31, 2015, Hydro One Limited acquiring all of the issued and 
outstanding shares of Hydro One from the Province. 
 

The following table presents the common shares issued during the year ended December 31, 2015. There were no common 
shares issued during the year ended December 31, 2014. 
 

Year ended December 31, 2015 (millions of Canadian dollars) (number of shares)

 
Pre-Closing Transactions:  
    Common shares issued – purchase and cancellation of preferred shares (a) 323 2,640
Common shares issued (b) 2,600 39,598
Common shares issued (c) – 1
Total common shares issued 2,923 42,239
 
(a) As part of the Pre-Closing Transactions, on October 31, 2015, Hydro One purchased and cancelled its 12,920,000 

preferred shares previously held by the Province for cancellation at a price equal to the redemption price of the preferred 
shares totaling $323 million, which was satisfied by the issuance to the Province of 2,640 common shares of Hydro One. 

 

(b) On November 4, 2015, Hydro One issued 39,598 common shares to Hydro One Limited for proceeds of $2.6 billion.  
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(c) On November 3, 2015, Hydro One declared a stock dividend on its common shares, which due to the number of shares 
issued and the resulting effect on the price per share was treated as a stock split. On November 5, 2015, Hydro One 
effected a reverse split and issued as consideration one common share to Hydro One Limited. There was no impact to the 
capital structure of Hydro One as a net result of the stock dividend and the reverse split. 

 
 
19. DIVIDENDS 
 
In 2015, preferred share dividends in the amount of $13 million (2014 – $18 million) and common share dividends in the 
amount of $875 million (2014 – $269 million) were declared.  
 

In August 2015, Hydro One declared a dividend in-kind on its common shares payable in all of the issued and outstanding 
shares of Hydro One Brampton. See Note 4 – Business Combinations. 
 
 
20. EARNINGS PER SHARE 
 
Basic and diluted earnings per common share (EPS) is calculated by dividing net income attributable to common shareholder 
of Hydro One by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding. The weighted average number of shares 
outstanding at December 31, 2015 was 107,116 (2014 – 100,000). There were no dilutive securities during 2015 or 2014. 
 
 
21. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION 
 
The following compensation plans were established by Hydro One Limited, however they represent components of 
compensation costs of Hydro One in current and future periods. 
 
Share Grant Plans 
 

At December 31, 2015, Hydro One Limited had two share grant plans, one for the benefit of certain members of the Power 
Workers’ Union (the PWU Share Grant Plan) and one for the benefit of certain members of The Society of Energy 
Professionals (the Society Share Grant Plan). Hydro One and Hydro One Limited entered into an intercompany agreement, 
such that Hydro One will pay Hydro One Limited for the compensation costs associated with these plans. 
 

The PWU Share Grant Plan provides for the issuance of common shares of Hydro One Limited from treasury to certain 
eligible members of the Power Workers’ Union annually, commencing on April 1, 2017 and continuing until the earlier of 
April 1, 2028 or the date an eligible employee no longer meets the eligibility criteria of the PWU Share Grant Plan. To be 
eligible, an employee must be a member of the Pension Plan on April 1, 2015, be employed on the date annual share issuance 
occurs and continue to have under 35 years of service.  The requisite service period for the PWU share grant plan begins on 
July 3, 2015, which is the date the share grant plans were ratified by the PWU. The number of common shares issued 
annually to each eligible employee will be equal to 2.7% of such eligible employee’s salary as at April 1, 2015, divided by 
$20.50, being the price of the common shares of Hydro One Limited in the IPO. The aggregate number of Hydro One 
Limited common shares issuable under the PWU Share Grant Plan shall not exceed 3,981,763 common shares. In 2015, 
3,952,212 Hydro One Limited common shares were granted under the PWU Share Grant Plan relevant to the total share 
based compensation recognized by Hydro One. 
 

The Society Share Grant Plan provides for the issuance of common shares of Hydro One Limited from treasury to certain 
eligible members of The Society of Energy Professionals annually, commencing on April 1, 2018 and continuing until the 
earlier of April 1, 2029 or the date an eligible employee no longer meets the eligibility criteria of the Society Share Grant 
Plan. To be eligible, an employee must be a member of the Pension Plan on September 1, 2015, be employed on the date 
annual share issuance occurs and continue to have under 35 years of service.  Therefore the requisite service period for the 
Society Share Grant Plan begins on September 1, 2015.  The number of common shares issued annually to each eligible 
employee will be equal to 2.0% of such eligible employee’s salary as at September 1, 2015, divided by $20.50, being the 
price of the common shares of Hydro One Limited in the IPO. The aggregate number of Hydro One Limited common shares 
issuable under the Society Share Grant Plan shall not exceed 1,434,686 common shares. In 2015, 1,367,158 Hydro One 
Limited common shares were granted under the Society Share Grant Plan relevant to the total share based compensation 
recognized by Hydro One. 



HYDRO ONE INC. 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 
 
 

45 
 

 

The fair value of the Hydro One Limited share grants is estimated based on the grant date Hydro One Limited share price of 
$20.50 and is recognized using the graded-vesting attribution method as the share grant plans have both a performance 
condition and a service condition.  Total fair value of shares granted in 2015 is $111 million (2014 – $nil).  Total share based 
compensation recognized during 2015 was $10 million (2014 – $nil) and was recorded as a regulatory asset. The historical 
turnover rate relating to members of the Power Workers’ Union and The Society of Energy Professionals is not believed to be 
reflective of a future turnover rate due to benefits conferred by the share grant plans. At December 31, 2015 the Company 
expects all eligible employees to receive the share grants until such time that they no longer meet the eligibility criteria and 
therefore, a forfeiture rate of 0% is assumed in amounts recognized during 2015. The Company will reevaluate this 
assumption in subsequent periods based on actual experience. 
 

A summary of share grant activity under the Plan as of December 31, 2015 is presented below: 
 

Years ended December 31, 2015  
 Share Grants 

(Number) 
Weighted-Average 

Price 

Outstanding – beginning of year – –
    Granted (non-vested) 5,319,370 $20.50
Outstanding – end of year 5,319,370 –
 
Directors’ DSU Plan 
 

Under the Directors’ DSU Plan, directors can elect to receive credit for their annual cash retainer in a notional account of 
DSUs in lieu of cash. Hydro One Limited’s Board of Directors may also determine from time to time that special 
circumstances exist that would reasonably justify the grant of DSUs to a director as compensation in addition to any regular 
retainer or fee to which the director is entitled.  
 

Each DSU represents a unit with an underlying value equivalent to the value of one common share of Hydro One Limited 
and is entitled to accrue Hydro One Limited common share dividend equivalents in the form of additional DSUs at the time 
dividends are paid, subsequent to declaration by Hydro One Limited’s Board of Directors. 
 

(number of DSUs)   2015 2014 

DSUs outstanding – January 1  – –
DSUs granted  20,525 –
DSUs outstanding – December 31  20,525 –
 
For the year ended December 31, 2015, an expense of less than $1 million (2014 – $nil) was recognized in earnings with 
respect to the DSU Plan. At December 31, 2015, a liability of less than $1 million (December 31, 2014 – $nil) related to 
outstanding DSUs has been recorded at the closing price of Hydro One Limited’s common shares of $22.29 and is included 
in accrued liabilities on the Balance Sheet. 
 
Employee Share Ownership Plan  
 

Effective December 15, 2015, Hydro One Limited established an Employee Share Ownership Plan (ESOP). Under the ESOP, 
certain eligible management and non-represented employees may contribute between 1% and 6% of their base salary towards 
purchasing common shares of Hydro One Limited. The Company will match 50% of the employee’s contributions, up to a 
maximum Company contribution of $25,000 per calendar year. No contributions were made under the ESOP during 2015. 
 
Long-term Incentive Plan 
 

Effective August 31, 2015, the Board of Directors of Hydro One Limited adopted a Long-term Incentive Plan (LTIP). Under 
the LTIP, long-term incentives will be granted to certain executive and management employees of Hydro One Limited and its 
subsidiaries, and all equity-based awards will be settled in newly-issued shares of Hydro One Limited from treasury, 
consistent with the provisions of the plan. The aggregate number of shares issuable under the LTIP shall not exceed 
11,900,000 shares of Hydro One Limited. 
 

The LTIP provides flexibility to award a range of vehicles, including restricted share units, performance share units, stock 
options, share appreciation rights, restricted shares, deferred share units and other share-based awards. The mix of vehicles is 
intended to vary by role to recognize the level of executive accountability for overall business performance. No long-term 
incentives were awarded during 2015.  
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22. NONCONTROLLING INTEREST  
 

On December 16, 2014, the relevant Bruce to Milton Line transmission assets totalling $526 million were transferred from 
Hydro One Networks to B2M LP. This was financed by 60% debt ($316 million) and 40% equity ($210 million). On 
December 17, 2014, the Saugeen Ojibway Nation (SON) acquired a 34.2% equity interest in B2M LP for consideration of 
$72 million, representing the fair value of the equity interest acquired. The SON’s initial investment in B2M LP consists of 
$50 million of Class A units and $22 million of Class B units. 

 

The Class B units have a mandatory put option which requires that upon the occurrence of an enforcement event (i.e. an event of 
default such as a debt default by the SON or insolvency event), Hydro One purchase the Class B units of B2M LP for net book 
value on the redemption date. The noncontrolling interest relating to the Class B units is classified on the Consolidated Balance 
Sheet as temporary equity because the redemption feature is outside the control of the Company. The balance of the 
noncontrolling interest is classified within equity.  
 

The following tables show the movements in noncontrolling interest for the years ended December 31, 2015 and December 
31, 2014: 
 
Year ended December 31, 2015 (millions of Canadian dollars) 

Temporary 
Equity Equity Total 

Noncontrolling interest – January 1, 2015 21 49 70
Distributions to noncontrolling interest (1) (4) (5)
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest 3 7 10
Noncontrolling interest – December 31, 2015 23 52 75
 
 
Year ended December 31, 2014 (millions of Canadian dollars) 

Temporary 
Equity Equity Total 

Noncontrolling interest – January 1, 2014 – – –
Amount contributed by noncontrolling interest 22 50 72
Net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interest (1) (1) (2)
Noncontrolling interest – December 31, 2014 21 49 70
 
 
23. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
Hydro One is owned by Hydro One Limited. The Province is the majority shareholder of Hydro One Limited. The OEFC, 
IESO, Ontario Power Generation Inc. (OPG), the OEB, Hydro One Brampton and Hydro One Telecom are related parties to 
Hydro One because they are controlled or significantly influenced by the Province or by Hydro One Limited. Effective 
January 1, 2015, the OPA and IESO have merged and are now operating as IESO. 
 
The Province 

 During 2015, Hydro One paid dividends to the Province totalling $888 million (2014 – $287 million). In addition, on 
August 31, 2015, Hydro One declared a dividend in-kind on its common shares payable in all of the issued and 
outstanding shares of Hydro One Brampton. See Note 4 – Business Combinations. 

 
IESO 

 In 2015, Hydro One purchased power in the amount of $2,318 million (2014 – $2,601 million) from the IESO-
administered electricity market. 

 Hydro One receives revenues for transmission services from the IESO, based on OEB-approved uniform transmission 
rates. Transmission revenues for 2015 include $1,548 million (2014 – $1,556 million) related to these services.  

 Hydro One receives amounts for rural rate protection from the IESO. Distribution revenues for 2015 include $127 million 
(2014 – $127 million) related to this program.  

 Hydro One also receives revenues related to the supply of electricity to remote northern communities from the IESO. 
Distribution revenues for 2015 include $32 million (2014 – $32 million) related to these services. 

 The IESO (OPA prior to January 1, 2015) funds substantially all of the Company’s CDM programs. The funding includes 
program costs, incentives, and management fees. During 2015, Hydro One received $70 million (2014 – $33 million) 
related to these programs.  
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OPG 

 In 2015, Hydro One purchased power in the amount of $11 million (2014 – $23 million) from OPG. 

 Hydro One has service level agreements with OPG. These services include field, engineering, logistics and 
telecommunications services. In 2015, revenues related to the provision of construction and equipment maintenance 
services with respect to these service level agreements were $7 million (2014 – $12 million), primarily for the 
Transmission Business. Operation, maintenance and administration costs in 2015 and 2014 related to the purchase of 
services with respect to these service level agreements were not significant. 

 
OEFC 

 In 2015, Hydro One made PILs to the OEFC totalling $2.9 billion (2014 – $86 million), including Departure Tax of $2.6 
billion (2014 – $nil). 

 In 2015, Hydro One purchased power in the amount of $6 million (2014 – $9 million) from power contracts administered 
by the OEFC.  

 During 2015, Hydro One paid a $8 million (2014 – $5 million) fee to the OEFC for indemnification against adverse 
claims in excess of $10 million paid by the OEFC with respect to certain of Ontario Hydro’s businesses transferred to 
Hydro One on April 1, 1999. Hydro One has not made any claims under the indemnity since it was put in place in 1999. 
Hydro One and the OEFC, with the consent of the Minister of Finance, terminated the indemnity fee effective October 31, 
2015. 

 PILs and payments in lieu of property taxes were paid to the OEFC. 
 
OEB 

 Under the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998, the OEB is required to recover all of its annual operating costs from gas and 
electricity distributors and transmitters. In 2015, Hydro One incurred $12 million (2014 – $12 million) in OEB fees. 

 
Hydro One Brampton 

 Effective August 31, 2015, Hydro One Brampton is no longer a subsidiary of Hydro One, but is indirectly owned by the 
Province. For change in ownership of Hydro One Brampton, see Note 4 – Business Combinations. 

 Subsequent to August 31, 2015, Hydro One continues to provide certain management, administrative and smart meter 
network services to Hydro One Brampton pursuant to certain service level agreements, which are provided at market 
rates. These agreements will continue until the end of 2016 (except in the case of smart meter network services, which 
will continue until the end of 2017). Hydro One Brampton has the right to renew these agreements (other than smart 
meter network services) for additional one-year terms to end no later than December 31, 2019. Additionally, on August 
31, 2015, Hydro One and Hydro One Brampton entered into a license agreement which permits Hydro One Brampton to 
use the “Hydro One” name and related licensed marks. These agreements will terminate if the Province disposes of its 
interest in Hydro One Brampton, except in the case of the smart meter network services agreement, which is anticipated 
to continue for a transition period after the Province disposes of its interest in Hydro One Brampton. During 2015, 
revenues related to the provision of services with respect to these service level agreements were $1 million. 

 
Hydro One Telecom 

 Effective November 6, 2015, Hydro One Telecom is no longer a subsidiary of Hydro One, but is owned by Hydro One 
Limited. For change in ownership of Hydro One Telecom, see Note 4 – Business Combinations. 

 Subsequent to November 6, 2015, Hydro One Telecom continues to provide certain network and carrier management, 
engineering, and Internet/LAN services to Hydro One. Costs relating to these services in 2015 were $6 million, of which 
$4 million was charged to OM&A, and $2 million was capitalized. In addition, Hydro One provides certain services to 
Hydro One Telecom, including management, corporate functions and services, supply management, network 
maintenance, customer support and asset construction. Revenues related to these services in 2015 were not significant. 

 
Hydro One Limited 

 During 2015, Hydro One incurred certain IPO related expenses totaling $7 million (2014 – $nil) which will be reimbursed 
to the Company by Hydro One Limited. 

 On November 4, 2015, Hydro One issued 39,598 common shares to Hydro One Limited for proceeds of $2.6 billion.  
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 In 2015, Hydro One Limited established certain stock-based compensation plans, however they represent components of 
costs of Hydro One in current and future periods. Hydro One and Hydro One Limited entered into an intercompany 
agreement, such that Hydro One will pay Hydro One Limited for the compensation costs associated with the share grant 
plans, and at December 31, 2015, Hydro One had a payable of $10 million (2014 – $nil) to Hydro One Limited associated 
with these plans. See Note 21 – Stock-based Compensation. 

 

Sales to and purchases from related parties occur at normal market prices or at a proxy for fair value based on the 
requirements of the OEB’s Affiliate Relationships Code. Outstanding balances at period end are interest free and settled in 
cash.  
 

The amounts due to and from related parties as a result of the transactions referred to above are as follows:  
 

 
(millions of Canadian dollars)  

December 31, 
2015 

December 31, 
2014 

Due from related parties 184 224
Due to related parties1  (142) (227)
1 Included in due to related parties at December 31, 2015 are amounts owing to the IESO in respect of power purchases of $134 million (2014 – $214 million).  
 

 
24. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
 
The changes in non-cash balances related to operations consist of the following: 
 

Year ended December 31 (millions of Canadian dollars)  2015 2014 

Accounts receivable  244 (93)
Due from related parties  40 (27)
Materials and supplies  2 –
Prepaid expenses and other assets  12 (13)
Accounts payable  (26) 39
Accrued liabilities  (27) (35)
Due to related parties  (95) (3)
Accrued interest  (4) –
Long-term accounts payable and other liabilities  – (3)
Post-retirement and post-employment benefit liability  41 80
  187 (55)
 
Capital Expenditures 
 

The following table illustrates the reconciliation between investments in property, plant and equipment and the amount 
presented in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows after accounting for capitalized depreciation and the net change in 
related accruals: 
 
Year ended December 31 (millions of Canadian dollars)  2015 2014 

Capital investments in property, plant and equipment  (1,622) (1,511)
Capitalized depreciation and net change in accruals included in capital investments 
    in property, plant and equipment 28 30
Capital expenditures – property, plant and equipment  (1,594) (1,481)
 
The following table illustrates the reconciliation between investments in intangible assets and the amount presented in the 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows after accounting for the net change in related accruals: 
 

Year ended December 31 (millions of Canadian dollars)  2015 2014 

Capital investments in intangible assets  (40) (19)
Net change in accruals included in capital investments in intangible assets  3 (4)
Capital expenditures – intangible assets  (37) (23)
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Capital Contributions 
 

Hydro One enters into contracts governed by the OEB Transmission System Code when a transmission customer requests a 
new or upgraded transmission connection. The customer is required to make a capital contribution to Hydro One based on the 
shortfall between the present value of the costs of the connection facility and the present value of revenues. The present value 
of revenues is based on an estimate of load forecast for the period of the contract with Hydro One. Once the connection 
facility is commissioned, in accordance with the OEB Transmission System Code, Hydro One will periodically reassess the 
estimated of load forecast which will lead to a decrease, or an increase in the capital contributions from the customer. The 
increase or decrease in capital contributions is recorded directly to fixed assets in service. In 2015, capital contributions from 
these reassessments totalled $62 million, which represents the difference between the revised load forecast of electricity 
transmitted compared to the load forecast in the original contract, subject to certain adjustments. No reassessments occurred 
in 2014. 
 
Supplementary Information 
 

Year ended December 31 (millions of Canadian dollars)  2015 2014 

Net interest paid  416 412
Income taxes / PILs paid  2,928 86
 
 
25. CONTINGENCIES 
 
Legal Proceedings 
 

Hydro One is involved in various lawsuits, claims and regulatory proceedings in the normal course of business. In the 
opinion of management, the outcome of such matters will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated 
financial position, results of operations or cash flows.  
 

In September 2015, Hydro One and three of its subsidiaries were served with a class action suit in which the representative 
plaintiff is seeking up to $125 million in damages related to allegations of improper billing practices. Hydro One intends to 
defend the action. Due to the preliminary stage of legal proceedings, an estimate of a possible loss related to this claim cannot 
be made. 
 
Transfer of Assets 
 

The transfer orders by which the Company acquired certain of Ontario Hydro’s businesses as of April 1, 1999 did not transfer 
title to some assets located on Reserves (as defined in the Indian Act (Canada)). Currently, the OEFC holds these assets. 
Under the terms of the transfer orders, the Company is required to manage these assets until it has obtained all consents 
necessary to complete the transfer of title of these assets to itself. The Company cannot predict the aggregate amount that it 
may have to pay, either on an annual or one-time basis, to obtain the required consents. In 2015, the Company paid 
approximately $1 million (2014 – $1 million) in respect of consents obtained. If the Company cannot obtain the required 
consents, the OEFC will continue to hold these assets for an indefinite period of time. If the Company cannot reach a 
satisfactory settlement, it may have to relocate these assets to other locations at a cost that could be substantial or, in a limited 
number of cases, to abandon a line and replace it with diesel-generation facilities. The costs relating to these assets could 
have a material adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations if the Company is not able to recover them in future 
rate orders.  
 
 
26. COMMITMENTS 
 
Outsourcing Agreements 
 

Inergi LP (Inergi), an affiliate of Capgemini Canada Inc., provides services to Hydro One, including settlements, source to 
pay services, pay operations services, information technology, finance and accounting services. The agreement with Inergi 
for these services expires in December 2019. In addition, Inergi provides customer service operations outsourcing services to 
Hydro One. The agreement for these services expires in February 2018. 
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Brookfield Global Integrated Solutions (formerly Brookfield Johnson Controls Canada LP) (Brookfield) provides services to 
Hydro One, including facilities management and execution of certain capital projects as deemed required by the Company. 
The current agreement with Brookfield expires in December 2024. 
 

At December 31, 2015, the annual commitments under the outsourcing agreements were as follows: 2016 – $167 million; 
2017 – $138 million; 2018 – $106 million; 2019 – $99 million; 2020 – $2 million; and thereafter – $11 million. 
 
Trilliant Agreement 
 

In December 2015, Hydro One entered into an agreement with Trilliant Holdings Inc. and Trilliant Networks (Canada) Inc. 
(Trilliant) for the supply, maintenance and support services for smart meters and related hardware and software, including 
additional software licenses, as well as certain professional services. This agreement is for a term of ten years, from 
December 31, 2015 to December 31, 2025, with the option to renew for an additional term of five years at Hydro One’s sole 
discretion.  At December 31, 2015, the annual commitments under the agreement were as follows: 2016 – $17 million; 2017 
– $17 million; 2018 – $17 million; 2019 – $17 million; 2020 – $16 million; and thereafter – $6 million. 
 
Prudential Support 
 

Purchasers of electricity in Ontario, through the IESO, are required to provide security to mitigate the risk of their default 
based on their expected activity in the market. As at December 31, 2015, Hydro One provided prudential support to the IESO 
on behalf of its subsidiaries using parental guarantees of $329 million (2014 – $330 million), and on behalf of a distributor 
using guarantees of $1 million (2014 – $1 million). In addition, as at December 31, 2015, Hydro One has provided letters of 
credit in the amount of $15 million (2014 – $8 million) to the IESO. The IESO could draw on these guarantees and/or letters 
of credit if these subsidiaries or distributor fail to make a payment required by a default notice issued by the IESO. The 
maximum potential payment is the face value of any letters of credit plus the amount of the parental guarantees.  
 
Retirement Compensation Arrangements 
 

Bank letters of credit have been issued to provide security for the Company’s liability under the terms of a trust fund 
established pursuant to the supplementary pension plan for eligible employees of Hydro One. The supplementary pension 
plan trustee is required to draw upon these letters of credit if Hydro One is in default of its obligations under the terms of this 
plan. Such obligations include the requirement to provide the trustee with an annual actuarial report as well as letters of credit 
sufficient to secure the Company’s liability under the plan, to pay benefits payable under the plan and to pay the letter of 
credit fee. The maximum potential payment is the face value of the letters of credit. At December 31, 2015, Hydro One had 
letters of credit of $139 million (2014 – $126 million) outstanding relating to retirement compensation arrangements. 
 
Operating Leases 
 

Hydro One is committed as lessee to irrevocable operating lease contracts for buildings used in administrative and service-
related functions. These leases have typical terms of between three and five years, but several leases have lesser or greater 
terms to address special circumstances and/or opportunities. Renewal options, which are generally prevalent in most leases, 
have similar terms of three to five years. All leases include a clause to enable upward revision of the rental charge on an 
annual basis or on renewal according to prevailing market conditions or pre-established rents. There are no restrictions placed 
upon Hydro One by entering into these leases.  
 

During the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company made lease payments totaling $6 million (2014 – $11 million). At 
December 31, 2015, the future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases were as follows; 2016 –
$10 million; 2017 – $9 million; 2018 – $7 million; 2019 – $2 million; 2020 – $7 million; and thereafter – $3 million. 
 
 
27. SEGMENTED REPORTING 
 
Hydro One has three reportable segments:  

 The Transmission Business, which comprises the core business of transmitting high voltage electricity across the 
province, interconnecting more than 70 local distribution companies and certain large directly connected industrial 
customers throughout the Ontario electricity grid;  

 The Distribution Business, which comprises the core business of delivering electricity to end customers and certain other 
municipal electricity distributors; and 
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 Other Business, which includes certain corporate activities, and the operations of the Company’s telecommunications 
business up to November 6, 2015. See Note 4 – Business Combinations for details of Hydro One Telecom spin-off. 

 

The designation of segments has been based on a combination of regulatory status and the nature of the products and services 
provided. Operating segments of the Company are determined based on information used by the chief operating decision 
maker in deciding how to allocate resources and evaluate the performance of each of the segments. The Company evaluates 
segment performance based on income before financing charges and income taxes from continuing operations (excluding 
certain allocated corporate governance costs).  
 

The accounting policies followed by the segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting 
policies (see Note 2 – Significant Accounting Policies). Segment information on the above basis is as follows: 
 

Year ended December 31, 2015 (millions of Canadian dollars) Transmission Distribution Other Consolidated 

Revenues 1,536 4,949 44 6,529
Purchased power – 3,450 – 3,450
Operation, maintenance and administration 426 633 71 1,130
Depreciation and amortization 374 380 3 757
Income (loss) before financing charges and income taxes 736 486 (30) 1,192
  
Capital investments 943 711 8 1,662
 
Year ended December 31, 2014 (millions of Canadian dollars) Transmission Distribution Other Consolidated 

Revenues 1,588 4,903 57 6,548
Purchased power – 3,419 – 3,419
Operation, maintenance and administration 394 742 56 1,192
Depreciation and amortization 346 367 9 722
Income (loss) before financing charges and income taxes 848 375 (8) 1,215
  
Capital investments 845 680 5 1,530
 
Total Assets by Segment: 
 

December 31 (millions of Canadian dollars)   2015 2014 

Transmission  12,066 12,540
Distribution  9,213 9,805
Other  2,924 205
Total assets  24,203 22,550
 
All revenues, costs and assets, as the case may be, are earned, incurred or held in Canada.  
 
 
28. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 
Dividends and Return of Stated Capital 
 

On February 11, 2016, common share dividends in the amount of $2 million were declared, and a return of stated capital in 
the amount of $225 million was approved. 
 
Great Lakes Power Transmission Purchase Agreement 
 

On January 28, 2016, Hydro One reached an agreement to acquire from Brookfield Infrastructure various entities that own 
and control Great Lakes Power Transmission LP, an Ontario regulated electricity transmission business operating along the 
eastern shore of Lake Superior, north and east of Sault Ste. Marie, Ontario, for $222 million in cash, subject to customary 
adjustments, plus the assumption of approximately $151 million in outstanding indebtedness. The acquisition is pending a 
Competition Act approval as well as regulatory approval from the OEB. 
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To the Directors of Hydro One Networks Inc. 

We have audited the accompanying carve-out financial statements of the Transmission Business (a business of Hydro One 
Networks Inc.), which comprise the carve-out balance sheet as at December 31, 2015, the carve-out statements of operations 
and comprehensive income, and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, comprising a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information. The carve-out financial statements have been prepared by 
management in accordance with the basis of accounting in Note 2 to the carve-out financial statements.  

Management’s Responsibility for the Carve-out Financial Statements 

Management of Hydro One Networks Inc. is responsible for the preparation of these carve-out financial statements in 
accordance with the basis of accounting in Note 2 to the carve-out financial statements; this includes determining that the 
basis of accounting is an acceptable basis for the preparation of these carve-out financial statements in the circumstances, and 
for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of carve-out financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these carve-out financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our 
audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with 
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the carve-out financial 
statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the carve-out 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the carve-out financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we 
consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of the carve-out financial statements in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the carve-out 
financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the carve-out financial statements as at and for the year ended December 31, 2015 are prepared, in all material 
respects, in accordance with the basis of accounting in Note 2 to the carve-out financial statements. 

Basis of Accounting and Restriction of Use 

Without modifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 2 to the carve-out financial statements, which describes the basis 
of preparation used in these carve-out financial statements. In particular, in preparing the carve-out financial statements, long-
term debt, shared functions and service costs, income taxes have been allocated to the Transmission Business (a business of 
Hydro One Networks Inc.) using the method of allocation described in Note 2 to the carve-out financial statements. As a 
result, the carve-out financial statements may not necessarily be identical to the balance sheet, results of operations and cash 
flows that would have resulted had the Transmission Business (a business of Hydro One Networks Inc.) historically operated 
on a stand-alone basis. The carve-out financial statements are prepared to assist Hydro One Networks Inc. to comply with its 
reporting requirements of the Ontario Energy Board. As a result, the carve-out financial statements may not be suitable for 
another purpose.  

Our report is intended solely for the Directors of Hydro One Networks Inc. and the Ontario Energy Board and should not be 
used by parties other than Hydro One Networks Inc. or the Ontario Energy Board. 

 
 
 
 
Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants  
 
Toronto, Canada 
April 26, 2016 
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Year ended December 31 (millions of Canadian dollars)  2015 2014 

Revenues    
Transmission tariff (Note 18) 
 

 1,456 1,549
Other  35 38
  1,491 1,587
  
Costs  
Operation, maintenance and administration (Note 18)  442 400
Depreciation and amortization (Note 4)  366 346

   808 746
 

Income before financing charges and income taxes  683 841
Financing charges (Notes 5, 18)  216 222

 
Income before income taxes  467 619
Income taxes (Notes 6, 18)  64 87
Net income  403 532
  
Other comprehensive income  – –
Comprehensive income   403 532
  
See accompanying notes to Financial Statements. 
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December 31 (millions of Canadian dollars)  2015 2014 

Assets   
Current assets:  
    Inter-company demand facility (Notes 11, 12, 18)  – 234
    Accounts receivable (net of allowance for doubtful accounts – $1; 2014 – $1) (Notes 18) 148 178
    Materials and supplies  11 13
    Regulatory assets (Note 9)  5 18
   Deferred income tax assets (Note 6)  8 10
   Derivative instruments (Note 11)  – 1
    Other  9 8
  181 462
Property, plant and equipment (Note 7):  
   Property, plant and equipment in service  15,055 14,467
    Less: accumulated depreciation  5,489 5,202

 9,566 9,265
    Construction in progress  887 667
    Future use land, components and spares  96 94
  10,549 10,026
Other long-term assets:  
    Regulatory assets (Note 9)  1,174 1,106
    Intangible assets (net of accumulated amortization – $132; 2014 – $123) (Note 8)  107 107
    Deferred debt costs  20 22
    Other  2 2
  1,303 1,237
Total assets  12,033 11,725
 
See accompanying notes to Financial Statements. 
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December 31 (millions of Canadian dollars)  2015 2014 

Liabilities   
Current liabilities:  
    Inter-company demand facility (Notes 11, 12, 18)  749 –
    Accounts payable   86 85
    Accrued liabilities (Notes 6, 13, 14, 18)  196 166
    Accrued interest (Note 18)  58 60
    Regulatory liabilities (Note 9)  9 32
    Long-term debt payable within one year (Notes 10, 11, 12, 18)  300 331
  1,398 674
  
Long-term debt (Notes 10, 11, 12, 18)  4,686 4,986
Other long-term liabilities:  
   Post-retirement and post-employment benefit liability (Note 13)  662 649
    Deferred income tax liabilities (Note 6)  910 874
    Regulatory liabilities (Note 9)  146 58
    Environmental liabilities (Note 14)  77 86
    Net unamortized debt premiums  8 9
    Asset retirement obligations (Note 15)  4 4
    Long-term accounts payable and other liabilities      17 13
  1,824 1,693
Total liabilities  7,908 7,353
  
Contingencies and commitments (Notes 20, 21)  
Subsequent Events (Note 22)  
  
Excess of assets over liabilities (Notes 12, 16)  4,125 4,372
Total liabilities and excess of assets over liabilities  12,033 11,725
 
See accompanying notes to Financial Statements. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
On behalf of the Board of Directors: 
 
 
 
 
   
 George Cooke Mayo Schmidt 
            Director                                                                       Director        
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Year ended December 31 (millions of Canadian dollars)  2015 2014 

Operating activities  
Net income  403 532
Environmental expenditures  (7) (6)
Adjustments for non-cash items:  

Depreciation and amortization (excluding removal costs)  336 319
Regulatory assets and liabilities  54 1
Deferred income taxes  (32) 1
Other  21 (2)

Changes in non-cash balances related to operations (Note 19)  63 26
Net cash from operating activities  838 871
  
Financing activities  
Long-term debt issued  – 365
Long-term debt retired  (330) (325)
Payments to Hydro One Inc. to finance dividends  (625) (685)
Other  – (2)
Net cash used in financing activities  (955) (647)
  
Investing activities  
Capital expenditures (Note 19)  

Property, plant and equipment  (925) (834)
Intangible assets  (8) (4)

Capital contributions received (Note 19)  69 –
Proceeds from transfer of assets  – 526
Other  (2) (3)
Net cash used in investing activities  (866) (315)
  
Net change in inter-company demand facility  (983) (91)
Inter-company demand facility, beginning of year  234 325
Inter-company demand facility, end of year  (749) 234
 
See accompanying notes to Financial Statements. 
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1. DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS 
 
Hydro One Inc. (Hydro One) was incorporated on December 1, 1998, under the Business Corporations Act (Ontario) and was 
wholly owned by the Province of Ontario (the Province) until October 31, 2015. On October 31, 2015, Hydro One Limited, a 
wholly owned subsidiary of the Province, acquired all issued and outstanding shares of Hydro One from the Province. The 
principal businesses of Hydro One are the transmission and distribution of electricity to customers within Ontario. 
 

Hydro One Networks Inc. (Hydro One Networks or the Company) was incorporated on March 4, 1999 under the Business 
Corporations Act (Ontario) and is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Hydro One. The Company owns and operates Hydro One’s 
regulated transmission and distribution businesses. The regulated transmission business (Transmission Business) operates a 
high-voltage electrical transmission network that represents almost all of the licensed transmission capacity in Ontario. The 
Transmission Business is regulated by the Ontario Energy Board (OEB). 
 
 
2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Basis of Accounting 
 

These Financial Statements are prepared and presented in accordance with the accounting policies summarized below and in 
Canadian dollars. These policies are consistent with United States (US) Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP). 
These Financial Statements have been prepared for the specific use of the OEB. Consolidated Financial Statements of Hydro 
One for the year ended December 31, 2015 have been prepared and are publicly available. 
 

These Financial Statements have been prepared on a carve-out basis to provide the financial position, results of operations and 
cash flows of the Company’s regulated Transmission Business on a basis approved by the OEB. The Financial Statements are 
considered by management to be a reasonable representation, prepared on a rational, systematic and consistent basis, of the 
financial results of the Company’s Transmission Business. As a result of this basis of accounting, these Financial Statements 
may not necessarily be identical to the financial position and results of operations that would have resulted had the Transmission 
Business historically operated on a stand-alone basis.   
 

The Financial Statements have been constructed primarily through specific identification of assets, liabilities (other than debt), 
revenues and expenses that relate to the Transmission Business. The Company’s long-term debt is allocated based on the 
respective borrowing requirements of the Company’s transmission and distribution businesses. A portion of the Company’s 
shared functions and services costs is allocated to the Transmission Business on a fully allocated-cost basis, consistent with 
OEB-approved independent studies. Income tax expense has been recorded at effective rates based on income taxes as reported 
in the Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income as though the Transmission Business was a separate taxpaying 
entity. However, income taxes paid and the deferred tax asset recognized by the Company in relation to the Company losing its 
exemption from tax under the Federal Tax Regime have been excluded as they represent transactions that are not included in the 
rate-setting process of the Transmission Business. Certain other amounts presented in these Financial Statements represent 
allocations subject to review and approval by the OEB. 
 

Hydro One Networks performed an evaluation of subsequent events through to April 26, 2016, the date these Financial 
Statements were available to be issued, to determine whether any events or transactions warranted recognition and disclosure in 
these financial statements. See Note 22 – Subsequent Events. 
 
Use of Management Estimates 
 

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, gains 
and losses during the reporting periods. Management evaluates these estimates on an ongoing basis based upon historical 
experience, current conditions, and assumptions believed to be reasonable at the time the assumptions are made, with any 
adjustments being recognized in results of operations in the period they arise. Significant estimates relate to regulatory assets 
and regulatory liabilities, environmental liabilities, post-retirement and post-employment benefits, asset retirement 
obligations (AROs), asset impairments, contingencies, unbilled revenues, allowance for doubtful accounts, derivative 
instruments, and deferred income tax assets and liabilities. Actual results may differ significantly from these estimates, which 
may be impacted by future decisions made by the OEB. 
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Rate Setting 
 

The OEB has approved the use of US GAAP for rate setting and regulatory accounting and reporting by Hydro One 
Networks’ Transmission Business. 
 

On January 8, 2015, pursuant to an application filed with the OEB, the OEB approved the 2015 Hydro One transmission rates 
revenue requirement of $1,477 million. 
 
Regulatory Accounting 
 

The OEB has the general power to include or exclude revenues, costs, gains or losses in the rates of a specific period, 
resulting in a change in the timing of accounting recognition from that which would have been applied in an unregulated 
company. Such change in timing involves the application of rate-regulated accounting, giving rise to the recognition of 
regulatory assets and liabilities. The Transmission Business’ regulatory assets represent certain amounts receivable from 
future customers and costs that have been deferred for accounting purposes because it is probable that they will be recovered 
in future rates. In addition, the Transmission Business has recorded regulatory liabilities that generally represent amounts that 
are refundable to future customers. The Transmission Business continually assesses the likelihood of recovery of each of its 
regulatory assets and continues to believe that it is probable that the OEB will factor its regulatory assets and liabilities into 
the setting of future rates. If, at some future date, the Transmission Business judges that it is no longer probable that the OEB 
will include a regulatory asset or liability in setting future rates, the appropriate carrying amount will be reflected in results of 
operations in the period that the assessment is made.  
  
Revenue Recognition 
 

Transmission revenues are collected through OEB-approved rates, which are based on an approved revenue requirement that 
includes a rate of return. Such revenue is recognized as electricity is transmitted and delivered to customers. Revenues also 
include amounts related to sales of other services and equipment. Such revenues are recognized as services are rendered or as 
equipment is delivered. Revenues are recorded net of indirect taxes. 
 
Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 
 

Trade Accounts Receivable represents earned revenue for electricity transmitted and delivered to customers and receivable 
from the Independent Electricity System Operator (IESO). Trade accounts Receivable are recorded at the amount reported by 
the IESO. No allowance for doubtful accounts is recognized with respect to trade accounts receivable as there is no risk of 
loss associated with such amounts 
 
Income Taxes 
 

On October 31, 2015, Hydro One Networks ceased to be exempt from tax under the Income Tax Act (Canada) and the 
Taxation Act, 2007 (Ontario) (Federal Tax Regime). Prior to that date, Hydro One Networks was required to make payments 
in lieu of corporate income taxes (PILs) to the Ontario Electricity Financial Corporation (OEFC) under the Electricity Act, 
1998 (Ontario) (PILs Regime). These payments were calculated in accordance with the rules for computing income and other 
relevant amounts contained in the Income Tax Act (Canada) and the Taxation Act, 2007 (Ontario), as modified by the 
Electricity Act, 1998, and related regulations. Upon exiting the PILs Regime, Hydro One is required to make corporate 
income tax payments to the Canada Revenue Agency (CRA) under the Federal Tax Regime. 
 

Current and deferred income taxes are computed based on the tax rates and tax laws enacted as at the balance sheet date. Tax 
benefits associated with income tax positions taken, or expected to be taken, in a tax return are recorded only when the 
“more-likely-than-not” recognition threshold is satisfied and are measured at the largest amount of benefit that has a greater 
than 50% likelihood of being realized upon settlement. Management evaluates each position based solely on the technical 
merits and facts and circumstances of the position, assuming the position will be examined by a taxing authority having full 
knowledge of all relevant information. Significant management judgment is required to determine recognition thresholds and 
the related amount of tax benefits to be recognized in the Financial Statements. Management re-evaluates tax positions each 
period in which new information about recognition or measurement becomes available.  
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Deferred Income Taxes  
 

Deferred income taxes are provided for using the liability method. Deferred income taxes are recognized based on the 
estimated future tax consequences attributable to temporary differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities 
in the Financial Statements and their corresponding tax bases. 
 

Deferred income tax liabilities are generally recognized on all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are 
recognized to the extent that it is more-likely-than-not that these assets will be realized from taxable income available against 
which deductible temporary differences can be utilized.  
 

Deferred income taxes are calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the 
asset is realized, based on the tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted as at the balance sheet date. Deferred income 
taxes that are not included in the rate-setting process are charged or credited to the Statements of Operations and 
Comprehensive Income. 
 

If management determines that it is more-likely-than-not that some or all of a deferred income tax asset will not be realized, a 
valuation allowance is recorded against the deferred income tax asset to report the net balance at the amount expected to be 
realized. Previously unrecognized deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each balance sheet date and are recognized to 
the extent that it has become more-likely-than-not that the tax benefit will be realized. 
 

The Transmission Business records regulatory assets and liabilities associated with deferred income taxes that will be 
included in the rate-setting process.  
 

The Transmission Business uses the flow-through method to account for investment tax credits (ITCs) earned on eligible 
scientific research and experimental development expenditures, and apprenticeship job creation. Under this method, only 
non-refundable ITCs are recognized as a reduction to income tax expense. 
 
Inter-company Demand Facility 
 

Hydro One maintains pooled bank accounts for its use and for the use of its subsidiaries, and implicitly, by the regulated 
businesses of its subsidiaries. The balance in the inter-company demand facility represents the cumulative net effect of all 
deposits and withdrawals made by the Transmission Business to and from the pooled bank accounts. Interest is earned on 
positive inter-company balances based on the average of the bankers’ acceptance rate at the beginning and end of the month, 
less 0.02%. Interest is charged on overdraft inter-company balances based on the same bankers’ acceptance rate, plus 0.15%. 
 
Materials and Supplies 
 

Materials and supplies represent consumables, small spare parts and construction materials held for internal construction and 
maintenance of property, plant and equipment. These assets are carried at average cost less any impairments recorded. 
 
Property, Plant and Equipment 
 

Property, plant and equipment is recorded at original cost, net of customer contributions, and any accumulated impairment 
losses. The cost of additions, including betterments and replacement asset components, is included on the Balance Sheets as 
property, plant and equipment.  
 

The original cost of property, plant and equipment includes direct materials, direct labour (including employee benefits), 
contracted services, attributable capitalized financing costs, asset retirement costs, and direct and indirect overheads that are 
related to the capital project or program. Indirect overheads include a portion of corporate costs such as finance, treasury, 
human resources, information technology and executive costs. Overhead costs, including corporate functions and field 
services costs, are capitalized on a fully allocated basis, consistent with an OEB-approved methodology.  
 

Property, plant and equipment in service consists of transmission, communication, administration and service assets and land 
easements. Property, plant and equipment also includes future use assets, such as land, major components and spare parts, 
and capitalized project development costs associated with deferred capital projects.  
 

Transmission 
 

Transmission assets include assets used for the transmission of high-voltage electricity, such as transmission lines, support 
structures, foundations, insulators, connecting hardware and grounding systems, and assets used to step up the voltage of 
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electricity from generating stations for transmission and to step down voltages for distribution, including transformers, circuit 
breakers and switches. 
 

Communication 
 

Communication assets include fibre optic and microwave radio systems, optical ground wire, towers, telephone equipment 
and associated buildings. 
 

Administration and Service 
 

Administration and service assets include administrative buildings, personal computers, transport and work equipment, tools 
and other minor assets. 
 
Intangible Assets 
 

Intangible assets separately acquired or internally developed are measured on initial recognition at cost, which comprises 
purchased software, direct labour (including employee benefits), consulting, engineering, overheads and attributable 
capitalized financing charges. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost, net of any accumulated 
amortization and accumulated impairment losses. The Transmission Business’ intangible assets primarily represent major 
administrative computer applications. 
 
Capitalized Financing Costs 
 

Capitalized financing costs represent interest costs attributable to the construction of property, plant and equipment or 
development of intangible assets. The financing cost of attributable borrowed funds is capitalized as part of the acquisition 
cost of such assets. The capitalized portion of financing costs is a reduction to financing charges recognized in the Statements 
of Operations and Comprehensive Income. Capitalized financing costs are calculated using the Company’s weighted average 
effective cost of debt. 
 
Construction and Development in Progress 
 

Construction and development in progress consists of the capitalized cost of constructed assets that are not yet complete and 
which have not yet been placed in service.  
 
Depreciation and Amortization 
 

The cost of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets is depreciated or amortized on a straight-line basis based on 
the estimated remaining service life of each asset category, except for transport and work equipment, which is depreciated on 
a declining balance basis. 
 

Hydro One periodically initiates an external independent review of its property, plant and equipment and intangible asset 
depreciation and amortization rates, as required by the OEB. Any changes arising from OEB approval of such a review are 
implemented on a remaining service life basis, consistent with their inclusion in electricity rates. The last review resulted in 
changes to rates effective January 1, 2015. A summary of average service lives and depreciation and amortization rates for 
the various classes of assets is included below: 
 

 Average                                 Rate (%) 

 Service Life Range Average

Transmission 55 years 1% – 2% 2%
Communication 17 years 1% – 7% 5%
Administration and service 19 years 1% – 20% 8%
 
The cost of intangible assets is included primarily within the administration and service classification above. Amortization 
rate for computer applications software assets is 10%. 
 

In accordance with group depreciation practices, the original cost of property, plant and equipment, or major components 
thereof, and intangible assets that are normally retired, is charged to accumulated depreciation and amortization, with no gain 
or loss being reflected in results of operations. Where a disposition of property, plant and equipment occurs through sale, a 
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gain or loss is calculated based on proceeds and such gain or loss is included in depreciation expense. Depreciation expense 
also includes the costs incurred to remove property, plant and equipment where no ARO has been recorded.  
 
Long-Lived Asset Impairment 
 

When circumstances indicate the carrying value of long-lived assets may not be recoverable, the Company evaluates whether 
the carrying value of such assets, excluding goodwill, has been impaired. For such long-lived assets, the Company evaluates 
whether impairment may exist by estimating future estimated undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use and 
eventual disposition of the asset. When alternative courses of action to recover the carrying amount of a long-lived asset are 
under consideration, a probability-weighted approach is used to develop estimates of future undiscounted cash flows. If the 
carrying value of the long-lived asset is not recoverable based on the estimated future undiscounted cash flows, an 
impairment loss is recorded, measured as the excess of the carrying value of the asset over its fair value. As a result, the 
asset’s carrying value is adjusted to its estimated fair value.  
 

The carrying costs of most of the Transmission Business’ long-lived assets are included in rate base where they earn an OEB-
approved rate of return. Asset carrying values and the related return are recovered through approved rates. As a result, such 
assets are only tested for impairment in the event that the OEB disallows recovery, in whole or in part, or if such a 
disallowance is judged to be probable. As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, no asset impairment had been recorded. 
 
Costs of Arranging Debt Financing 
 

For financial liabilities classified as other than held-for-trading, the Company defers its proportionate share of the relevant 
Hydro One external transaction costs related to obtaining debt financing and presents such amounts as deferred debt costs on 
the Balance Sheets. Deferred debt costs are amortized over the contractual life of the related debt on an effective-interest 
basis and the amortization is included within financing charges in the Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income. 
Transaction costs for items classified as held-for-trading are expensed immediately. 
 
Comprehensive Income 
 

Comprehensive income is comprised of net income and other comprehensive income (OCI). OCI and net income are 
presented in a single continuous Statement of Operations and Comprehensive Income.  
 
Financial Assets and Liabilities 
 

All financial assets and liabilities are classified into one of the following five categories: held-to-maturity investments; loans 
and receivables; held-for-trading; other liabilities; or available-for-sale. Financial assets and liabilities classified as held-for-
trading are measured at fair value. All other financial assets and liabilities are measured at amortized cost, except accounts 
receivable which are measured at the lower of cost or fair value. Accounts receivable are classified as loans and receivables. 
The Company considers the carrying amount of accounts receivable to be a reasonable estimate of fair value because of the 
short time to maturity of these instruments. All financial instrument transactions are recorded at trade date.  
 

Derivative instruments are measured at fair value. Gains and losses from fair valuation are included within financing charges 
in the period in which they arise. Hydro One Networks determines the classification of its financial assets and liabilities at the 
date of initial recognition. The Company designates certain of its financial assets and liabilities to be held at fair value, when 
it is consistent with its risk management policy disclosed in Note 11 – Fair Value of Financial Instruments and Risk 
Management. 
 
Derivative Instruments and Hedge Accounting 
 

Hydro One closely monitors the risks associated with changes in interest rates on its operations and, where appropriate, uses 
various derivative instruments to hedge these risks. Certain of these derivative instruments qualify for hedge accounting and 
are designated as accounting hedges, while others either do not qualify as hedges or have not been designated as hedges 
(hereinafter referred to as undesignated contracts) as they are part of economic hedge relationships. Hydro One’s derivative 
instruments, or portions thereof, are mirrored down to Hydro One Networks, and are allocated between the Company’s 
transmission and distribution businesses. The derivative instruments are classified as fair value hedges or undesignated 
contracts, consistent with Hydro One’s derivative instruments classification. 
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The accounting guidance for derivative instruments requires the recognition of all derivative instruments not identified as 
meeting the normal purchase and sale exemption as either assets or liabilities recorded at fair value on the Balance Sheets. 
For derivative instruments that qualify for hedge accounting, Hydro One may elect to designate such derivative instruments 
as either cash flow hedges or fair value hedges. Hydro One offsets fair value amounts recognized in its Balance Sheets related 
to derivative instruments executed with the same counterparty under the same master netting agreement. 
 

For derivative instruments that qualify for hedge accounting and which are designated as cash flow hedges, the effective 
portion of any gain or loss, net of tax, is reported as a component of accumulated OCI (AOCI) and is reclassified to results of 
operations in the same period or periods during which the hedged transaction affects results of operations. Any gains or 
losses on the derivative instrument that represent either hedge ineffectiveness or hedge components excluded from the 
assessment of effectiveness are recognized in results of operations. For fair value hedges, changes in fair value of both the 
derivative instrument and the underlying hedged exposure are recognized in the Statement of Operations and Comprehensive 
Income in the current period. The gain or loss on the derivative instrument is included in the same line item as the offsetting 
gain or loss on the hedged item in the Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income. Additionally, Hydro One enters 
into derivative agreements that are economic hedges that either do not qualify for hedge accounting or have not been 
designated as hedges. The changes in fair value of these undesignated derivative instruments are reflected in results of 
operations. 
 

Embedded derivative instruments are separated from their host contracts and carried at fair value on the Balance Sheets 
when: (a) the economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative are not clearly and closely related to the 
economic characteristics and risks of the host contract; (b) the hybrid instrument is not measured at fair value, with changes 
in fair value recognized in results of operations each period; and (c) the embedded derivative itself meets the definition of a 
derivative. Hydro One does not engage in derivative trading or speculative activities and had no embedded derivatives at 
December 31, 2015 or 2014. 
 

Hydro One periodically develops hedging strategies taking into account risk management objectives. At the inception of a 
hedging relationship where Hydro One has elected to apply hedge accounting, Hydro One formally documents the 
relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument, the related risk management objective, the nature of the 
specific risk exposure being hedged, and the method for assessing the effectiveness of the hedging relationship. Hydro One 
also assesses, both at the inception of the hedge and on a quarterly basis, whether the hedging instruments are effective in 
offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged items.  
 
Employee Future Benefits 
 

Employee future benefits provided by Hydro One include pension, post-retirement and post-employment benefits. The costs 
of the pension, post-retirement and post-employment benefit plans are recorded over the periods during which employees 
render service.  
 

Hydro One recognizes the funded status of its defined benefit pension, post-retirement and post-employment plans on its 
Consolidated Balance Sheets and subsequently recognizes the changes in funded status at the end of each reporting year. 
Defined benefit pension, post-retirement and post-employment plans are considered to be underfunded when the projected 
benefit obligation exceeds the fair value of the plan assets. Liabilities are recognized on the Consolidated Balance Sheets of 
Hydro One for any net underfunded projected benefit obligation. The net underfunded projected benefit obligation may be 
disclosed as a current liability, long-term liability, or both. The current portion is the amount by which the actuarial present 
value of benefits included in the benefit obligation payable in the next 12 months exceeds the fair value of plan assets. If the 
fair value of plan assets exceeds the projected benefit obligation of the plan, an asset is recognized equal to the net 
overfunded projected benefit obligation. The post-retirement and post-employment benefit plans are unfunded because there 
are no related plan assets. 
 

Pension benefits 
 

Hydro One has a contributory defined benefit pension plan covering most regular employees of Hydro One and its 
subsidiaries, including Hydro One Networks. The Hydro One pension plan does not segregate assets in a separate account for 
individual subsidiaries, nor is the obligation of the pension plan allocated to, or funded separately by, entities within the 
consolidated group. Accordingly, for purposes of these Financial Statements, the pension plan is accounted for as a defined 
contribution plan and no pension benefit asset or liability is recorded. 
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A detailed description of Hydro One pension benefits is provided in Note 15 – Pension and Post-Retirement and Post-
Employment Benefits, to the Consolidated Financial Statements of Hydro One for the year ended December 31, 2015. 
 

Post-retirement and post-employment benefits 
 

Hydro One has post-retirement and post-employment benefit plans covering all regular employees of Hydro One and its 
subsidiaries, including Hydro One Networks. The benefit obligations of these post-retirement and post-employment benefit 
plans are not segregated, or funded separately, for Hydro One Networks. Accordingly, for purposes of these Financial 
Statements, the post-retirement and post-employment benefit obligations are allocated to the Company based on base 
pensionable earnings. 
 

The Company records a regulatory asset equal to its allocated share of Hydro One’s incremental net unfunded projected 
benefit obligation for post-retirement and post-employment plans at each year end based on annual actuarial reports. The 
regulatory asset for the incremental net unfunded projected benefit obligation for post-retirement and post-employment plans, 
in absence of regulatory accounting, would be recognized in accumulated OCI (AOCI). A regulatory asset is recognized 
because management considers it to be probable that post-retirement and post-employment benefit costs will be recovered in 
the future through the rate-setting process.  
 

Post-retirement and post-employment benefits are recorded and included in rates on an accrual basis. Costs are determined by 
independent actuaries using the projected benefit method prorated on service and based on assumptions that reflect 
management’s best estimates. Past service costs from plan amendments are amortized to results of operations based on the 
expected average remaining service period.  
 

For post-retirement benefits, all actuarial gains or losses are deferred using the “corridor” approach. The amount calculated 
above the “corridor” is amortized to results of operations on a straight-line basis over the expected average remaining service 
lives of active Hydro One employees in the plan and over the remaining life expectancy of inactive Hydro One employees in 
the plan. The post-retirement benefit obligation is remeasured to its fair value at each year end based on an annual actuarial 
report, with an offset to associated regulatory asset, to the extent of the remeasurement adjustment. 
 

For post-employment obligations, the actuarial gains and losses that are incurred during the year are recognized immediately 
to results of operations. The post-employment benefit obligation is remeasured to its fair value at each year end based on an 
annual actuarial report, with an offset to associated regulatory asset, to the extent of the remeasurement adjustment. 
 

All post-retirement and post-employment future benefit costs are attributed to labour and are either charged to results of 
operations or capitalized as part of the cost of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets. 
 

A detailed description of Hydro One post-retirement and post-employment benefits is provided in Note 15 – Pension and 
Post-Retirement and Post-Employment Benefits, to the Consolidated Financial Statements of Hydro One for the year ended 
December 31, 2015. 
 
Stock-Based Compensation 
 

Hydro One measures share grant plans based on fair value of share grants as estimated based on the grant date Hydro One 
Limited share price. The costs are recognized in the financial statements using the graded-vesting attribution method for 
share grant plans that have both a performance condition and a service condition. The Company records a regulatory asset 
equal to the accrued costs of share grant plans recognized in each period, as management considers it to be probable that such 
costs will be recovered in the future through the rate-setting process. 
 
Loss Contingencies  
 

Hydro One and its subsidiaries are involved in certain legal and environmental matters that arise in the normal course of 
business. In the preparation of the Transmission Business’ Financial Statements, management makes judgments regarding the 
future outcome of contingent events and records a loss for a contingency based on its best estimate when it is determined that 
such loss is probable and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. Where the loss amount is recoverable in future 
rates, a regulatory asset is also recorded. When a range estimate for the probable loss exists and no amount within the range is 
a better estimate than any other amount, the Transmission Business records a loss at the minimum amount within the range. 
 

Management regularly reviews current information available to determine whether recorded provisions should be adjusted 
and whether new provisions are required. Estimating probable losses may require analysis of multiple forecasts and scenarios 
that often depend on judgments about potential actions by third parties, such as federal, provincial and local courts or 
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regulators. Contingent liabilities are often resolved over long periods of time. Amounts recorded in the Financial Statements 
may differ from the actual outcome once the contingency is resolved. Such differences could have a material impact on future 
results of operations, financial position and cash flows of the Transmission Business. 
 

Provisions are based upon current estimates and are subject to greater uncertainty where the projection period is lengthy. A 
significant upward or downward trend in the number of claims filed, the nature of the alleged injuries, and the average cost of 
resolving each claim could change the estimated provision, as could any substantial adverse or favorable verdict at trial. A 
federal or provincial legislative outcome or structured settlement could also change the estimated liability. Legal fees are 
expensed as incurred. 
 
Environmental Liabilities 
 

Environmental liabilities are recorded in respect of past contamination when it is determined that future environmental 
remediation expenditures are probable under existing statute or regulation and the amount of the future expenditures can be 
reasonably estimated. The Transmission Business records a liability for the estimated future expenditures associated with 
contaminated land assessment and remediation (LAR) and for the phase-out and destruction of polychlorinated biphenyl 
(PCB)-contaminated mineral oil removed from electrical equipment, based on the present value of these estimated future 
expenditures. The Company determines the present value with a discount rate equal to its credit-adjusted risk-free interest 
rate on financial instruments with comparable maturities to the pattern of future environmental expenditures. As the 
Company anticipates that the future expenditures will continue to be recoverable in future rates, an offsetting regulatory asset 
has been recorded to reflect the future recovery of these environmental expenditures from customers. The Company reviews 
its estimates of future environmental expenditures annually, or more frequently if there are indications that circumstances 
have changed. 
 
Asset Retirement Obligations 
 

Asset retirement obligations are recorded for legal obligations associated with the future removal and disposal of long-lived 
assets. Such obligations may result from the acquisition, construction, development and/or normal use of the asset. 
Conditional asset retirement obligations are recorded when there is a legal obligation to perform a future asset retirement 
activity but where the timing and/or method of settlement are conditional on a future event that may or may not be within the 
control of the Company. In such a case, the obligation to perform the asset retirement activity is unconditional even though 
uncertainty exists about the timing and/or method of settlement.  
 

When recording an asset retirement obligation, the present value of the estimated future expenditures required to complete 
the asset retirement activity is recorded in the period in which the obligation is incurred, if a reasonable estimate can be made. 
In general, the present value of the estimated future expenditures is added to the carrying amount of the associated asset and 
the resulting asset retirement cost is depreciated over the estimated useful life of the asset. Where an asset is no longer in 
service when an asset retirement obligation is recorded, the asset retirement cost is recorded in results of operations. 
 

Some of the Company’s transmission assets, particularly those located on unowned easements and rights-of-way, may have 
asset retirement obligations, conditional or otherwise. The majority of the Company’s easements and rights-of-way are either 
of perpetual duration or are automatically renewed annually. Land rights with finite terms are generally subject to extension 
or renewal. As the Transmission Business expects to use the majority of its facilities in perpetuity, no asset retirement 
obligations currently exist for these assets. If, at some future date, a particular facility is shown not to meet the perpetuity 
assumption, it will be reviewed to determine whether an estimable ARO exists. In such a case, an ARO would be recorded at 
that time.  
 

The Transmission Business’ AROs recorded to date relate to estimated future expenditures associated with the removal and 
disposal of asbestos-containing materials installed in some of its facilities and with the decommissioning of certain assets. 
 
 
3. NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS 
 
Recent Accounting Guidance Not Yet Adopted 
 

In January 2015, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2015-01, 
Income Statement – Extraordinary and Unusual Items (Subtopic 225-20): Simplifying Income Statement Presentation by 
Eliminating the Concept of Extraordinary Items. This ASU eliminates the requirements for reporting entities to consider whether 
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an underlying event or transaction is extraordinary and to show the item separately in the income statement. This ASU is 
effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within these years, beginning after December 15, 2015. The adoption of this ASU 
is not anticipated to have an impact on the Transmission Business’ financial statements. 
 

In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-03, Interest – Imputation of Interest (Subtopic 835-30): Simplifying the Presentation 
of Debt Issuance Costs. This ASU requires that debt issuance costs related to a recognized debt liability be presented in the 
balance sheet as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of that debt liability. The recognition and measurement guidance 
for debt issuance costs are not affected. This ASU is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning 
after December 15, 2015. Upon adoption of this ASU in the first quarter of 2016, the Transmission Business’ deferred debt 
issuance costs that are currently presented under other long-term assets will be reclassified as a deduction from the carrying 
amount of long-term debt. 
 

In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-05, Intangibles – Goodwill and Other – Internal-Use Software (Subtopic 350-40): 
Customer’s Accounting for Fees Paid in a Cloud Computing Arrangement. This ASU provides guidance to customers about 
whether a cloud computing arrangement includes a software license, as well as the related accounting for the arrangement. This 
ASU is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within these years, beginning after December 15, 2015. The Transmission 
Business is currently assessing the impact of adoption of this ASU on its financial statements. 
 

In August 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-14, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Deferral of the Effective 
Date. This ASU defers by one year the effective date of ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) 
issued by the FASB in May 2014. ASU 2014-09 provides guidance on revenue recognition that depicts the transfer of promised 
goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange 
for those goods and services. The guidance in ASU 2014-09 is now effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those 
years, beginning after December 15, 2017. The Transmission Business is currently assessing the impact of adoption of ASU 
2014-09 on its financial statements. 
 

In November 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-17, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Balance Sheet Classification of Deferred 
Taxes. The amendments in this ASU require that all deferred tax assets and liabilities be classified as noncurrent on the 
balance sheet. This ASU is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 
2016. Upon adoption of this ASU in the first quarter of 2017, the current portions of the Transmission Business’ deferred 
income tax assets and liabilities will be reclassified as noncurrent assets and liabilities on the Balance Sheets. 
 
 
4. DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION 

 
Year ended December 31 (millions of Canadian dollars)  2015 2014 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  309 289
Amortization of intangible assets  20 19
Asset removal costs  30 27
Amortization of regulatory assets  7 11
  366 346
 
 
5. FINANCING CHARGES 
 
Year ended December 31 (millions of Canadian dollars)  2015 2014

Interest on long-term debt (Note 18)  248 255
Other  8 6
Less: Interest capitalized on construction and development in progress  (37) (31)
          Gain on interest-rate swap agreements  (1) (3)
          Interest earned on inter-company demand facility (Note 18)  (2) (5)
  216 222
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6. INCOME TAXES 
 
Income taxes / provision for PILs differ from the amount that would have been recorded using the combined Canadian 
federal and Ontario statutory income tax rate. The reconciliation between the statutory and the effective tax rates is provided 
as follows: 
 

Year ended December 31 (millions of Canadian dollars)  2015 2014

Income taxes / provision for PILs at statutory rate  124 164

Increase (decrease) resulting from:  
Net temporary differences included in amounts charged to customers:  
    Capital cost allowance in excess of depreciation and amortization  (28) (38)
    Pension contributions in excess of pension expense  (12) (12)
    Interest capitalized for accounting but deducted for tax purposes  (9) (9)
    Overheads capitalized for accounting but deducted for tax purposes  (9) (9)
    Environmental expenditures  (2) (2)
    Non-refundable ITCs (1) (1)
    Prior year’s adjustments 1 (2)
    Other  (1) (5)
Net temporary differences  (61) (78)
Net permanent differences  1 1
Total income taxes / provision for PILs  64 87
  
Current income taxes / provision for PILs  96 86
Deferred income taxes / provision for PILs  (32) 1
Total income taxes / provision for PILs  64 87
  
Effective income tax rate  13.7% 14.0%
 
The provision for PILs / current income taxes is remitted to, or received from, the OEFC (PILs Regime) and the CRA 
(Federal Tax Regime). At December 31, 2015, $55 million (2014 – $17 million due from OEFC was included in accounts 
receivable) due to the OEFC and $17 million (2014 – $nil) due to the CRA were included in accrued liabilities. 
 

At December 31, 2015, the total income taxes / provision for PILs includes deferred income taxes / recovery of PILs of 
$32 million (2014 – provision of $1 million) that is not included in the rate-setting process, using the balance sheet liability 
method of accounting. Deferred PILs balances expected to be included in the rate-setting process are offset by regulatory 
assets and liabilities to reflect the anticipated recovery or disposition of these balances within future electricity rates. 
 
Deferred Income Tax Assets and Liabilities 
 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities arise from differences between the carrying amounts and tax basis of the 
Company’s assets and liabilities. At December 31, 2015 and 2014, deferred income tax assets and liabilities consisted of the 
following: 
 

December 31 (millions of Canadian dollars)  2015 2014 

Deferred income tax liabilities   
    Capital cost allowance in excess of depreciation and amortization (1,142) (1,080)
    Regulatory amounts not recognized for tax (31) (48)
    Post-retirement and post-employment benefits expense in excess of cash payments 247 242
    Environmental expenditures  29 24
    Other  (5) (2)
Total deferred income tax liabilities  (902) (864)
Less: current portion  8 10
  (910) (874)
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During 2015 and 2014, there were no changes in the rate applicable to future taxes. 
 
 
7. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 

December 31, 2015 (millions of Canadian dollars) 
Property, Plant 
and Equipment 

Accumulated 
Depreciation 

Construction 
in Progress 

 
Total 

Transmission 13,748 4,673 851 9,926
Communication 882 545 18 355
Administration and Service 521 271 18 268
 15,151 5,489 887 10,549
 

December 31, 2014 (millions of Canadian dollars) 
Property, Plant 
and Equipment 

Accumulated 
Depreciation 

Construction 
in Progress 

 
Total 

Transmission 13,243 4,471 607 9,379
Communication 837 490 47 394
Administration and Service 481 241 13 253
 14,561 5,202 667 10,026
 
Financing charges capitalized on property, plant and equipment under construction were $37 million (2014 – $31 million). 
 
 
8. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
 

December 31, 2015 (millions of Canadian dollars) 
Intangible 

Assets 
Accumulated 
Amortization 

Development 
in Progress 

 
Total 

Computer applications software 227 129 8 106
Other 4 3 – 1
 231 132 8 107
 

December 31, 2014 (millions of Canadian dollars) 
Intangible 

Assets 
Accumulated 
Amortization 

Development 
in Progress 

 
Total 

Computer applications software 224 120 2 106
Other 4 3 – 1
 228 123 2 107
 
Financing charges capitalized on intangible assets under development were immaterial in 2015 and 2014. The estimated 
annual amortization expense for intangible assets is as follows: 2016 – $20 million; 2017 – $20 million; 2018 – $20 million; 
2019 – $15 million; and 2020 – $6 million 
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9. REGULATORY ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 
 
Regulatory assets and liabilities arise as a result of the rate-making process. The Transmission Business has recorded the 
following regulatory assets and liabilities: 
 

December 31 (millions of Canadian dollars) 2015 2014 

Regulatory assets: 
    Deferred income tax regulatory asset 973 903
    Post-retirement and post-employment benefits 104 119
    Environmental  82 91
   Pension cost variance  14 11
   Share-based compensation 5 –
   Other 1 –

Total regulatory assets 1,179 1,124
Less: current portion 5 18

1,174 1,106
 
Regulatory liabilities: 
   External revenue variance 87 54
   CDM deferral variance 53 25
   Deferred income tax regulatory liability 9 8
   Other 6 3

Total regulatory liabilities 155 90
Less: current portion 9 32

146 58
 
Deferred Income Tax Regulatory Asset and Liability 
 

Deferred income taxes are recognized on temporary differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the 
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable income. The Transmission Business 
has recognized regulatory assets and liabilities that correspond to deferred income taxes that flow through the rate-setting 
process. In the absence of rate-regulated accounting, the Transmission Business’ income tax expense would have been 
recognized using the liability method and there would be no regulatory accounts established for taxes to be recovered through 
future rates. As a result, the 2015 income tax expense would have been higher by approximately $61 million (2014 – $78 
million). 
 
Post-Retirement and Post-Employment Benefits 
 

The Transmission Business recognizes the net unfunded status of post-retirement and post-employment obligations on the 
Balance Sheets with an incremental offset to the associated regulatory assets. A regulatory asset is recognized because 
management considers it to be probable that post-retirement and post-employment benefit costs will be recovered in the 
future through the rate-setting process. The post-retirement and post-employment benefit obligation is remeasured to its fair 
value at each year end based on an annual actuarial report, with an offset to the associated regulatory asset, to the extent of 
the remeasurement adjustment. In the absence of rate-regulated accounting, 2015 OCI would have been higher by 
$15 million (2014 – $14 million).  
 
Environmental 
 

The Transmission Business records a liability for the estimated future expenditures required to remediate environmental 
contamination. Because such expenditures are expected to be recoverable in future rates, an equivalent amount was recorded 
as a regulatory asset. In 2015, the environmental regulatory asset decreased by $7 million (2014 – $8 million) to reflect 
related changes in the PCB liability, and did not change (2014 – increased by $1 million) due to changes in the LAR liability. 
The environmental regulatory asset is amortized to results of operations based on the pattern of actual expenditures incurred 
and charged to environmental liabilities. The OEB has the discretion to examine and assess the prudency and the timing of 
recovery of all of the Transmission Business’ actual environmental expenditures. In the absence of rate-regulated accounting, 
2015 operation, maintenance and administration expenses would have been lower by $7 million (2014 – $7 million). In 
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addition, 2015 amortization expense would have been lower by $6 million (2014 – $6 million), and 2015 financing charges 
would have been higher by $4 million (2014 – $4 million). 
 
Pension Cost Variance 
 

A pension cost variance account was established for the Transmission Business to track the difference between the actual 
pension expenses incurred and estimated pension costs approved by the OEB. The balance in this regulatory account reflects 
the excess of pension costs paid as compared to OEB-approved amounts. In the absence of rate-regulated accounting, 2015 
revenue would have been lower by $3 million (2014 – higher by $10 million). 
 
Share-based Compensation 
 

The Transmission Business recognizes costs associated with stock-based compensation in a regulatory asset as management 
considers it probable that stock-based compensation costs will be recovered in the future through the rate-setting process. At 
December 31, 2015, the stock-based compensation costs related to the share grant plans are measured at fair value estimated 
based on grant date Hydro One Limited share price and recognized using the graded-vesting attribution method. In the absence 
of rate-regulated accounting, 2015 operation, maintenance and administration expenses would have been higher by $2 million 
(2014 – $nil). 
 
External Revenue Variance 
 

In May 2009, the OEB approved forecasted amounts related to export service revenue, external revenue from secondary land 
use, and external revenue from station maintenance and engineering and construction work. In November 2012, the OEB 
again approved forecasted amounts related to these revenue categories and extended the scope to encompass all other external 
revenues. The external revenue variance account balance reflects the excess of actual external revenues compared to the 
OEB-approved forecasted amounts.  
 
CDM Deferral Variance Account 
 

As part of Hydro One Networks’ application for 2013 and 2014 transmission rates, the Company agreed to establish a new 
regulatory deferral variance account to track the impact of actual Conservation and Demand Management (CDM) and 
demand response results on the load forecast compared to the estimated load forecast included in the revenue requirement. At 
December 31, 2014, the balance in the CDM deferral variance account relates to the actual 2013 CDM compared to the 
amounts included in 2013 revenue requirement. At December 31, 2015, the balance also includes the difference between the 
actual 2014 CDM compared to the amounts included in 2014 revenue requirement. The OEB rate order specifically states 
that the IESO data used to calculate the difference between forecasted and actual savings will be provided one year in arrears, 
and as a result, no amount should be recorded in advance of notification from the IESO of actual results. 
 
 
10. DEBT 
 
Hydro One issues notes for long-term financing under its Medium-Term Note (MTN) Program. The terms of certain 
issuances are mirrored down to Hydro One Networks through the issuance of inter-company debt, which is then allocated 
between the Company’s transmission and distribution businesses. 
 

The following table presents the outstanding long-term debt of the Transmission Business as at December 31, 2015 and 2014: 
 
December 31 (millions of Canadian dollars)  2015 2014 

Long-term debt  4,986 5,316
Add:  Unrealized marked-to-market loss1  – 1
Less: Long-term debt payable within one year  (300) (331)
  
Long-term debt  4,686 4,986
1 At December 31, 2014, the unrealized marked-to-market loss related to $150 million of Transmission Business’ $300 million note due 2015. This loss was 

offset by $1 million unrealized marked-to-market gain on the related fixed-to-floating interest-rate swap agreements, which are accounted for as fair value 
hedges. 
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The long-term debt is unsecured and denominated in Canadian dollars. The long-term debt is summarized by the number of 
years to maturity in Note 11 – Fair Value of Financial Instruments and Risk Management. 
 
 
11. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
Fair value is considered to be the exchange price in an orderly transaction between market participants to sell an asset or 
transfer a liability at the measurement date. The fair value definition focuses on an exit price, which is the price that would be 
received in the sale of an asset or the amount that would be paid to transfer a liability.  
 

The Company classifies its fair value measurements based on the following hierarchy, as prescribed by the accounting 
guidance for fair value, which prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value into three levels: 
 

Level 1 inputs are unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that Hydro One has the ability 
to access. An active market for the asset or liability is one in which transactions for the asset or liability occurs with sufficient 
frequency and volume to provide ongoing pricing information.  
 

Level 2 inputs are those other than quoted market prices that are observable, either directly or indirectly, for an asset or 
liability. Level 2 inputs include, but are not limited to, quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in an active market, 
quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active and inputs other than quoted market 
prices that are observable for the asset or liability, such as interest rate curves and yield curves observable at commonly 
quoted intervals, volatilities, credit risk and default rates. A Level 2 measurement cannot have more than an insignificant 
portion of the valuation based on unobservable inputs. 
 

Level 3 inputs are any fair value measurements that include unobservable inputs for the asset or liability for more than an 
insignificant portion of the valuation. A Level 3 measurement may be based primarily on Level 2 inputs.  
 
Non−Derivative Financial Assets and Liabilities 
 

At December 31, 2015 and 2014, the carrying amounts of accounts receivable, inter-company demand facility, and accounts 
payable are representative of fair value because of the short-term nature of these instruments. 
 
Fair Value Measurements of Long-Term Debt 
 

The fair values and carrying values of the Transmission Business’s long-term debt at December 31, 2015 and 2014 are as 
follows: 
 

December 31 (millions of Canadian dollars) 
2015

Carrying Value
2015

Fair Value
2014

Carrying Value
2014

Fair Value

Long-term debt 

   $150 million of $300 million notes due 20151 – – 151 151
   Other notes and debentures2 4,986 5,729 5,166 6,040
 4,986 5,729 5,317 6,191

1
 The fair value of $150 million of Transmission Business’ $300 million notes due 2015 subject to hedging is primarily based on changes in the present 
value of future cash flows due to a change in the yield in the swap market for the related swap (hedged risk). Transmission Business did not hedge its debt 
during 2015. 

2  
The fair value of other notes and debentures, and the portion of Transmission Business’ notes that are not subject to hedging, represents the market value 
of the notes and debentures and is based on unadjusted period-end market prices for the same or similar debt of the same remaining maturities. 

 
Fair Value Measurements of Derivative Instruments 
 

Hydro One enters into interest-rate swaps agreements with respect to its long-term debt. The terms of these interest-rate swap 
agreements are mirrored down to Hydro One Networks, and are then allocated between the Company’s transmission and 
distribution businesses. 
 

At December 31, 2015, the Transmission Business’ share of the Company’s derivative instruments include $nil (2014 – 
$150 million) of interest-rate swaps that were used to convert fixed-rate debt to floating-rate debt. These interest-rate swaps 
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are classified as fair value hedges. At December 31, 2015, the Transmission Business had no fair value hedge exposure (2014 
– 3% of its long-term debt).  
 
Fair Value Hierarchy 
 

Fair value hierarchy information for financial assets and liabilities at December 31, 2015 and 2014 was as follows: 
 

 
December 31, 2015 (millions of Canadian dollars) 

Carrying 
Value 

Fair 
 Value 

 
Level 1 

 
Level 2 

 
Level 3 

Liabilities:  
    Inter-company demand facility 749 749 749 – –
    Long-term debt 4,986 5,729 – 5,729 –
     5,735 6,478 749 5,729 –

 
 

December 31, 2014 (millions of Canadian dollars) 
Carrying 

Value 
Fair 

 Value 
 

Level 1 
 

Level 2 
 

Level 3 

Assets:  
    Inter-company demand facility 234 234 234 – –
    Derivative instruments  
        Fair value hedges – interest-rate swaps 1 1 – 1 –
 235 235 234 1 –
  

Liabilities:  
    Long-term debt 5,317 6,191 – 6,191 –
     5,317 6,191 – 6,191 –

 
The fair value of the derivative instruments is determined using inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for these 
assets. The fair value is primarily based on the present value of future cash flows using a swap yield curve to determine the 
assumptions for interest rates. 
 

The fair value of the hedged portion of the long-term debt is primarily based on the present value of future cash flows using a 
swap yield curve to determine the assumption for interest rates. The fair value of the un-hedged portion of the long-term debt 
is based on unadjusted period-end market prices for the same or similar debt of the same remaining maturities. 
 

There were no significant transfers between any of the levels during the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014.  
 
Risk Management 
 

Exposure to market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk arises in the normal course of the Company’s business.  
 

Market Risk 
 

Market risk refers primarily to the risk of loss that results from changes in costs, foreign exchange rates and interest rates. 
The Company is exposed to fluctuations in interest rates as its regulated return on equity is derived using a formulaic 
approach that takes into account anticipated interest rates, but is not currently exposed to material commodity price risk or 
material foreign exchange risk. 
 

The OEB-approved adjustment formula for calculating return on equity in a deemed regulatory capital structure of 60% debt 
and 40% equity provides for increases and decreases depending on changes in benchmark rates of return for Government of 
Canada debt. The Company estimates that a 1% decrease in the forecasted long-term Government of Canada bond yield used 
in determining the Transmission Business’ rate of return would reduce the Transmission Business’ 2015 net income by 
approximately $20 million (2014 – $20 million). 
 

Hydro One uses a combination of fixed and variable-rate debt to manage the mix of its debt portfolio. Hydro One also uses 
derivative financial instruments to manage interest-rate risk. Hydro One utilizes interest-rate swaps, which are typically 
designated as fair value hedges, as a means to manage its interest rate exposure to achieve a lower cost of debt. In addition, 
the Company may utilize interest-rate derivative instruments to lock in interest-rate levels in anticipation of future financing.  
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A hypothetical 10% increase in the interest rates associated with variable-rate debt would not have resulted in a significant 
decrease in Hydro One’s net income for the years ended December 31, 2015 or 2014. 
 

Fair Value Hedges 
For derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges, the gain or loss on the derivative instruments 
as well as the offsetting loss or gain on the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk are recognized in the Statements of 
Operations and Comprehensive Income. The Transmission Business’ net unrealized loss (gain) on the hedged debt and the 
related interest-rate swaps for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 are included in financing charges as follows: 
 

Year ended December 31 (millions of Canadian dollars)  2015 2014 

Unrealized loss (gain) on hedged debt  – (2)
Unrealized loss (gain) on fair value interest-rate swaps  – 2
Net unrealized loss (gain)  – –
 
At December 31, 2015, the amount of the Transmission Business’ fair value hedges outstanding related to interest-rate swaps 
was $nil (2014 – $150 million), with assets at fair value of $nil (2014 – $1 million). During the years ended December 31, 
2015 and 2014, there was no significant impact on the Transmission Business’ results of operations as a result of any 
ineffectiveness attributable to fair value hedges. 
 

Credit Risk 
 

Financial assets create a risk that a counterparty will fail to discharge an obligation, causing a financial loss. At December 31, 
2015 and 2014, there were no significant concentrations of credit risk with respect to any class of financial assets. The 
Transmission Business did not earn a significant amount of revenue from any individual customer. At December 31, 2015 
and 2014, there was no significant accounts receivable balance due from any single customer.  
 

At December 31, 2015, the Transmission Business’ allowance for doubtful accounts was $1 million (2014 – $1 million). 
Adjustments and write-offs are determined on the basis of a review of overdue accounts, taking into consideration historical 
experience. At December 31, 2015, approximately 2% of the Transmission Business’ net accounts receivable were aged more 
than 60 days (2014 – 1%).  
 

Hydro One manages its counterparty credit risk through various techniques including: entering into transactions with highly-
rated counterparties; limiting total exposure levels with individual counterparties consistent with the Hydro One’s Board-
approved Credit Risk Policy; entering into master agreements which enable net settlement and the contractual right of offset; 
and monitoring the financial condition of counterparties. In addition to payment netting language in master agreements, 
Hydro One establishes credit limits, margining thresholds and collateral requirements for each counterparty. Counterparty 
credit limits are based on an internal credit review that considers a variety of factors, including the results of a scoring model, 
leverage, liquidity, profitability, credit ratings and risk management capabilities. The determination of credit exposure for a 
particular counterparty is the sum of current exposure plus the potential future exposure with that counterparty. The current 
exposure is calculated as the sum of the principal value of money market exposures and the market value of all contracts that 
have a positive mark-to-market position on the measurement date. Hydro One would only offset the positive market values 
against negative values with the same counterparty where permitted by the existence of a legal netting agreement such as an 
International Swap Dealers Association master agreement. The potential future exposure represents a safety margin to protect 
against future fluctuations of interest rates, currencies, equities, and commodities. It is calculated based on factors developed 
by the Bank of International Settlements, following extensive historical analysis of random fluctuations of interest rates and 
currencies. To the extent that a counterparty’s margining thresholds are exceeded, the counterparty is required to post 
collateral with Hydro One as specified in each agreement. Hydro One monitors current and forward credit exposure to 
counterparties both on an individual and an aggregate basis. The Company’s counterparty credit risk policy is consistent with 
Hydro One. The Transmission Business’ credit risk for accounts receivable is limited to the carrying amounts on its Balance 
Sheets.  
 

Liquidity Risk 
 

Liquidity risk refers to the Company’s ability to meet its financial obligations as they come due. The Company meets its 
short-term liquidity requirements through the inter-company demand facility with Hydro One and funds from operations. The 
short-term liquidity available to the Company should be sufficient to fund normal operating requirements. 
 



HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. 
TRANSMISSION BUSINESS 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 
 
 

23 
 

At December 31, 2015, accounts payable and accrued liabilities in the amount of $282 million (2014 – $251 million) were 
expected to be settled in cash at their carrying amounts within the next 12 months.  
 

At December 31, 2015, the principal amount of the Transmission Business’ long-term debt was $4,986 million (2014 – 
$5,316 million). Principal repayments and related weighted average interest rates are summarized by the number of years to 
maturity in the following table: 
 

  
Long-term Debt 

Principal Repayments 
Weighted Average 

Interest Rate 

Years to Maturity  (millions of Canadian dollars) (%) 

1 year 300 4.3
2 years 405 5.2
3 years 412 2.8
4 years 137 1.2
5 years 180 4.4
 1,434 3.8
6 – 10 years 319 3.2
Over 10 years 3,233 5.4
 4,986 4.8
 
Interest payments on long-term debt are summarized by year in the following table: 
 

   Interest Payments 

Year  (millions of Canadian dollars) 

2016  234
2017  228
2018  207
2019  194
2020  189
  1,052
2021-2025  902
2026 +  2,466
  4,420
 
 
12. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
 
The Transmission Business’ objective is to manage its capital structure consistent with the deemed capital structure for rate-
setting purposes as prescribed by the OEB.      
 

The Transmission Business considers its capital structure to consist of excess of assets over liabilities, long-term debt, and the 
inter-company demand facility. The following table summarizes this capital structure: 
 

December 31 (millions of Canadian dollars)   2015 2014 

Long-term debt payable within one year  300 331
Inter-company demand facility  749 (234)
  1,049 97

Long-term debt  4,686 4,986

Excess of assets over liabilities  4,125 4,372
Total capital  9,860 9,455
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The following table shows the movements in the excess of assets over liabilities for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 
2014: 
 

December 31 (millions of Canadian dollars)   2015 2014 

Excess of assets over liabilities, January 1  4,372 4,525
Net income  403 532
Payments to Hydro One to finance dividends  (650) (685)
Excess of assets over liabilities, December 31  4,125 4,372
 
 
13. PENSION AND POST-RETIREMENT AND POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS 
 
Hydro One has a defined benefit pension plan, a supplementary pension plan, and post-retirement and post-employment 
benefit plans. The defined benefit pension plan (Pension Plan) is contributory and covers most regular employees of Hydro 
One and its subsidiaries. The supplementary pension plan provides members of the Pension Plan with benefits that would 
have been earned and payable under the Pension Plan but for the limitations imposed by the Income Tax Act (Canada). The 
supplementary pension plan obligation is included with other post-retirement and post-employment benefit obligations on the 
Balance Sheets. 
 
Pension Benefits 
 

The Pension Plan provides benefits based on highest three-year average pensionable earnings. For new management 
employees who commenced employment on or after January 1, 2004, and for new Society of Energy Professionals 
represented staff hired after November 17, 2005, benefits are based on highest five-year average pensionable earnings. After 
retirement, pensions are indexed to inflation.  
 

Hydro One and employee contributions to the Pension Plan are based on actuarial valuations performed at least every three 
years. Hydro One’s annual Pension Plan contributions for 2015 of $177 million (2014 – $174 million) were based on an 
actuarial valuation effective December 31, 2013 and the level of pensionable earnings. Estimated annual Pension Plan 
contributions for 2016 are approximately $180 million, based on the actuarial valuation as at December 31, 2013 and 
projected levels of pensionable earnings. Future minimum contributions beyond 2016 will be based on an actuarial valuation 
effective no later than December 31, 2016. Contributions are payable one month in arrears. All of the contributions are 
expected to be in the form of cash. 
 
At December 31, 2015, based on the December 31, 2013 actuarial valuation, the present value of Hydro One’s projected 
pension benefit obligation was estimated to be $7,683 million (2014 – $7,535 million). The fair value of pension plan assets 
available for these benefits was $6,731 million (2014 – $6,299 million). 
 
Post-Retirement and Post-Employment Benefits 
 

During the year ended December 31, 2015, the Transmission Business charged $20 million (2014 – $20 million) of post-
retirement and post-employment benefit costs to operations, and capitalized $29 million (2014 – $30 million) as part of the 
cost of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets. Benefits paid in 2015 were $20 million (2014 – $19 million). In 
addition, the associated post-retirement and post-employment benefits regulatory asset was decreased by $15 million (2014 – 
$14 million). 
 

The Transmission Business presents its post-retirement and post-employment benefit liabilities on its Balance Sheets within 
the following line items: 
 

December 31 (millions of Canadian dollars)   2015 2014 

Accrued liabilities  25 24
Post-retirement and post-employment benefit liability  662 649
  687 673
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14. ENVIRONMENTAL LIABILITIES 
 

The following tables show the movements in environmental liabilities for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014: 
 

Year ended December 31, 2015 (millions of Canadian dollars)  PCB LAR Total 

Environmental liabilities, January 1 77 14 91
Interest accretion 4 – 4
Expenditures (3) (3) (6)
Revaluation adjustment (7) – (7)
Environmental liabilities, December 31 71 11 82
Less: current portion 2 3 5
 69 8 77
 
Year ended December 31, 2014 (millions of Canadian dollars)  PCB LAR Total 

Environmental liabilities, January 1 84 16 100
Interest accretion 4 – 4
Expenditures (3) (3) (6)
Revaluation adjustment (8) 1 (7)
Environmental liabilities, December 31 77 14 91
Less: current portion 2 3 5
 75 11 86
 
The following tables show the reconciliation between the undiscounted basis of the environmental liabilities and the amount 
recognized on the Balance Sheets after factoring in the discount rate: 
 

December 31, 2015 (millions of Canadian dollars)  PCB LAR Total 

Undiscounted environmental liabilities 81 11 92
Less: discounting accumulated liabilities to present value 10 – 10
Discounted environmental liabilities 71 11 82
 
December 31, 2014 (millions of Canadian dollars)  PCB LAR Total 

Undiscounted environmental liabilities 87 15 102
Less: discounting accumulated liabilities to present value 10 1 11
Discounted environmental liabilities 77 14 91
 
At December 31, 2015, the estimated future environmental expenditures were as follows: 
 

(millions of Canadian dollars)  
2016  5
2017  8
2018  8
2019  9
2020  9
Thereafter  53
  92
 

The Transmission Business records a liability for the estimated future expenditures for the contaminated LAR and for the 
phase-out and destruction of PCB-contaminated mineral oil removed from electrical equipment when it is determined that 
future environmental remediation expenditures are probable under existing statute or regulation and the amount of the future 
expenditures can be reasonably estimated.  
 

There are uncertainties in estimating future environmental costs due to potential external events such as changes in legislation 
or regulations, and advances in remediation technologies. In determining the amounts to be recorded as environmental 
liabilities, the Company estimates the current cost of completing required work and makes assumptions as to when the future 
expenditures will actually be incurred, in order to generate future cash flow information. A long-term inflation rate 
assumption of approximately 2% has been used to express these current cost estimates as estimated future expenditures. 
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Future expenditures have been discounted using factors ranging from approximately 3.8% to 5.1%, depending on the 
appropriate rate for the period when expenditures are expected to be incurred. All factors used in estimating the Transmission 
Business’ environmental liabilities represent management’s best estimates of the present value of costs required to meet 
existing legislation or regulations. However, it is reasonably possible that numbers or volumes of contaminated assets, cost 
estimates to perform work, inflation assumptions and the assumed pattern of annual cash flows may differ significantly from 
the Company’s current assumptions. In addition, with respect to the PCB environmental liability, the availability of critical 
resources such as skilled labour and replacement assets and the ability to take maintenance outages in critical facilities may 
influence the timing of expenditures. 
 
PCBs 
 

The Environment Canada regulations, enacted under the Canadian Environmental Protection Act, 1999, govern the 
management, storage and disposal of PCBs based on certain criteria, including type of equipment, in-use status, and PCB-
contamination thresholds. Under current regulations, the Company’s PCBs have to be disposed of by the end of 2025, with 
the exception of specifically exempted equipment. Contaminated equipment will generally be replaced, or will be 
decontaminated by removing PCB-contaminated insulating oil and retro filling with replacement oil that contains PCBs in 
concentrations of less than 2 ppm. 
 

The Transmission Business’ best estimate of the total estimated future expenditures to comply with current PCB regulations 
is $81 million. These expenditures are expected to be incurred over the period from 2016 to 2024. As a result of its annual 
review of environmental liabilities, the Transmission Business recorded a revaluation adjustment in 2015 to reduce the PCB 
environmental liability by $7 million (2014 – $8 million). 
 
LAR 
 

The Transmission Business’ best estimate of the total estimated future expenditures to complete its LAR program is 
$11 million. These expenditures are expected to be incurred over the period from 2016 to 2022. As a result of its annual 
review of environmental liabilities, the 2015 LAR revaluation adjustment was $nil (2014 – increase of $1 million). 
 
 
15. ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS 
 
The Company records a liability for the estimated future expenditures for the removal and disposal of asbestos-containing 
materials installed in some of its facilities and for the decommissioning of specific switching stations located on unowned 
sites. AROs, which represent legal obligations associated with the retirement of certain tangible long-lived assets, are 
computed as the present value of the projected expenditures for the future retirement of specific assets and are recognized in 
the period in which the liability is incurred, if a reasonable estimate of fair value can be made. If the asset remains in service 
at the recognition date, the present value of the liability is added to the carrying amount of the associated asset in the period 
the liability is incurred and this additional carrying amount is depreciated over the remaining life of the asset. If an ARO is 
recorded in respect of an out-of-service asset, the asset retirement cost is charged to results of operations. Subsequent to the 
initial recognition, the liability is adjusted for any revisions to the estimated future cash flows associated with the ARO, 
which can occur due to a number of factors including, but not limited to, cost escalation, changes in technology applicable to 
the assets to be retired, changes in legislation or regulations, as well as for accretion of the liability due to the passage of time 
until the obligation is settled. Depreciation expense is adjusted prospectively for any increases or decreases to the carrying 
amount of the associated asset. 
 

In determining the amounts to be recorded as AROs, the Company estimates the current fair value for completing required 
work and makes assumptions as to when the future expenditures will actually be incurred, in order to generate future cash 
flow information. A long-term inflation assumption of approximately 2% has been used to express these current cost 
estimates as estimated future expenditures. Future expenditures have been discounted using factors ranging from 
approximately 3.0% to 5.0%, depending on the appropriate rate for the period when expenditures are expected to be incurred. 
All factors used in estimating the Transmission Business’ AROs represent management’s best estimates of the cost required 
to meet existing legislation or regulations. However, it is reasonably possible that numbers or volumes of contaminated 
assets, cost estimates to perform work, inflation assumptions and the assumed pattern of annual cash flows may differ 
significantly from the Company’s current assumptions. AROs are reviewed annually or more frequently if significant 
changes in regulations or other relevant factors occur. Estimate changes are accounted for prospectively. 
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At December 31, 2015, the Company had recorded AROs of $4 million (2014 – $4 million), related to its Transmission 
Business, consisting of the estimated future expenditures associated with the removal and disposal of asbestos-containing 
materials installed in some of its facilities. The amount of interest recorded is nominal. 

 
 

16. HYDRO ONE NETWORKS’ SHARE CAPITAL 
 
Hydro One Networks is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common and preferred shares. At December 31, 2015, 
Hydro One Networks had 207,577,181 common shares issued and outstanding and no preferred shares issued and 
outstanding. 
 

During 2015, Hydro One Networks declared preferred share dividends in the amount of $16 million (2014 – $20 million) and 
common share dividends in the amount of $875 million (2014 – $724 million) to Hydro One. The amount allocated to the 
Transmission Business to finance these dividends was $650 million (2014 – $685 million), of which $625 million was paid in 
2015 (2014 – $685 million paid in 2014). 
 
 
17. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION 
 
The following compensation plans were established by Hydro One Limited, however they represent components of 
compensation costs of Hydro One and its subsidiaries, including Hydro One Networks, in current and future periods. 
 
Share Grant Plans 
 

At December 31, 2015, Hydro One Limited had two share grant plans, one for the benefit of certain members of the Power 
Workers’ Union (the PWU Share Grant Plan) and one for the benefit of certain members of The Society of Energy 
Professionals (the Society Share Grant Plan). These plans are part of the Company’s overall compensation strategy.  Hydro 
One and Hydro One Limited entered into an intercompany agreement, such that Hydro One will pay Hydro One Limited for 
the compensation costs associated with these plans. The agreement requires Hydro One Networks to reimburse Hydro One 
for the value of shares granted to the Company’s eligible employees relating to these plans.   
 

The PWU Share Grant Plan provides for the issuance of common shares of Hydro One Limited from treasury to certain 
eligible members of the Power Workers’ Union annually, commencing on April 1, 2017 and continuing until the earlier of 
April 1, 2028 or the date an eligible employee no longer meets the eligibility criteria of the PWU Share Grant Plan. To be 
eligible, an employee must be a member of the Pension Plan on April 1, 2015, be employed on the date annual share issuance 
occurs and continue to have under 35 years of service. The requisite service period for the PWU share grant plan begins on 
July 3, 2015, which is the date the share grant plans were ratified by the PWU. The number of common shares issued 
annually to each eligible employee will be equal to 2.7% of such eligible employee’s salary as at April 1, 2015, divided by 
$20.50, being the price of the common shares of Hydro One Limited in the IPO. The aggregate number of Hydro One 
Limited common shares issuable under the PWU Share Grant Plan shall not exceed 3,981,763 common shares. In 2015, 
1,761,152 Hydro One Limited common shares were granted under the PWU Share Grant Plan relevant to the total share 
based compensation recognized by the Transmission Business. 
 

The Society Share Grant Plan provides for the issuance of common shares of Hydro One Limited from treasury to certain 
eligible members of The Society of Energy Professionals annually, commencing on April 1, 2018 and continuing until the 
earlier of April 1, 2029 or the date an eligible employee no longer meets the eligibility criteria of the Society Share Grant 
Plan. To be eligible, an employee must be a member of the Pension Plan on September 1, 2015, be employed on the date 
annual share issuance occurs and continue to have under 35 years of service. Therefore the requisite service period for the 
Society Share Grant Plan begins on September 1, 2015. The number of common shares issued annually to each eligible 
employee will be equal to 2.0% of such eligible employee’s salary as at September 1, 2015, divided by $20.50, being the 
price of the common shares of Hydro One Limited in the IPO. The aggregate number of Hydro One Limited common shares 
issuable under the Society Share Grant Plan shall not exceed 1,434,686 common shares. In 2015, 608,626 Hydro One 
Limited common shares were granted under the Society Share Grant Plan relevant to the total share based compensation 
recognized by the Transmission Business. 
 

The fair value of the Hydro One Limited share grants is estimated based on the grant date Hydro One Limited share price of 
$20.50 and is recognized using the graded-vesting attribution method as the share grant plans have both a performance 
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condition and a service condition. Total fair value of shares granted in 2015 is $49 million (2014 – $nil). Total share based 
compensation recognized during 2015 by Hydro One Networks’ Transmission Business was $5 million (2014 – $nil) and was 
recorded as a regulatory asset. The historical turnover rate relating to members of the Power Workers’ Union and The Society 
of Energy Professionals is not believed to be reflective of a future turnover rate due to benefits conferred by the share grant 
plans. At December 31, 2015, the Company expects all eligible employees to receive the share grants until such time that 
they no longer meet the eligibility criteria and therefore, a forfeiture rate of 0% is assumed in amounts recognized during 
2015. The Company will reevaluate this assumption in subsequent periods based on actual experience. 
 

A summary of the Transmission Business’ share grant activity under the Share Grant Plans as of December 31, 2015 is 
presented below: 
 

Years ended December 31, 2015  
 Share Grants 

(Number) 
Weighted-Average 

Price 

Outstanding – beginning of year – –
    Granted (non-vested) 2,369,152 $20.50
Outstanding – end of year 2,369,152 –
 
Employee Share Ownership Plan  
 

Effective December 15, 2015, Hydro One Limited established an Employee Share Ownership Plan (ESOP). Under the ESOP, 
certain eligible management and non-represented employees may contribute between 1% and 6% of their base salary towards 
purchasing common shares of Hydro One Limited. Hydro One Networks will match 50% of the employee’s contributions, up 
to a maximum Company contribution of $25,000 per calendar year. No contributions were made under the ESOP during 
2015. 
 
Long-term Incentive Plan 
 

Effective August 31, 2015, the Board of Directors of Hydro One Limited adopted a Long-term Incentive Plan (LTIP). Under 
the LTIP, long-term incentives will be granted to certain executive and management employees of Hydro One Limited and its 
subsidiaries, and all equity-based awards will be settled in newly-issued shares of Hydro One Limited from treasury, 
consistent with the provisions of the plan. The aggregate number of shares issuable under the LTIP shall not exceed 
11,900,000 shares of Hydro One Limited. 
 

The LTIP provides flexibility to award a range of vehicles, including restricted share units, performance share units, stock 
options, share appreciation rights, restricted shares, deferred share units and other share-based awards. The mix of vehicles is 
intended to vary by role to recognize the level of executive accountability for overall business performance. No long-term 
incentives were awarded during 2015.  
 
 
18. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
The Transmission Business is a separately regulated business of Hydro One Networks which is a subsidiary of Hydro One. 
Hydro One is owned by Hydro One Limited, and the Province is the majority shareholder of Hydro One Limited. The OEFC, 
IESO, Ontario Power Generation Inc. (OPG), the OEB, and Hydro One Brampton are related parties to Hydro One Networks 
because they are controlled or significantly influenced by the Province. Transactions between these parties and the 
Transmission Business are described below.           
 
IESO 

 The Transmission Business receives amounts for transmission services from the IESO, based on OEB-approved uniform 
transmission rates. Amounts received for the year ended December 31, 2015 were $1,508 million (2014 – 
$1,555 million). Consistent with the Company’s revenue recognition policy, the Transmission Business recognized 
$1,456 million (2014 – $1,549 million) related to these services. 

 
OPG 

 The Company has service level agreements with OPG. These services include field and engineering, logistics and 
telecommunications services. In 2015, revenues of the Transmission Business related to the provision of construction and 
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equipment maintenance services with respect to these service level agreements were $6 million (2014 – $11 million). 
Operation, maintenance and administration costs in 2015 and 2014 related to the purchase of services with respect to 
these service level agreements were not significant. 

 
OEFC 

 During 2015, Hydro One paid a $8 million (2014 – $5 million) fee to the OEFC for indemnification against adverse 
claims in excess of $10 million paid by the OEFC with respect to certain of Ontario Hydro’s businesses transferred to 
Hydro One on April 1, 1999. Hydro One has not made any claims under the indemnity since it was put in place in 1999. 
Hydro One and the OEFC, with the consent of the Minister of Finance, terminated the indemnity fee effective October 31, 
2015. The Transmission Business’ allocation of this fee was $7 million. 

 PILs and payments in lieu of property taxes were paid to the OEFC. 
 
OEB 

 Under the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998, the OEB is required to recover all of its annual operating costs from gas and 
electricity distributors and transmitters. In 2015, the Transmission Business incurred $5 million (2014 – $5 million) in 
OEB fees. 

  
Hydro One Brampton 

 In August 2015, the Transmission Business received capital contributions totalling $8 million (2014 – $nil) from Hydro 
One Brampton. 

 
The amounts due to and from related parties as a result of the transactions referred to above are as follows: 
 

December 31 (millions of Canadian dollars)   2015 2014 

Accounts receivable  119 135
Accrued liabilities  (59) (25)
 
Hydro One Limited and Subsidiaries  
 The Transmission Business provides services to, and receives services from, Hydro One Limited and its subsidiaries. 

Amounts due to and from Hydro One Limited and its subsidiaries are settled through the inter-company demand facility.  

The Company has entered into various agreements with Hydro One Limited and its other subsidiaries related to the 
provision of shared corporate functions and services, including legal, financial and human resources services, and 
operational services, including environmental, forestry, and line services. Revenues in 2015 of the Transmission Business 
include $3 million (2014 – $3 million) related to the provision of services to Hydro One and its subsidiaries. In 2015, the 
Transmission Business purchased services from Hydro One Limited and its other subsidiaries totalling $31 million (2014 
– $31 million), of which $20 million (2014 – $20 million) was expensed, and 11 million (2014 – $11 million) was 
capitalized.  

 The Transmission Business’ long-term debt is due to Hydro One. In addition, balances payable or receivable under the 
inter-company demand facility are due to or due from Hydro One. Financing charges include interest expense on the long-
term debt in the amount of $248 million (2014 – $255 million), and interest income on the inter-company demand facility 
in the amount of $2 million (2014 –$5 million). At December 31, 2015, the Transmission Business had accrued interest 
payable to Hydro One totalling $58 million (2014 – $60 million). 

 On December 16, 2014, transmission assets totalling $526 million were transferred from Hydro One Networks’ 
Transmission Business to B2M LP, a limited partnership between Hydro One and the Saugeen Ojibway Nation, for 
proceeds of $526 million. These assets are associated with an electricity transmission line (Bruce to Milton Line) in 
southwestern Ontario, from the Bruce Power facility in Kincardine to our Milton Switching Station in the Town of 
Milton. The Transmission Business of Hydro One Networks will maintain and operate the Bruce to Milton Line in 
accordance with an operation and management services agreement. No gain or loss was recognized due to the transfer of 
Bruce to Milton Line transmission assets being a common control transaction as Hydro One controlled these assets before 
and after the transfer. 
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 During 2015, Hydro One Networks declared preferred share dividends in the amount of $16 million (2014 – $20 million) 
and common share dividends in the amount of $875 million (2014 – $724 million) to Hydro One. The amount allocated to 
the Transmission Business to finance these dividends was $650 million (2014 – $685 million), of which $625 million was 
paid in 2015 (2014 – $685 million paid in 2014), and $25 million (2014 – $nil) was included in accrued liabilities at 
December 31, 2015 and paid in 2016 (2014 – $nil paid in 2015). 

 In 2015, Hydro One Limited established certain stock-based compensation plans, however they represent components of 
costs of Hydro One and its subsidiaries, including Hydro One Networks in current and future periods. Hydro One and 
Hydro One Limited entered into an intercompany agreement, such that Hydro One will pay Hydro One Limited for the 
compensation costs associated with the share grant plans. The agreement requires Hydro One Networks to reimburse 
Hydro One for the value of shares granted to the Company’s eligible employees relating to these plans. At December 31, 
2015, Hydro One Networks’ Transmission Business had a payable of $5 million (2014 – $nil) to Hydro One associated 
with these plans. See Note 17 – Stock-based Compensation. 

 
 
19. STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
 
The changes in non-cash balances related to operations consist of the following: 
 

Year ended December 31 (millions of Canadian dollars)  2015 2014 

Accounts receivable  30 14
Materials and supplies  2 –
Other assets  (1) (2)
Accounts payable  – 28
Accrued liabilities  2 (45)
Accrued interest  (2) (1)
Long-term accounts payable and other liabilities  4 5
Post-retirement and post-employment benefit liability  28 27
  63 26
 
Capital Expenditures 
 

The following table illustrates the reconciliation between investments in property, plant and equipment and the amount 
presented in the Statements of Cash Flows after factoring in capitalized depreciation and the net change in related accruals: 
 

Year ended December 31 (millions of Canadian dollars)  2015 2014 

Capital investments in property, plant and equipment  (934) (845)
Capitalized depreciation and net change in accruals included in capital investments  
    in property, plant and equipment 9 11
Capital expenditures – property, plant and equipment  (925) (834)
 
The following table illustrates the reconciliation between investments in intangible assets and the amount presented in the 
Statements of Cash Flows after factoring in the net change in related accruals: 
 

Year ended December 31 (millions of Canadian dollars)  2015 2014 

Capital investments in intangible assets  (9) –
Net change in accruals included in capital investments in intangible assets  1 (4)
Capital expenditures – intangible assets  (8) (4)
 
Capital Contributions 
 

Hydro One enters into contracts governed by the OEB Transmission System Code when a transmission customer requests a 
new or upgraded transmission connection. The customer is required to make a capital contribution to Hydro One based on the 
shortfall between the present value of the costs of the connection facility and the present value of revenues. The present value 
of revenues is based on an estimate of load forecast for the period of the contract with Hydro One. Once the connection 
facility is commissioned, in accordance with the OEB Transmission System Code, Hydro One will periodically reassess the 
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estimated of load forecast which will lead to a decrease, or an increase in the capital contributions from the customer. The 
increase or decrease in capital contributions is recorded directly to fixed assets in service. In 2015, capital contributions to the 
Transmission Business from these reassessments totalled $69 million, which represents the difference between the revised 
load forecast of electricity transmitted compared to the load forecast in the original contract, subject to certain adjustments. 
No reassessments occurred in 2014. 
 
Supplementary Information 
 

Year ended December 31 (millions of Canadian dollars)  2015 2014 

Net interest paid  250 251
Income taxes / PILs paid  38 62
 
 
20. CONTINGENCIES 
 
In September 2015, Hydro One and three of its subsidiaries, including Hydro One Networks, were served with a class action 
suit in which the representative plaintiff is seeking up to $125 million in damages related to allegations of improper billing 
practices. Hydro One intends to defend the action. Due to the preliminary stage of legal proceedings, an estimate of a 
possible loss related to this claim cannot be made. 
 

The Company is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Hydro One. As such, the assets of the Transmission Business are available to 
satisfy the debts, contingent liabilities and commitments of both the Company and Hydro One. 
 
 
21. COMMITMENTS 
 
The Company and Hydro One have numerous commitments. These commitments have not been specifically allocated to the 
Transmission Business. However, the assets of the Transmission Business are available to satisfy the commitments of both 
the Company and Hydro One. 
 
 
22. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 
Long-term Debt 
 

On February 24, 2016, Hydro One issued the following notes under its MTN Program: 

 $500 million notes with a maturity date of February 24, 2021 and a coupon rate of 1.84%. This issuance was mirrored 
down to Hydro One Networks through the issuance of intercompany debt with a coupon rate of 1.86%, of which $250 
million was allocated to the Company’s Transmission Business; 

 $500 million notes with a maturity date of February 24, 2026 and a coupon rate of 2.77%. $490 million of this issuance 
was mirrored down to Hydro One Networks through the issuance of intercompany debt with a coupon rate of 2.79%, of 
which $245 million was allocated to the Company’s Transmission Business; and 

 $350 million notes with a maturity date of February 23, 2046 and a coupon rate of 3.91%. This issuance was mirrored 
down to Hydro One Networks through the issuance of intercompany debt with a coupon rate of 3.93%, of which $175 
million was allocated to the Company’s Transmission Business. 

 
On March 3, 2016, Hydro One repaid $450 million of maturing long-term debt notes under its MTN Program. On the same 
date, Hydro One Networks repaid inter-company debt of $450 million to Hydro One, of which $270 million was allocated to 
the Company’s Transmission Business. 
 
Payments to Finance Dividends 
 

On February 11, 2016, the Hydro One Networks paid $25 million of common share dividends to Hydro One. These dividends 
were declared in August 2015 and the entire amount was allocated to the Transmission Business to finance this payment.  
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On February 11, 2016, Hydro One Networks declared common share dividends in the amount of $2 million, and a return of 
stated capital in the amount of $225 million was approved. The amount allocated to the Transmission Business to finance 
these payments was $114 million, of which $12 million was paid on February 22, 2016. 
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ASSOCIATION OF MAJOR POWER CONSUMERS IN ONTARIO (AMPCO) 1 

INTERROGATORY #3  2 

 3 

Interrogatory 4 

 5 

Ref: Exhibit A, Tab 1, Schedule 1, Page 8 6 

 7 

Preamble: The evidence indicates savings realized during the deferral period will be used 8 

by HOI to offset transaction costs and premiums incurred in respect of the transaction. 9 

 10 

a) Please provide a breakdown and estimate of the transactions costs and indicate the 11 

year the costs will be incurred. 12 

 13 

b) Please provide the amount of the premiums to be paid through savings realized during 14 

the deferral period. 15 

 16 

Response 17 

 18 

a) Please refer to Exhibit I, Tab 1, Schedule 3. 19 

 20 

b) The transaction premium is approximately $150 million.  Please refer to Exhibit I, Tab 21 

1, Schedule 4.  Cost savings during the deferred rebasing period for each scenario are 22 

provided in Tables 3 and 5 of Exhibit A, Tab 2, Schedule 1.   The savings achieved 23 

during the deferral period will be used to offset transaction costs including the 24 

premium paid.   25 
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ASSOCIATION OF MAJOR POWER CONSUMERS IN ONTARIO (AMPCO) 1 

INTERROGATORY #4  2 

 3 

Interrogatory 4 

 5 

Ref: Exhibit A, Tab 1, Schedule 1, Page 9 6 

 7 

Preamble: HOI proposes to calculate GLPT’s revenue requirement by applying an annual 8 

inflation adjustment. HOI proposes having the productivity and stretch factor set at 0%. 9 

 10 

a) Please provide the source of the annual inflation factor to be used. 11 

 12 

Response 13 

 14 

The inflation rate used will be consistent with the RRFE for distribution.  The current 15 

distribution inflation factor is based upon the Gross Domestic Product Implicit Price 16 

Index.  If a different inflation rate methodology is established for transmission by the 17 

Board during the 2019-2026 timeframe, HOI proposes to use that rate.   18 

 19 
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ASSOCIATION OF MAJOR POWER CONSUMERS IN ONTARIO (AMPCO) 1 

INTERROGATORY #5  2 

 3 

Interrogatory 4 

 5 

Ref: Exhibit A, Tab 1, Schedule 1, Page 9 6 

 7 

Ref: OEB Handbook for Electricity Distributor and Transmitter Consolidations Page 5 8 

 9 

Preamble: The Handbook states: 10 

 11 

“As part of the regulatory framework, distributors are expected to achieve certain 12 

outcomes that provide value for money for customers.  One of these outcomes is 13 

operational effectiveness, which requires continuous improvement in productivity and cost 14 

performance by distributors and that utilities deliver on system reliability and quality 15 

objectives. The OEB uses processes to hold all utilities to a high standard of efficiency 16 

and effectiveness.” …..All of these measures are in place to ensure that distributors meet 17 

expectations regardless of their corporate structure or ownership. The OEB assesses 18 

applications for consolidation within the context of this regulatory framework.” 19 

 20 

a) Given that the OEB will assess consolidation applications in the context of the RRFE 21 

and improvements in productivity and cost performance, please explain why it is 22 

appropriate for HOI to exclude a productivity factor in the calculation of GLPT’s 23 

annual revenue requirement. 24 

 25 

Response 26 

 27 

The exclusion of a productivity factor from the proposed methodology to calculate 28 

GLPT’s 2019-2026 revenue requirement is consistent with the Handbook policy 29 

objectives associated with the deferred rate rebasing period.  As noted at pages 8 and 9 of 30 

the Handbook, the deferred rebasing period is intended to enable consolidating entities to 31 

fully realize efficiency gains from the transaction and retain achieved savings for a period 32 

of time to help offset the costs of the transaction.  Implementation of a productivity factor 33 

in the revenue requirement methodology would conflict with this stated objective as it 34 

would reduce the amount of the realized efficiencies that could otherwise offset the costs 35 

of a transaction.  This aspect of the policy is balanced by the fact that long-term 36 

productivity improvements achieved during the deferral period will be passed on to 37 

ratepayers at rebasing and through the implementation of an earnings sharing mechanism 38 

during the deferred rebasing period.  39 
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ASSOCIATION OF MAJOR POWER CONSUMERS IN ONTARIO (AMPCO) 1 

INTERROGATORY #6  2 

 3 

Interrogatory 4 

 5 

Ref: OEB Handbook for Electricity Distributor and Transmitter Consolidations Page  6 

 7 

Preamble: The Handbook provides the opportunity to defer rebasing for a period up to ten 8 

years from the closing of the transaction.  HOI has selected a ten year rate rebasing 9 

deferral period. 10 

 11 

a) Please provide the underlying analysis that supports the specific ten year rebasing 12 

deferral period selected instead of a 5 year, 6 year, 7 year, 8 year or 9 year deferral 13 

period. 14 

 15 

b) Please discuss how in the selection of a 10 year rebasing deferral period, HOI arrived 16 

at the appropriate balance between the incentives provided to utilities and the 17 

protection provided to customers. 18 

 19 

Response 20 

 21 

a) Please refer to Exhibit I, Tab 2, Schedule 4c. 22 

 23 

b) Please refer to Exhibit I, Tab 2, Schedule 4c. 24 
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ASSOCIATION OF MAJOR POWER CONSUMERS IN ONTARIO (AMPCO) 1 

INTERROGATORY #7  2 

 3 

Interrogatory 4 

 5 

Ref: OEB Handbook for Electricity Distributor and Transmitter Consolidations Page 8 6 

 7 

Preamble: The Handbook states “Specifically, the OEB will test the financial ratios and 8 

borrowing capacity of the resulting entity, as the improvement in financial strength is one 9 

of the expected underlying benefits of consolidation. 10 

 11 

a) Please provide HOI’s response to this expectation in terms of improvements to 12 

financial ratios and borrowing capacity. 13 

 14 

Response 15 

 16 

a) As discussed on lines 8 to 13 on page 8 of Exhibit A, Tab 2, Schedule 1, the value of 17 

the Transaction equates to approximately 2% of HOI’s fixed assets.  Hence, the 18 

Transaction will not have a material impact on HOI’s consolidated financial ratios or 19 

borrowing capacity.  GLPT will benefit from HOI’s financial strength as a result of 20 

this Transaction.  21 
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ASSOCIATION OF MAJOR POWER CONSUMERS IN ONTARIO (AMPCO) 1 

INTERROGATORY #8  2 

 3 

Interrogatory 4 

 5 

Ref: OEB Handbook for Electricity Distributor and Transmitter Consolidations Page 1 6 

 7 

Preamble: The Handbook states “Consolidation permits a larger scale of operation with 8 

the result that customers can be served at a lower per customer cost.” 9 

 10 

a) Please provide the cost per customer for HONI and GLPT for the years 2011 to 2015 11 

and the forecast cost per customer under the base and high potential scenarios. 12 

 13 

Response 14 

 15 

Transmission is an integrated system that serves all Ontario customers.  GLPT and Hydro 16 

One effectively have the same transmission rate-paying customers.  If assessing strictly 17 

directly-connected load customers of the utilities, Hydro One serves 47 LDCs and 90 large 18 

industrial customers and GLPT serves 2 LDCs and 20 large industrial customers 19 

(including generators).  The cost per customer would be in the millions for each utility, as 20 

illustrated in the table below. 21 

 22 

 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 
Hydro One Transmission 
Revenue 
Requirement 

$1,299.5 $1,385.1 $1,390.8 $1,446.4 $1,477.3 

# customers 137 137 137 137 137 
Cost/Customer $9.5M $10.1M $10.2 $10.6 $10.8 
GLPT 
Revenue 
Requirement 

$34.8 $36.1 $38.1 $38.7 $39.6 

# customers 22 22 22 22 22 
Cost/Customer $1.6M $1.6M $1.7M $1.8M $1.8M 
 23 

Consequently, the requested ratio does not provide a meaningful comparison of 24 

productivity for transmission unlike the case in distribution.  For instance, this analysis 25 

assumes the same weighting for all LDCs and their downstream customers, throughput, 26 

etc.  27 

 28 

HOI believes a more transmission appropriate ratio is OM&A/GFA as provided in HOI’s 29 

prefiled evidence at Table 1, in Exhibit A, Tab 2, Schedule 1 and as further described in 30 

Exhibit I, Tab 1, Schedule 2b. 31 



Filed: 2016-06-20 
EB-2016-0050 
Exhibit I 
Tab 3 
Schedule 9 
Page 1 of 3 

 
ASSOCIATION OF MAJOR POWER CONSUMERS IN ONTARIO (AMPCO) 1 

INTERROGATORY #9  2 

 3 

Interrogatory 4 

 5 

Ref: Exhibit A, Tab 2, Schedule 1, Page 9, Table 3 6 

 7 

Preamble: The evidence states that the productivity of transmitters is generally measured 8 

by “OM&A per gross fixed assets.” 9 

 10 

a) Please provide more information on the background of this measure and its acceptance 11 

by the OEB.  12 

 13 

b) Table 1: Please provide the Actual OM&A and GFA amounts used in the calculation 14 

for the years 2011 to 2015 for HONI and GLPT. 15 

 16 

c) Please provide the same table based on Total Cost per gross fixed assets. 17 

 18 

d) Please provide other metrics used in the industry to measure the productivity of 19 

transmitters. 20 

 21 

Response 22 

 23 

a) Please refer to Exhibit I, Tab 1, Schedule 2b. 24 

 25 

b) The actual OM&A and GFA amounts for both Hydro One and GLPT are provided 26 

below.   27 
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Actual OM&A/ GFA 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 

HONI1 3.5% 3.1% 2.7% 2.8% 2.9% 

GLPT2 3.1% 2.8% 3.1% 3.0% 3.0% 

Hydro One ($/million) 

OM&A 434 414 388 400 442 

GFA (less Future Use Land and 

Spares) 

12,410 13,522 14,140 14,467 15,055 

GLPT ($/million) 

OM&A 9.3 9.3 10.2 10.3 10.5 

GFA 298.9 328.6 334.1 338.1 344.8 

 1 

c) Total Cost/GFA analysis for both utilities is provided below.  2 

 3 

Hydro One ($/M) 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 

OM&A ($M) 434 414 388 400 442 

CapEx ($M) 792 759 706 845 934 

Total Cost ($M) 1,226 1,173 1,094 1,245 1,376 

GFA ($M) 12,410 13,522 14,140 14,467 15,055 

Total Cost/GFA  9.88% 8.67% 7.74% 8.61% 9.14% 

 4 

GLPT ($/M) 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 

OM&A ($M) 9.3 9.3 10.2 10.3 10.5 

CapEx ($M) 21 14 4 4 9 

Total Cost ($M) 30.3 23.3 14.2 14.3 19.5 

GFA ($M) 298.9 328.6 334.1 338.1 344.8 

GLPT Total Cost/GFA  10.1% 7.1% 4.3% 4.2% 5.7% 

 5 

HOI used OM&A in its productivity analysis as it is considered a more controllable 6 

transmitter costs as compared to total costs.  Total cost comparisons amongst transmitters 7 

have limited value as the statistic does not account for the significant operational 8 

                                                 
1 Source: Hydro One Transmission 2011-2015 Financial Statements 
2 Source:  GLPT 2011-2015 Financial Statements, EB-2012-0300, EB-2014-0238, and actual OM&A values provided by GLPT.   
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differences (e.g. transmission assets, service territory, line length, electricity throughput) 1 

between GLPT and Hydro One.  GLPT was not included in Hydro One’s recent 16 utility 2 

peer group Total Cost Benchmarking Study.   3 

 4 

When comparing Hydro One against the peers outlined in the Navigant Total Cost 5 

Benchmarking Study, the following results were provided by Navigant: 6 

 7 

 “…Hydro One’s total transmission expenditure (OM&A and CAPEX) was below 8 

the median of the peer group… 9 

 …Hydro One’s direct transmission expenditure (O&M and CAPEX) was among 10 

the lowest in the peer group… 11 

 Hydro One’s direct transmission O&M was at the median of the peer group… 12 

 Hydro One’s CAPEX was among the lowest in the peer group…” 3 13 

 14 

d)  Please refer to Exhibit I, Tab 1, Schedule 2b. 15 

                                                 
3 EB-2016-0160 – Exhibit B2, Tab 2, Schedule 1, Attachment 1 - Executive Summary 
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ASSOCIATION OF MAJOR POWER CONSUMERS IN ONTARIO (AMPCO) 1 

INTERROGATORY #10  2 

 3 

Interrogatory 4 

 5 

Ref: Exhibit A, Tab 2, Schedule 1, Page 9, Table 6 6 

 7 

a) Please provide the SAIDI and SAIFI results for HONI and GLPT excluding Major 8 

Event Days and Scheduled Outages for the years 2010 to 2015. 9 

 10 

Response 11 

 12 

a) Hydro One’s SAIFI and SAIDI results from 2011 to 2015 are provided below and 13 

similar results to GLPT are provided in Attachment 1.  These statistics are only for 14 

sustained forced outages and do not include planned outages. Please note that the 15 

GLPT statistics are consistent with previous GLPT rate applications. Although they 16 

include significant events to GLPT, there are no events included in the statistics that 17 

could be classified as major. 18 

 19 

 20 
  21 
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 1 



Customer Delivery Point 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Load Blk 4 (>80 MW) 0 0 0 1 1 0
Load Blk 3 (40-80 MW) 0 0 2 0 1 0
Load Blk 2 (15-40MW) 0 0 0 3 4 0
Load Blk 1 (0-15 MW) 12 9 24 43 39 28

A - Total Outages 12 9 26 47 45 28
B - Delivery Points Served 19 19 19 21 21 21
SAIFI (A/B) 0.6 0.5 1.4 2.2 2.1 1.3

Customer Delivery Point 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Load Blk 4 (>80 MW) 0 0 0 16 356 0
Load Blk 3 (40-80 MW) 0 0 23 0 345 0
Load Blk 2 (15-40MW) 0 0 0 44 1442 0
Load Blk 1 (0-15 MW) 1516 482 16338 3652 4088 3165

A - Total Outages 1516 482 16361 3712 6231 3165
B - Delivery Points Served 19 19 19 21 21 21
SAIDI (A/B) 79.8 25.4 861.1 176.8 296.7 150.7

System Average Interruption Frequency Index - SAIFI (Forced Sustrained)

System Average Interruption Duration Index - SAIDI (Forced Sustained)

GLPT SAIFI AND SAIDI (2010‐2015)

Filed: 2016-06-20 
EB-2016-0050 
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Attachment 1 
Page 1 of 1



Filed: 2016-06-20 
EB-2016-0050 
Exhibit I 
Tab 3 
Schedule 11 
Page 1 of 1 

 
ASSOCIATION OF MAJOR POWER CONSUMERS IN ONTARIO (AMPCO) 1 

INTERROGATORY #11 2 

 3 

Interrogatory 4 

 5 

Ref: Exhibit A, Tab 2, Schedule 1, Page 10 6 

 7 

Preamble: Hydro One does not believe that this transaction will have any negative impact 8 

on reliability or its trend, and believes that, once best practices of both organizations are 9 

amalgamated, these metrics could improve further. 10 

 11 

a) Please confirm this improved reliability performance is expected to occur without an 12 

increase in costs. 13 

 14 

Response 15 

 16 

Confirmed, this improved reliability performance is expected to occur without an increase 17 

in costs to ratepayers. 18 
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ASSOCIATION OF MAJOR POWER CONSUMERS IN ONTARIO (AMPCO) 1 

INTERROGATORY #12 2 

 3 

Interrogatory 4 

 5 

Ref: Exhibit A, Tab 2, Schedule 1, Page 1 6 

 7 

Preamble: Hydro One indicates that existing GLPTLP debt covenants prevent GLPT from 8 

bring amalgamated absent consent of the debt holders and potential  renegotiation of the 9 

fundamental terms of the GLPTLP debt instruments.  Renegotiation of these terms is 10 

expected to result in the occurrence of substantial costs. 11 

 12 

a) Please provide an estimate of these costs. 13 

 14 

Response 15 

 16 

An estimate cannot be provided as HOI has not had any discussion with the bondholders 17 

concerning renegotiation of fundamental terms. 18 

 19 

The GLPT debt has a high coupon rate of 6.6%.  The current market value of this debt is 20 

well in excess of its face value.  Based on the current Bloomberg Canadian ‘A’ rated 21 

utility 7-year yield of approximately 2.10%, the current $115 million face value of the 22 

debt would have a market value of approximately $145 million, about a $30 million 23 

premium. 24 

 25 

Absent consent of the debt holders, GLPT could unilaterally terminate the debt by 26 

exercising the early redemption provisions in the bond indenture.  However, the 27 

redemption cost would be even higher than the current market value. 28 
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School Energy Coalition (SEC)  INTERROGATORY #1  1 

 2 

Interrogatory 3 

 4 

[A-1-1, p.1] Does Great Lakes Power Transmission (“GLPT”), or any of its affiliates, 5 

require approval from the Board pursuant to section 86(1)(a) of the Ontario Energy Board 6 

Act? If so, is this application seeking such approval?  7 

 8 

Response 9 

 10 

No. HOI interprets section 86(1)(a) of the OEB Act to relate to asset sale transactions 11 

involving the entirety or substantially the entirety of a transmission system.  This 12 

interpretation is consistent with the views expressed in the Handbook dated January 19, 13 

2016 at page 3 which reads “Section 86(1)(a) and (c) of the OEB Act relate to asset sales 14 

and amalgamations. Section 86(2) of the OEB Act relates to voting securities”.   15 

 16 

As described in Exhibit A, Tab 1, Schedule 1, pages 1 through 3, the transaction before 17 

the Board involves HOI’s acquisition of all outstanding voting securities of the licensed 18 

transmitter, GLPT.  It is not a transaction involving the acquisition or disposition of 19 

assets comprising the entirety or substantially the entirety of a transmission system.  For 20 

these reasons, relief pursuant to section 86(2), and not section 86(1), is sought. 21 
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School Energy Coalition (SEC)  INTERROGATORY #2  1 

 2 

Interrogatory 3 

 4 

[A-1-1] Please provide a copy of all material provided to the Applicant’s Board of 5 

Directors, related to the approval of the transaction. 6 

 7 

Response 8 

 9 

HOI declines to provide the requested information as it is information not relevant to the 10 

relief sought in the application.  In support of this position, HOI relies on the Handbook.  11 

One of the objectives of the Handbook is stated at Page 1:  12 

 13 

“The OEB has a statutory obligation to review and approve consolidation 14 

transactions where they are in the public interest.   In discharging its 15 

mandate, the OEB is committed to reducing regulatory barriers to 16 

consolidation.  In order to facilitate both a thorough and timely review of 17 

requests for approval of transactions, in this Handbook the OEB provides 18 

guidance on the process for review of an application, the information the 19 

OEB expects to receive in support, and the approach it will take in 20 

assessing the merits of the consolidation in meeting the public interest. 21 

 22 

Recent OEB policies and decisions on consolidation applications have 23 

already established a number of principles to create a more predictable 24 

regulatory environment for applications.  This Handbook will provide 25 

further clarity to applicants, investors, shareholders and other 26 

stakeholders.” 27 

 28 

Regulatory efficiencies in consolidation proceedings cannot be achieved if the 29 

evidentiary record is allowed to include information that pertains to matters outside of the 30 

OEB’s stated considerations. 31 

   32 

At page 3 of the Handbook, the OEB states that the Filing Requirements found in 33 

Schedule 2 set out the information needed for inclusion in an application.  34 

 35 

The scope of review to be carried out during a consolidation proceeding is discussed at 36 

page 9 of the Handbook. Confirmation is provided that deliberations, activities, and 37 

documents leading up to the final transaction agreement are not matters relevant for 38 

consideration when an application made pursuant to section 86(2) of the OEB Act.   39 

 40 

The requested information concerns deliberations, activities and documents leading up to 41 

the final transaction agreement and this application. As such, and based on the above 42 

reasons, HOI respectfully submits the information is not relevant to this proceeding and 43 

therefore declines to produce these materials.   44 
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School Energy Coalition (SEC)  INTERROGATORY #3  1 

 2 

Interrogatory 3 

 4 

[A-1-1, p.3] Please provide the premium paid by Hydro One. Please provide the 5 

derivation of the calculation.  6 

 7 

Response 8 

 9 

Please refer Exhibit I, Tab 1, Schedule 4. 10 
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School Energy Coalition (SEC)  INTERROGATORY #4  1 

 2 

Interrogatory 3 

 4 

[A-1-1, p.3] Please provide the forecasted transaction costs incurred by Hydro One, by 5 

year. Please provide a breakdown of those costs.  6 

 7 

Response 8 

 9 

Please refer to Exhibit I, Tab 1, Schedule 3. 10 
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School Energy Coalition (SEC)  INTERROGATORY #5  1 

 2 

Interrogatory 3 

 4 

[A-1-1, p.8-9] The Applicant states that the rate rebasing deferral period will be 10 years 5 

for GLPT. Please reconcile that with the statement that GLPT is expected to file a rate 6 

application for its revenue requirement in 2017 and 2018, and then in 2019, its revenue 7 

requirement will be set by way of inflationary adjustment through to 2026, which would 8 

be 8, not 10 years. 9 

 10 

Response 11 

 12 

Please refer to Exhibit I, Tab 1, Schedule 5. 13 
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School Energy Coalition (SEC)  INTERROGATORY #6  1 

 2 

Interrogatory 3 

 4 

[A-1-1, p.8] Please explain why, given this application and the proposed rebasing deferral 5 

period, it is appropriate for GLPT to bring an application for approval for 2017 and 2018 6 

rates on a cost of service basis and have the deferral period begin in 2019. 7 

 8 

Response 9 

 10 

The proposed deferred rebasing period commences at the close of the transaction and not 11 

in 2019.  GLPT’s revenue requirement for the first two years of the deferred rebasing 12 

period is intended to be established through its cost of service application for 2017 and 13 

2018.   14 

 15 

The 2017 and 2018 GLPT cost of service application will ensure the revenue requirement 16 

for these years allows GLPT to continue to provide safe and reliable transmission service.  17 

GLPT will continue to operate on a stand-alone basis during this period.   18 

 19 

While HOI does not expect to undertake any significant operational integration steps with 20 

GLPT in 2017 and 2018, commencement of the deferred rebasing period at the close of 21 

the transaction is necessary given the requirements set out in the OEB’s Handbook.  The 22 

initial two year period will be used to assess, identify and plan where operational savings 23 

and synergies may be achieved in the remainder of the deferral rebasing period and 24 

beyond without impacting quality of service.  25 
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School Energy Coalition (SEC)  INTERROGATORY #7  1 

 2 

Interrogatory 3 

 4 

[A-1-1, p.8] Please justify why a rate rebasing deferral period of 10 years is appropriate.   5 

 6 

Response 7 

 8 

Please refer to Exhibit I, Tab 2, Schedule 4c. 9 
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School Energy Coalition (SEC)  INTERROGATORY #8  1 

 2 

Interrogatory 3 

 4 

[A-1-1-Attach, section 1.1.16] Please provide a copy of the ‘memorandum of agreement 5 

between GLPT and Power Workers’ Union C.U.P.E. Local 1000 dated November 23, 6 

2015. 7 

  8 

Response 9 

 10 

Please refer to Attachment 1. 11 
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School Energy Coalition (SEC)  INTERROGATORY #9  1 

 2 

Interrogatory 3 

 4 

[A-1-1-Attach, section 6.3.2] Please explain the rationale for section 6.3.2. 5 

  6 

Response 7 

 8 

Great Lakes Power Transmission Holdings LP and Great Lakes Power Transmission LP 9 

are indebted under various debt instruments.  Section 6.3.2 repeats the terms on which 10 

control of the borrowers can change without triggering a default resulting in the 11 

outstanding debt falling due. The Vendor included section 6.3.2 in its form of Purchase 12 

and Sale Agreement to ensure that the debt could remain in place on sale of the 13 

Purchased Securities. 14 
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School Energy Coalition (SEC)  INTERROGATORY #10  1 

 2 

Interrogatory 3 

 4 

[A-2-1, p.4] Please provide a copy of GLPT’s “draft capital expenditure plan”.   5 

 6 

Response 7 

 8 

Please refer to Exhibit I, Tab 2, Schedule 6a. 9 
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School Energy Coalition (SEC)  INTERROGATORY #11  1 

 2 

Interrogatory 3 

 4 

[A-2-1, p4] With respect to the capital expenditure cost saving scenarios: 5 

 6 

a. Please provide a breakdown of Table 3, to show the specific areas of the potential 7 

cost savings per year.  8 

 9 

b. Please provide details of all assumptions used in the calculations.  10 

 11 

Response 12 

 13 

Please refer Exhibit I, Tab 2, Schedule 6b. 14 
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School Energy Coalition (SEC)  INTERROGATORY #12  1 

 2 

Interrogatory 3 

 4 

[A-2-1, p.5] With respect to the capital expenditure cost saving scenarios: 5 

 6 

a. Please provide the basis, including all underlying documentation, that the Applicant 7 

used to derive the GLPT “OM&A Cost Forecast Without Transaction” forecast 8 

(Table 4). 9 

 10 

b. Please provide a breakdown of Table 7, to show the specific areas of the potential 11 

cost savings per year.  12 

 13 

c. Please provide details of all assumptions used in the calculations.  14 

 15 

Response 16 

 17 

a) GLPT provided HOI with information shown in Table 4 relating to 2017 and 2018 18 

costs.  The 2017 and 2018 costs are reflective of the OM&A expenses, expected at 19 

the time, to be included in GLPT’s 2017 and 2018 revenue requirement application.  20 

OM&A expenses beyond 2018 were inflated annually by 2%. 21 

 22 

b) HOI understands the request to be a breakdown of Table 4.  This information is 23 

provided below.   24 

 25 

HOI completed an envelope reduction to the total OM&A and not a line by line 26 

savings analysis.  As outlined in the application, detailed cost savings analysis will be 27 

undertaken in 2017 and 2018.  Potential areas of productivity savings related to 28 

OM&A are discussed in Exhibit I, Tab 1, Schedule 2. 29 

 30 

GLPT Operating Expense 31 

$/M 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 
Escalation (%) 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 
Operating & 
Administration 

8.67 8.84 9.02 9.20 9.38 9.57 9.76 9.96 10.15 10.36 

Maintenance 2.06 2.10 2.14 2.18 2.23 2.27 2.32 2.36 2.41 2.48 
Insurance 0.34 0.35 0.36 0.36 0.37 0.38 0.39 0.39 0.40 0.41 
Cost 
Allocations 0.41 0.42 0.42 0.43 0.44 0.45 0.46 0.47 0.48 0.49 

TOTAL 11.48 11.71 11.94 12.17 12.42 12.67 12.93 13.18 13.44 13.74 

 32 

c) Please refer to b) 33 
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School Energy Coalition (SEC)  INTERROGATORY #13  1 

 2 

Interrogatory 3 

 4 

[A-2-1, p.8-9] Please provide all calculations and assumptions made with respect to the 5 

forecast of the UTR with and without the transactions for both, the base and high case 6 

scenarios.  7 

 8 

Response 9 

 10 

Hydro One estimated the UTR revenue requirement for GLPT based upon the 11 

assumptions in Tables 2-5 of Exhibit A, Tab 1, Schedule 1.  The requested analysis is 12 

broken down into two parts, the calculation of the 2026 projected GLPT revenue 13 

requirement and then the derivation of the UTR.   14 

 15 

2026 Projected Revenue Requirement 16 

 17 

$/million Status Quo Base Case High Case 
OM&A 13.7 11.8 9.1 
Depreciation 12.3 11.9 11.8 
Return on Debt 11.3 10.8 10.3 
Return on Equity 10.7 10.1 9.7 
Income Tax 2.4 2.1 1.9 
Less Other Income -0.1 -0.1 -0.1 
Revenue 
Requirement 

50.3 46.6 42.7 

Rate Base 289.9 274.8 262.9 
LT Debt Rate 6.87% 4.62% 4.62% 
ST Debt Rate 1.65% 1.65% 1.65% 
ROE 9.19% 9.19% 9.19% 
 18 

Calculations showing the potential impact of the above revenue requirements on the UTR 19 

are found in Attachments 1-3.  In order to isolate the UTR impact of the GLPT revenue 20 

requirement all other transmitter’s revenue requirements were held constant at 2016 21 

levels.   22 

 23 

The UTR impact of the transaction at the end of the 10 year rate rebasing deferral period 24 

(relative to current 2016 UTR rates) based upon the scenarios described in Exhibit A, Tab 25 

2, Scheulde 1 is to be an increase of approximately $0.02 to the Network Service Rate 26 

and $0.01 to the Transformation Connection rate under the Base Case scenarios (i.e. 27 

capital and OM&A).  Under the High Case scenarios, the Network Service Rate is to 28 

increase by approximately $0.01 from current 2016 rates. 29 



Network
Line 

Connection
Transformation 

Connection
Total

FNEI $3,701,645 $878,728 $1,746,716 $6,327,089

CNPI $2,608,113 $619,136 $1,230,705 $4,457,953

GLPT $27,273,727 $6,474,466 $12,869,807 $46,618,000

H1N $866,145,218 $205,612,810 $408,712,802 $1,480,470,830

B2MLP $32,965,146 $0 $0 $32,965,146

All Transmitters $932,693,850 $213,585,139 $424,560,029 $1,570,839,018

Network
Line 

Connection
Transformation 

Connection
 

FNEI 187.120 213.460 76.190

CNPI 522.894 549.258 549.258

GLPT 3,498.236 2,734.624 635.252

H1N 249,552 241,956 207,936

B2MLP 0.000 0.000 0.000

All Transmitters 253,760.250 245,453.342 209,196.700

Network
Line 

Connection
Transformation 

Connection
Uniform Transmission 

Rates 
($/kW Month)

3.68 0.87 2.03

FNEI Allocation Factor 0.00397 0.00411 0.00411

CNPI Allocation Factor 0.00280 0.00290 0.00290

GLPT Allocation Factor 0.02924 0.03031 0.03031

H1N Allocation Factor 0.92865 0.96268 0.96268

B2MLP Allocation Factor 0.03534 0.00000 0.00000

Total of Allocation Factors 1.00000 1.00000 1.00000

Transmitter

Total Annual Charge Determinants (MW)

Transmitter

Uniform Rates and Revenue Allocators

Uniform Transmission Rates and Revenue Disbursement Allocators
assuming GLPT Base Case Revenue at Year 10 of Rebasing Period

Transmitter
Revenue Requirement ($)
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Network
Line 

Connection
Transformation 

Connection
Total

FNEI $3,701,645 $878,728 $1,746,716 $6,327,089

CNPI $2,608,113 $619,136 $1,230,705 $4,457,953

GLPT $24,993,799 $5,933,237 $11,793,964 $42,721,000

H1N $866,145,218 $205,612,810 $408,712,802 $1,480,470,830

B2MLP $32,965,146 $0 $0 $32,965,146

All Transmitters $930,413,921 $213,043,911 $423,484,187 $1,566,942,018

Network
Line 

Connection
Transformation 

Connection
 

FNEI 187.120 213.460 76.190

CNPI 522.894 549.258 549.258

GLPT 3,498.236 2,734.624 635.252

H1N 249,552 241,956 207,936

B2MLP 0.000 0.000 0.000

All Transmitters 253,760.250 245,453.342 209,196.700

Network
Line 

Connection
Transformation 

Connection

Uniform 
Transmission 
Rates 
($/kW-Month)

3.67 0.87 2.02

FNEI Allocation 
Factor

0.00398 0.00412 0.00412

CNPI Allocation 
Factor

0.00280 0.00291 0.00291

GLPT Allocation 
Factor

0.02686 0.02785 0.02785

H1N Allocation 
Factor

0.93093 0.96512 0.96512

B2MLP 
Allocation Factor

0.03543 0.00000 0.00000

Total of Allocation 
Factors

1.00000 1.00000 1.00000

Transmitter

Total Annual Charge Determinants (MW)

Transmitter

Uniform Rates and Revenue Allocators

Uniform Transmission Rates and Revenue Disbursement Allocators

Transmitter
Revenue Requirement ($)

Assuming GLPT High Case Revenue at Year 10 of Rebasing Period
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Network
Line 

Connection
Transformation 

Connection
Total

FNEI $3,701,645 $878,728 $1,746,716 $6,327,089

CNPI $2,608,113 $619,136 $1,230,705 $4,457,953

GLPT $29,450,103 $6,991,112 $13,896,785 $50,338,000

H1N $866,145,218 $205,612,810 $408,712,802 $1,480,470,830

B2MLP $32,965,146 $0 $0 $32,965,146

All Transmitters $934,870,225 $214,101,785 $425,587,008 $1,574,559,018

Network
Line 

Connection
Transformation 

Connection
 

FNEI 187.120 213.460 76.190

CNPI 522.894 549.258 549.258

GLPT 3,498.236 2,734.624 635.252

H1N 249,552 241,956 207,936

B2MLP 0.000 0.000 0.000

All Transmitters 253,760.250 245,453.342 209,196.700

Network
Line 

Connection
Transformation 

Connection

Uniform 
Transmission 
Rates 
($/kW-Month)

3.68 0.87 2.03

FNEI Allocation 
Factor

0.00396 0.00410 0.00410

CNPI Allocation 
Factor

0.00279 0.00289 0.00289

GLPT Allocation 
Factor

0.03150 0.03265 0.03265

H1N Allocation 
Factor

0.92649 0.96036 0.96036

B2MLP 
Allocation Factor

0.03526 0.00000 0.00000

Total of Allocation 
Factors

1.00000 1.00000 1.00000

Transmitter

Total Annual Charge Determinants (MW)

Transmitter

Uniform Rates and Revenue Allocators

Uniform Transmission Rates and Revenue Disbursement Allocators

Transmitter
Revenue Requirement ($)

Assuming GLPT Status Quo Revenue at Year 10 of Rebasing Period
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School Energy Coalition (SEC)  INTERROGATORY #14  1 

 2 

Interrogatory 3 

 4 

[A-2-1, p.4-9]  Based on the forecasted capital and OM&A cost savings, forecasted under 5 

both the base and high case scenarios, please provide an estimated actual ROE for GLPT 6 

for each year between 2017 and 2026.   7 

 8 

Response 9 

 10 

The estimated ROEs for GLPT under both the base and high case scenarios for the 11 

periods 2017-2026 can be sourced from the model provided in Exhibit I, Tab 2, Schedule 12 

10, Attachment 4. The results can be found by setting the scenario ‘modes’ in the excel 13 

model tab labeled “ROE” and will be calculated on row 13.  The model scenarios can be 14 

changed (to Base and High) in the Excel model, by going to the ‘Assumptions’ tab by 15 

entering the correct scenario number in cell D11.  16 

 17 

ROE% 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 

Base 
Scenario 

11.26% 10.63% 11.27% 11.28% 11.29% 11.11% 10.95% 11.22% 11.08% 11.16% 

High 
Scenario 

11.26% 10.63% 13.24% 13.42% 13.40% 13.29% 13.41% 13.71% 13.72% 13.87% 

 18 
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School Energy Coalition (SEC)  INTERROGATORY #15  1 

 2 

Interrogatory 3 

 4 

[A-2-1, p.4-9] Please explain why there are no forecasted capital and OM&A cost 5 

savings under both the base and high case scenarios for 2017 and 2018.  6 

 7 

Response 8 

 9 

Please refer to Exhibit I, Tab 4, Schedule 6. 10 
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School Energy Coalition (SEC)  INTERROGATORY #16  1 

 2 

Interrogatory 3 

 4 

[A-2-1, p.9] Please advise whether Applicant would consider it appropriate for the Board 5 

to make commitments to maintain or improve reliability as a condition of its transmission 6 

license. If the Applicant does not consider that appropriate, please explain why. 7 

 8 

Response 9 

 10 

The type of condition proposed is not appropriate.  Licensed transmitters are required to 11 

meet all applicable safety and reliability standards as required under the applicable 12 

legislation and regulations. HOI expects that Hydro One and GLPT will continue to meet 13 

these requirements, should this application be approved. 14 
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School Energy Coalition (SEC)  INTERROGATORY #17  1 

 2 

Interrogatory 3 

 4 

[A-2-1-p.8-9]  What harm, if any, does the Applicant believe that increasing its share of 5 

the transmission system in Ontario from 94.6% to 96.8% will have on ratepayers. Please 6 

provide a copy of all submissions, information and materials provided to the Competition 7 

Commissioner related to the transaction. 8 

 9 

Response 10 

 11 

No harm to ratepayers is expected to result from this transaction.   12 

 13 

HOI declines to provide the requested information as it is not relevant to the application 14 

before the OEB. The Competition Bureau is an independent law enforcement agency 15 

responsible for administering and enforcing (among other legislation) the federal 16 

Competition Act.  The Competition Bureau’s review of the transaction concerns 17 

requirements found under the Competition Act; its process is distinct from the jurisdiction 18 

of the OEB and the approvals sought in this Application.  19 
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School Energy Coalition (SEC)  INTERROGATORY #18  1 

 2 

Interrogatory 3 

 4 

[A-3-1, p.1] Please provide any analysis or evidence to justify why a 0% productivity 5 

factor for transmission is appropriate. 6 

 7 

Response 8 

 9 

Please refer to Exhibit I, Tab 3, Schedule 5. 10 
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School Energy Coalition (SEC)  INTERROGATORY #19  1 

 2 

Interrogatory 3 

 4 

[A-3-1, p.1] Please explain what the Applicant means by the “… given that the 5 

circumstances in this case concern transmission entities...” 6 

 7 

Response 8 

 9 

The quoted phrase concerns HOI’s proposal to set a productivity and stretch factor at 0%.  10 

The rationale for this is found in Exhibit I, Tab 1, Schedule 7 and Exhibit I, Tab 3, 11 

Schedule 5. 12 
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School Energy Coalition (SEC)  INTERROGATORY #20  1 

 2 

Interrogatory 3 

 4 

[A-3-1, p.1] Please explain why the Applicant believes a stretch factor of 0% is 5 

appropriate. 6 

 7 

Response 8 

 9 

Please refer to Exhibit I, Tab 1, Schedule 7 and Exhibit I, Tab 3, Schedule 5. 10 
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School Energy Coalition (SEC)  INTERROGATORY #21  1 

 2 

Interrogatory 3 

 4 

[A-3-1, p.1] Please provide a copy of all benchmarking studies or analysis undertaken by 5 

GLPT, or by the Applicant which includes GLPT in it, in the last 5 years.   6 

 7 

Response 8 

 9 

Benchmarking studies undertaken by Hydro One in the last 5 years have not included 10 

GLPT.  Hydro One’s peer group has included comparable larger-sized transmitters.   11 

 12 

For benchmarking studies completed by GLPT over the last 5 years, please refer to 13 

Attachments 1, 2 and 3. 14 



 

 

Attachment 1 
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 1

Great Lakes Power Transmission LP (GLPT) is a transmission owner and operator serving a 
portion of northern Ontario, Canada.  GLPT was established as part of a series of 
reorganizations of Great Lakes Power Limited (GLPL) in which GLPT became the owner and 
operator of GLPL’s transmission business. Prior to these reorganizations GLPL ran the 
transmission business financially separate from its generation and distribution businesses and 
operationally in conjunction with the distribution business. Previously the transmission business 
of GLPL has been through a full cost of service review. This is the second application of GLPT 
as a stand-alone transmitter, i.e., both financially and operationally.  
 
First Quartile Consulting (1QC) was engaged to analyze the costs of operation of the GLPT 
transmission system, in comparison with those of other transmission providers in North 
America.  There are very few true “peers” for comparison, since GLPT is somewhat unique in 
terms of its size, rural geographic location, and dense vegetation.  Nevertheless, it is important 
to gain some understanding of the relative costs of operation of the system in comparison to 
other transmission providers, in order to determine reasonable rates for operating the company.  
1QC used the data from a panel of companies who have provided that data during detailed 
annual benchmark studies of North American transmission utilities as a basis for comparison 
against GLPT.  

1QC performed a set of analyses to determine how GLPT compared against a panel of 
companies with regard to Transmission Line, Transmission Substation and related 
Administrative and General (A&G) expenses.   The primary basis for the comparison was a data 
set of Transmission Lines & Substations O&M expenses which is gathered during the annual 
1QC transmission and distribution benchmark study.  That study doesn’t collect A&G costs as 
part of the standard comparisons.   
 
The definitions used for separation of direct O&M costs versus A&G costs in the 1QC study are 
those used in the FERC uniform system of accounts.  Canadian utilities (some of whom are 
included in the comparison panel) typically capture the A&G costs together with the O&M costs, 
and report them as OM&A. The experience from the annual 1QC benchmark studies is that the 
Canadian utilities are able to separate out the A&G costs effectively, by following the definitions 
provided in the uniform system of accounts, so their results are directly comparable, 
 
To address the need to include A&G costs in the comparison, we gathered three years of A&G 
expenses from available FERC reports.  These A&G expenses as reported to FERC are for the 
whole generation, transmission and distribution operation.  Therefore, it was necessary to make 
an allocation of A&G expenses for just transmission lines & substations.  A rudimentary 
calculation was used to allocate A&G to transmission: (transmission O&M expense / 
(transmission + generation + distribution O&M expense)) * total A&G expense = transmission 
portion of A&G expense.  While this is a very simple approach to allocating the costs, it has 
been tested in previous years through annual benchmark studies, and has proven accurate in 
determining allocations that are very close to the actual allocations for each company. 
 










 2

GLPT’s Transmission lines & substations O&M expenses and its O&M + A&G expenses were 
compared against the 1QC panel.  To perform a valid comparison, it was necessary to 
normalize the data to account for the different sizes of the companies.  For the primary 
normalizing factor we chose total transmission lines & substations assets.  Through analysis 
over the years, we have determined that total assets is the appropriate normalization factor for 
transmission spending and that it is possible to accurately predict a company’s O&M expenses 
based upon the value of the assets they have.  See Appendix A for a more complete 
explanation of the selection of normalizing factor.  

Based upon our primary comparison, GLPT generally falls below average on a cost per asset 
basis.  In the graphs below, the mean and quartiles are calculated without GLPT’s data.  They 
are based solely on our panel of companies, so that GLPT is being compared against a data set   
without influencing it.  
 
Note that in graphs years 2010 to 2012 are projected based upon 2007 to 2009 actual data for 
all companies other than GLPT.  
 
For all of the graphs only companies for which A&G data was available were used. GLPT 
compares favorably against this panel.  Graph 2 shows just the A&G per asset.  Clearly, while 
GLPT shows slightly increasing A&G costs, the result is still well below the median cost within 
the panel 
 
Graph 1    
   
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
A comparison of this report with a similar report prepared during 2009 will show different values for the cost-per-asset figures for 
Great Lakes Power.  In particular, during the 2009 study, the net assets were used for Great Lakes Power, rather than the gross 
assets, as was done for all other companies in the comparison.  This was corrected during this year’s study.  The conclusions of the 
study don’t change on the basis of the revised computation, so there is no need to go back and re-issue the previous study. 
 







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Graph 2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Graph 3 below shows the O&M costs without the A&G costs.  GLPT, even with increases in the 
past two years, is and expects to remain in the first quartile for the comparison panel.   
 
Graph 3 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
An important point about the GLPT costs for 2009 and 2010 should be noted. GLPT is in the 
midst of a multi-year construction program, so the asset base will be growing. These 
expenditures won’t be reflected in the denominator of the ratio charted until 2011, because a 
large portion of the expenditures will be in CWIP for the forecast period, rather than in the in-
service asset base.  At the same time, the new assets (primarily substation assets) will require 
less maintenance than the assets they are replacing.  The implication is that once the new 
assets are placed in service after 2010, there will be a dampening effect on the increasing 
cost/asset shown in graph 1 above.   
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For other comparisons, we also normalized spending based upon customers and circuit 
kilometers.  Neither of these comparisons is recommended (see appendix) and the results are 
about as expected for GLPT, which is a small transmission operator. 
 
Graph 4 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Graph 5 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Two other possible normalizing factors (denominators) (kWh transmitted and megawatt miles) 
were excluded because of lack of data, but neither has been demonstrated to be better than 
assets at predicting transmission & substation O&M spending. 
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Over a span of more than 20 years of executing benchmark studies of electric transmission and 
distribution operations in North American utilities, the consultants at 1QC have performed a 
variety of analyses of the resulting data.  One question of enduring interest is how to normalize 
the data from different companies in order to make both fair and understandable comparisons.  
Through a number of different analyses and reporting efforts, it has become clear that with an 
appropriate normalizing factor, it is possible to make fair comparisons, and that it is also 
possible to explain the results in ways that make them useful to regulators and companies. 
 
For many years, the studies have been consistent in terms of identifying the normalizing factor 
that produces the best predictor of operating costs in transmission and distribution.  Given the 
difference in the functions of transmission and distribution, separate studies have been 
performed for transmission and distribution (and indeed for substation operations). The exact 
regression results change from year to year, but are generally the same direction. 
In order to re-validate the results from previous years, the project team performed an analysis of 
the data from the most recently completed annual benchmark dataset.  The results of that 
analysis are presented below. 
 
To determine the appropriate denominators (normalizing factors) to use for analysis, we 
compare the dependent variable, in this case O&M spending, to various independent variables: 
customers, circuit kilometers, and assets.  We look for a strong correlation between the two 
variables.  For transmission lines and substations O&M spending, the strongest correlation 
exists between spending and assets.  The relationship between spending and customers or 
circuit km is much weaker.  The table below shows R2 correlation coefficient values for the 
dependent and independent variables.  The table was generated without A&G expenses 
because of the method used for estimating A&G expenses.  It was necessary to determine the 
correct normalizing factor from our most current valid data set.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
In summary, we have found assets to be the appropriate denominator because it appears to 
have a higher predictive value when there are big differences in customer density among the 
panel.  
 
Transmission operators do not really have end-use customers, which is one reason customers 
is such a weak normalizing factor.  Kilometers is also weak because the costs of operating 
substations are included in the dependent variable and substations are not accounted for when 
kilometers is used as a normalizing factor. 
 
Shown below are the individual graphs from which the R2 values are derived.   In each graph, 
GLPT has been added to the graph to show where they fall compared to the other companies, 
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but they are not included in the calculation of the correlation coefficient.  1QC decided that it 
was appropriate to determine the correlation coefficients independently of GLPT’s data.  By 
performing the analysis this way, GLPT’s data isn’t influencing the findings. 
 

 
 
Other correlation charts between expenses and normalizing factors: 
 

 
 
Note that the outlier on the circuit kilometers graph is on the regression line when assets are 
used. This is particularly noteworthy because this company has some of the same 
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characteristics of GLPT, namely low customer density.  The density issue is also illustrated on 
the graph below.  
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Company #4 

 
 
 

Company #5 
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Company #6 

 
 
 

Company #7 
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
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


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School Energy Coalition (SEC)  INTERROGATORY #22  1 

 2 

Interrogatory 3 

 4 

[A-3-1, p.1]  Please provide the actual regulated ROE for GLPT for the last 5 years.  5 

 6 

Response 7 

 8 

Please refer to Exhibit I, Tab 2, Schedule 4b. 9 
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School Energy Coalition (SEC)  INTERROGATORY #23  1 

 2 

Interrogatory 3 

 4 

[A-3-1, p.1]  Based on the forecasted capital and OM&A cost savings forecasted under 5 

both the base and high case scenarios, please provide an estimated actual ROE for GLPT 6 

for each year between 2017 and 2026.   7 

 8 

Response 9 

 10 

Please refer to Exhibit I, Tab 4, Schedule 14. 11 
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Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition (VECC) INTERROGATORY #1  1 

 2 

Interrogatory 3 

 4 

Reference: A/T1/S1/pg.4 5 

 6 

a) Please provide an update on the status of the approval sought from the Commissioner 7 

of Competition.   8 

 9 

Response 10 

 11 

Please refer to Exhibit I, Tab 3, Schedule 1. 12 
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Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition (VECC) INTERROGATORY #2  1 

 2 

Interrogatory 3 

 4 

Reference: A/T1/S1/pg.5 5 

 6 

a) HOI explains that the Distribution Business operations will not be affected by this 7 

transaction.  Is this because GLPT is proposed to be operated as a separate entity until 8 

2023?   9 

 10 

b) Will there be any common or shared costs as between GLPT and Hydro One 11 

Transmission if this application is approved? 12 

 13 

Response 14 

 15 

a) No.  As described in Exhibit A, Tab 1, Schedule 1 Hydro One’s distribution business 16 

is separate from and excludes transmission and is separately regulated by the OEB 17 

under distribution licence ED-2003-0043.  Even after GLPT will be integrated into 18 

Hydro One’s transmission business, Hydro One’s distribution business operations 19 

will not be impacted by this transaction. 20 

 21 

b) Yes, standard form affiliate agreements that address the allocation of shared costs will 22 

be used in accordance with the Affiliate Relationships Code. 23 

 24 



Filed: 2016-06-20 
EB-2016-0050 
Exhibit I 
Tab 5 
Schedule 3 
Page 1 of 1 

 
Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition (VECC) INTERROGATORY #3  1 

 2 

Interrogatory 3 

 4 

Reference: A-1-1/Attachment 2/Purchase Agreement/PDF pg.76 5 

 6 

a) Please explain what type of loses might be contemplated for “OEB loss recovery” 7 

under the provisions of section 10.6 of the Purchase Agreement. 8 

 9 

Response 10 

 11 

Section 10.6 is intended to cause the transmitter to seek recovery of certain losses from 12 

ratepayers before being entitled to rely on the indemnity.  The type of recoverable losses 13 

would be ones which the OEB would approve had the transaction not taken place.  In 14 

other words, there are no special or unique losses contemplated for recovery from 15 

ratepayers under this section. 16 
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Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition (VECC) INTERROGATORY #4  1 

 2 

Interrogatory 3 

 4 

Reference: A-1-1-/Attachment 7 5 

 6 

a) Please provide the 2015 Financial Statements of Great Lakes Power Transmission 7 

Limited Partnership.  If it is currently not available please explain why and when it is 8 

anticipated. 9 

 10 

Response 11 

 12 

Please refer to Attachment 1. 13 
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Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition (VECC) INTERROGATORY #5  1 

 2 

Interrogatory 3 

 4 

Reference: A/T2/S1/pg.1 5 

 6 

a) Since no consolidation of GLPT is expected until the termination of pre-acquisition 7 

debt obligations please explain how this application qualifies for any of the policies 8 

articulated by the Board in the Handbook to Electricity Distributor and Transmitter 9 

Consolidations.  10 

 11 

Response 12 

 13 

HOI has applied in accordance with section 86 (2)(b) because it is seeking to acquire all 14 

voting securities of GLPT.  This transaction is expected to close within 5 business days 15 

from the release of the OEB’s approval decision of this application. Consequently, there 16 

is no delay in the commencement of acquisition activities.  Consolidation of GLPT and 17 

Hydro One will occur within the deferred rebasing period.   18 

  19 
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Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition (VECC) INTERROGATORY #6  1 

 2 

Interrogatory 3 

 4 

Reference: A/T2/S1/pg.9 5 

 6 

a) What, if any, reliability improvements to GLPT transmission system might be 7 

gained by approval of this application. 8 

 9 

Response 10 

 11 

GLPT’s transmission system reliability may benefit from this transaction by improving 12 

the co-ordinated planning efforts to review and identify long term transmission needs for 13 

the entire East Lake Superior regional planning area; assessing future investment needs in 14 

the area; and from efficiently planning expenditures to realize savings while maintaining 15 

all requisite safety and reliability requirements for the system. Having coordination and 16 

integration of Hydro One and GLPT’s staff is expected to improve regional system 17 

knowledge and allow for the implementation of best in class programs. 18 

 19 
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Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition (VECC) INTERROGATORY #7  1 

 2 

Interrogatory 3 

 4 

Reference: A/T1/S1/pg.23 5 

 6 

a) What is the expected date (month) for the filing of the GLPT revenue requirement 7 

application? 8 

 9 

b) Given that GLPT will be filing a rate application what is the basis for seeking 10 

approval of revenue requirement matters related to this utility in this application. 11 

 12 

c) What would be the implication to this transaction if the Board deferred consideration 13 

of the revenue requirement issues proposed in this application until the time of the 14 

GLPT revenue requirement application? 15 

 16 

Response 17 

 18 

a.) GLPT has advised HOI that the expected filing date has not yet been determined. 19 

 20 

b.) Please refer to Exhibit I, Tab 1, Schedule 6. 21 

 22 

c.) Please refer to Exhibit I, Tab 1, Schedule 7 23 

 24 

      25 
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Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition (VECC) INTERROGATORY #8  1 

 2 

Interrogatory 3 

 4 

Reference: A/T1/S1/pg8 & A/T3/S1/pg.1 5 

 6 

a) When does Hydro One expect to file its next transmission revenue requirement 7 

application?  8 

 9 

b) Does the proposed earning sharing mechanism apply equally to Hydro One 10 

Transmission?  If not, please explain why not? 11 

 12 

Response 13 

 14 

a.) Hydro One Transmission filed a revenue requirement application on May 31, 2016 15 

for approval of 2017 and 2018 revenue requirements.  Hydro One’s next transmission 16 

revenue requirement application is expected to be filed in 2018 for rates commencing 17 

in 2019. 18 

 19 

b.) Please refer to Exhibit I, Tab 1, Schedule 8a. 20 
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Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition (VECC) INTERROGATORY #9  1 

 2 

Interrogatory 3 

 4 

Reference: A/T2/S1/pg.7 5 

 6 

a) Will the employees of GLPT become employees of Hydro One upon close of this 7 

transaction?  Will the transaction impact compensation and benefits (including 8 

pension benefits) of GLPT employees? 9 

 10 

Response 11 

 12 

Upon close of this transaction, employees of GLPT will not become employees of Hydro 13 

One.  The acquired employees will retain their current GLPT compensation and benefits 14 

until they are integrated with Hydro One. 15 
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Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition (VECC) INTERROGATORY #10  1 

 2 

Interrogatory 3 

 4 

Reference: All 5 

 6 

a) Does Hydro One expect this transaction, if approved, to impact any of the 7 

Settlement Agreements in the last revenue requirements applications of either 8 

GLPT (EB-2014-0238) or Hydro One (EB-2014-0140)?   9 

 10 

Response 11 

 12 

No. 13 
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Share Valuation and Financing of the Proposed Transaction  1 

Valuation of the Transaction was the result of a multiple party competitive bid process 2 

undertaken by BIH and BIP.  3 

 4 

HOI is not financing the Transaction with new debt sources. Instead, the purchase price will be 5 

paid in cash through use of existing credit facilities and the assumption of GLPL’s existing debt.   6 

 7 

The premium paid over the book value on the transaction will not have a material impact on 8 

Hydro One’s or HOI’s financial viability.  As indicated in Exhibit A, Tab 1, Schedule 1, the 9 

value of the Transaction equates to approximately 2% of HOI’s fixed assets.  In alignment with 10 

Board practice and as referred to in the Handbook, the premium paid over the net book value of 11 

the assets will not be recovered through revenue requirement and no return will be earned on that 12 

premium. 13 

 14 

Protection of Consumers with Respect to Prices and the Adequacy, Reliability and Quality 15 

of Electricity Services  16 

 17 

Price of Electricity Service 18 

The OEB approves the revenue requirements of transmitters in Ontario.  GLPT currently 19 

accounts for approximately 2.6% of the uniform rates and revenue allocators.  Hydro One 20 

represents approximately 94.6% of these rates and allocators.  The OEB also approves the charge 21 

determinants of individual transmitters and uses these to calculate the UTR.  The current 22 

approved UTRs for 2016 are:  Network Service Rate $3.66/kW, Line Connection Service Rate 23 

$0.87/kW, Transformation Connection Service Rate $2.02/kW.  24 

 25 

The UTR impact of the transaction at the end of the 10 year rate rebasing deferral period 26 

(relative to current 2016 UTR rates) is forecast to be an increase of approximately $0.02 to the 27 

Network Service Rate and $0.01 to the Transformation Connection rate under the Base Case 28 
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scenarios (i.e. capital and OM&A).  Under the High Case scenarios, the Network Service Rate is 1 

forecast to increase by approximately $0.01 from current 2016 rates. 2 

 3 

Adequacy, Reliability and Quality of Electricity Service  4 

Hydro One does not expect that the reliability of either transmission system will be materially 5 

impacted as a result of the transaction.  Hydro One and GLPT are both experienced licensed 6 

transmitters.  All licensed transmitters in the province are required to meet standardized 7 

performance expectations and public policy objectives relating to reliability.  Both Hydro One 8 

and GLPT must design and operate their respective systems in conformance with the IESO 9 

Market Rules and the Ontario Resource & Transmission Assessment Criteria (“ORTAC”).  Both 10 

systems must also comply with reliability standards established by NERC.  Given that the system 11 

topology of Hydro One and GLPT will not be changing and both utilities adhere to the same 12 

design and operating standards required by all transmitters in the IESO-controlled grid, Hydro 13 

One and GLPT are confident that reliability will not be impacted.    14 

 15 

Please see Table 6 below for a comparison of Hydro One’s regional reliability indices against 16 

those of GLPT. 17 

TABLE 6 – RELIABILITY INDICES REGIONALLY OF HYDRO ONE AND GLPT 18 

 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 

HONI - SAIDI3 28.1 39.6 75.9 184.3 40.7 66.1 

GLPT - SAIDI 150.7 296.7 176.8 861.1 25.4 79.8 

HONI - SAIFI 0.76 0.50 0.86 0.97 2.23 0.81 

GLPT - SAIFI 1.33 2.14 2.24 1.37 0.47 0.89 

                                                            
3 Hydro One’s SAIDI and SAIFI results in Table 7 are premised on the results of the Mississagi TS to Martindale TS subsystem.  This segment of 
Hydro One’s transmission system is similarly situated, sized (in terms of asset types, line length, and delivery points) and carries a comparable 
load to that of GLPT. 
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